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MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.  I think we have next up Hydro One's second panel.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Are there any preliminary matters before we have those witnesses.

MR. ROGERS:  Not for me, Ms. Chaplin.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Why don't we start with having the witnesses sworn?

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  One witness has already been sworn, but the other three need to be sworn.
HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 2 - OM&A: SUSTAINMENT, DEVELOPMENT AND OPERATIONS CAPITAL

Don Currie, Affirmed


Mark Graham, Previously Sworn


Barry Reynolds, Sworn


Andy Stenning, Sworn
Examination by Mr. Rogers:

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Let me qualify the witnesses, if I might.

Can we start with you, Mr. Currie?  I understand, sir, that you hold a bachelor of science degree in electrical engineering from the University of Windsor?  You have to say yes or no for me.

MR. CURRIE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  And that you have -- you began your career with Ontario Hydro, the old Ontario Hydro, in 1988, it looks like from your curriculum vitae; is that right?

MR. CURRIE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  You worked there for a while, and then you worked for other utilities.  You worked with the Windsor Utilities Commission.  You have worked with London Hydro during the course of your career?

MR. CURRIE:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Your present position, I understand, is sustainment manager, station sustainment, Hydro One Inc.; is that correct?

MR. CURRIE:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. ROGERS:  There's a curriculum vitae filed at Exhibit A, tab 21, schedule 1, Mr. Currie.  Is that an accurate description of your qualifications and experience?

MR. CURRIE:  Yes, it is.

MR. ROGERS:  Now, by the way, have you ever testified before?

MR. CURRIE:  No.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, welcome.

MR. CURRIE:  Thank you.

MR. ROGERS:  What areas of the evidence will you be addressing this morning?

MR. CURRIE:  I'm going to be speaking towards sustainment capital, sustainment OM&A and development OM&A.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Graham, you are already sworn.  You appeared yesterday, but can you tell us, please -- your qualifications are the same today as they were yesterday, I assume?

MR. GRAHAM:  As far as I know.

MR. ROGERS:  One more appearance, I guess, but what areas of the evidence will you be dealing with this morning?

MR. GRAHAM:  I'll be testifying on an overview and policy basis about sustainment and operations capital and OM&A programs and development OM&A.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Mr. Reynolds, I understand, sir, that you have a master of science degree in mechanical engineering from the Cranfield Institute of Technology in England?

MR. REYNOLDS:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Among other degrees?

MR. REYNOLDS:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  You have worked in the electrical business for many years, beginning in 1972 or so, up to the present time?

MR. REYNOLDS:  1982.

MR. ROGERS:  1982, sorry.  Before that, you actually worked in other industries, I see?

MR. REYNOLDS:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  You worked in waste management, I see, at one time in your career?

MR. REYNOLDS:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  Your present position is director of work program, optimization for Hydro One?

MR. REYNOLDS:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  What exactly is that?

MR. REYNOLDS:  My role, it's between the strategic planning and the actual field forces that do the work.  I help to rearrange some of the work programs so they can be more effectively completed.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.

A curriculum vitae has been filed for you at Exhibit A, tab 21, schedule 1.  Is that an accurate reflection of your qualifications and experience?

MR. REYNOLDS:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  And you told us what you do in your job, but tell us what you will be responding to this morning?

MR. REYNOLDS:  I will be responding to items dealing with planning and work execution.

MR. ROGERS:  Have you ever appeared before as a witness in a case like this?

MR. REYNOLDS:  No.

MR. ROGERS:  Over to you, Mr. Stenning.  I understand you presently are director of station maintenance with the applicant company?

MR. STENNING:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  You also hold an engineering degree.  Yours is from Queen's University, I see?

MR. STENNING:  Yes, it is.

MR. ROGERS:  When did you begin work with Ontario Hydro or its successor companies?

MR. STENNING:  In 1986.

MR. ROGERS:  You've stayed with the company and its successor since that time in various areas of responsibility?

MR. STENNING:  Yes, I have.

MR. ROGERS:  Is the curriculum vitae filed as Exhibit A, tab 21, schedule 1 an accurate reflection of your experience?

MR. STENNING:  Yes, it is.

MR. ROGERS:  What areas of the evidence will you be dealing with this morning?

MR. STENNING:  I'm going to be talking to the operations maintenance and capital, as well as any questions related to the field execution of work.

MR. ROGERS:  You are able to answer questions hopefully about the actual work in the field that needs to be done?

MR. STENNING:  That's correct.

MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.

Mr. Graham, can I ask you on behalf of the panel, have you reviewed the evidence that has been filed in this case which this panel will be dealing with?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, we have.

MR. ROGERS:  And can you confirm for us that, to your knowledge, it is an accurate reflection of the company's affairs in those areas?

MR. GRAHAM:  I can confirm that.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  I have no direct examination for this panel, Madam Chair, and they're ready for cross-examination.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.

I have first Consumers Council.  Mr. Warren, are you indeed going to be first?

MR. WARREN:  I am indeed.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  Panel, I would like to begin with some overview questions.  Perhaps, Mr. Graham, you're the person to whom I should direct these.

I am going to ask them in the context of the topic of development OM&A.  And yesterday -- perhaps the place to begin, Mr. Graham, is with a statement that appears in Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 1, and it's in the first paragraph on page 1.

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, which?

MR. WARREN:  D1, D as in "dog".

MR. GRAHAM:  D1, okay, yes.  Schedule 1?

MR. WARREN:  D1, schedule -- sorry, tab 3, schedule 1.  It's under the heading "Summary of Capital Expenditures".


MR. GRAHAM:  D1 or E1, I'm sorry?

MR. WARREN:  D as in "dog" --

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay, sorry.  My hearing is bad.  D1, tab 3, schedule 1?

MR. WARREN:  Yes, D1.

MR. GRAHAM:  Page, which?

MR. WARREN:  One.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay, sorry.

MR. WARREN:  Now, in the first paragraph, I will read the following statement:
"The proposed capital expenditures result from a rigorous business planning and work prioritization process that reflects risk-based decision making to ensure that the appropriate cost-effective solutions are put into place to meet Hydro One Transmission objectives."

Does that remain an accurate reflection of your budgeting process?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, it does.

MR. WARREN:  Now, turning from that, then, to a topic we discussed yesterday, various counsel discussed it with you, and I want to return to it by way of -- in the context of development OM&A and other topics this morning.

Yesterday we discussed the relationship which Hydro One Networks has with the OPA, and we canvassed, in particular, what I'll describe as the iterative process by which the OPA may make a recommendation to you for a particular project, and, then, as a result of back and forth, it ends up on the list of projects that you are going to spend capital and also sustaining -- sorry, development capital on and development OM&A.  Is that fair?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that is fair.

MR. WARREN:  All right.  Now, can you tell me a little bit about that iterative process, and the particular subject area is development OM&A, but it could be other things?


Do I take it that based on your description of your budgeting process, that Hydro One would never accept an OPA proposal that did not meet its business planning criteria?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that that is broadly true.

MR. WARREN:  So I take it that Hydro One would analyze, among other things, the cost-effectiveness of any recommendation that the OPA had made to you?

MR. GRAHAM:  With respect to the context that we are aware of, yes.  For example, if the OPA had made a recommendation that such-and-such a supply source needed to be incorporated, we would not be able to assess the cost-effectiveness of the supply source.  We would be able to assess the cost-effectiveness of the wire solution to incorporate that supply source.


MR. WARREN:  So if I can translate that into language that I can understand, you would not say to the OPA that a particular wind-generation project in and of itself doesn't make sense.  You might say, however, that the cost to link it for the transmission purposes is not cost-effective.

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I think that we would say is, here's the alternatives for the transmission to link it in, and these are the various costs that you would look at and the various capabilities you are going to get from them.

It's really the OPA's role, as we see it, as the integrated planner to put that together with what they see as the generation enabled, the capacity, the costs and so on, and say that that overall investment makes sense.

MR. WARREN:  Now, if, in providing that list to the OPA, you were to say -- if you were speaking hypothetically, if there were three options, one of which was the most costly, and the bottom was the least costly, it's possible, I take it, from what you've said, that the OPA may say, We're going to choose the most costly alternative.  Fair?


MR. GRAHAM:  It's possible.

MR. WARREN:  With the result that, from Hydro One Networks's perspective, a particular proposal would not be, from your perspective, cost-effective.  Fair enough?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, again, I think our cost-effectiveness and our understanding would be that the people responsible for making the judgment on the overall cost-effectiveness that's going to be charged to ratepayers through the contract, as well as through the transmission rates, that this overall solution is the best.


MR. WARREN:  But you are coming before the Board in this application, and you're saying that your planning -- budget-planning process is driven in part by an assessment of cost-effectiveness.

Do I understand that you are saying hypothetically that some of these projects, from Hydro One Networks' perspective, are not cost-effective, but the OPA believes they are?


MR. GRAHAM:  I would say that it depends how you define "cost-effectiveness".  They may not be the least costly.  They still may be the most cost-effective in the overall sense.

MR. WARREN:  I'm talking about Hydro One's assessment, and not the OPA's assessment.

MR. GRAHAM:  I understand.

MR. WARREN:  Am I right that some of these projects that are before the Board may not be, from your perspective, the most cost-effective way to get the job done, but you are going to defer to the judgment of the OPA?


MR. GRAHAM:  I guess -- I know I'm repeating myself, but I would say the cost-effectiveness in this sense depends on the overall cost to the ratepayers, not simply the costs of the wires' enabling facilities, and that we're not the people that make that judgment.

MR. WARREN:  You are here only to talk about the wires portion of it.  Is that fair?


MR. GRAHAM:  In the context of an integrated planning process that the province has set up under the OPA, that's true.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  I want to drill down just a little bit further on this, sir.  I want to know whether or not there are any of the projects that are before the Board that in your opinion don't meet Hydro One Networks' standard of cost-effectiveness.


MR. GRAHAM:  At this point I would say not.  Again, this is primarily for the development capital panel, but my sense would be that, in terms of the transmission-enabling investments that we discussed yesterday, those are the most cost-effective, most -- least costly ways of achieving the objective that Hydro One is aware of.

MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me this, sir:  Have there been any projects that the OPA has recommended that you have said those are not cost-effective?


MR. GRAHAM:  Not that I'm aware of.


MR. WARREN:  Would you be aware of them, sir?

MR. GRAHAM:  I would be, typically, yes.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Do you conduct -- or I'm assuming from the exchange we've had over the last few minutes that you conduct assessments of the cost-effectiveness of the projects which the OPA -- from your perspective, the transmission perspective, the cost-effectiveness of the projects that come before you.

MR. GRAHAM:  We certainly look at the costs required for the various transmission and distribution options.

MR. WARREN:  And do you provide reports to the OPA on the cost-effectiveness from your perspective of the particular projects?

MR. GRAHAM:  We would certainly -- even on an interactive basis, as you mentioned, we would get back and forth with the OPA in terms of, we see these as the costs for the various alternatives, what they are going to deliver, and from a Hydro One perspective, if you will, you get the biggest bang for the buck from this option.

MR. WARREN:  Or if you could just turn up an exhibit which my friend Mr. Buonaguro put before you yesterday, which is Exhibit K1.1.


MR. GRAHAM:  I'm sorry, I didn't bring it with me.  But I'll wait.  I'm sure a copy can be made available.


Okay.  I have it.


MR. WARREN:  Would you have provided to the OPA -- I'm going to except from this list, not include in the list, those matters for which there has been a section 92 approval.  They have come before the Board.


MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.


MR. WARREN:  But with respect to the ones that either haven't come before the Board on section 92 or don't need to, for each of those projects, have you provided a cost-effectiveness analysis to the OPA?


MR. GRAHAM:  To testify to what I'm personally aware of?  I would expect so.  But I do not -- have not necessarily seen it in all cases.


MR. WARREN:  Can those cost-effectiveness analyses for those projects be put before the Board in this case?


MR. GRAHAM:  I think in the development stages, our discussions with the OPA, there's a lot of back and forth that happens verbally through e-mails and so on.  There is not necessarily a discrete document that lays that out.

In terms of Hydro One's decision to actually go forward and make an investment, we do assess, as we talked about yesterday, the alternatives, and those are presented to our management for approval.


So I don't think we've got -- but again, I'm not the right witness at this point -- the documentation with respect to saying, here's formally in each case a final judgment on each of these projects that we would have sent to the OPA.  But I'm not aware.  I'm really not involved in that day-to-day discussion on individual projects.


MR. WARREN:  You are here, I take it, to talk about, among other things, an overview of the sustainment -- sorry, of the development OM&A, which is linked --

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, development OM&A, yes, but development OM&A has nothing to do with the OPA.


MR. WARREN:  That's a decision which you make.

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  So it's possible, I take it, from your answer that there have been cost-effectiveness reports or analysis that have been made for the K1.1 projects to the OPA.  You're just not aware of them.  Is that fair?


MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.  I hate to say it, but that was -- the witnesses that were with me yesterday were prepared to speak to that.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, one of the issues that is before us today, if you could turn up Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 3.  This is a summary of development work for IPSP and other long-term projects.


MR. GRAHAM:  C1, tab 2, schedule 3?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.  Page 7.


MR. GRAHAM:  Page 7?  Okay.


MR. WARREN:  This is in an exhibit that's called "development OM&A".  It's a subject which I understood you would be addressing, along with your fellows on the panel.

Can you tell me, with respect to the various investment descriptions, do you know if Hydro One either has or intends to undertake a cost-effectiveness analysis of each of those projects?


MR. GRAHAM:  What we would do with respect to these -- and I'm sorry, I missed your point.  This is the pre-engineering work that's put in the deferral account.  And I have forgotten -- my mistake -- that that was also categorized as development OM&A, for the purposes of the discussion today.  So my apologies on that.


With respect to these individual projects, we would be looking at the best transmission option, for example, to -- let's talk about a line from Sudbury to GTA.  We would be responsible, I would assume, actually, for coming back to the OPA with the various options for achieving that, and looking at the costs with respect to that project, and putting that forward and recommending to them which we felt was the appropriate option to achieve their purposes.

MR. WARREN:  Do you know if that's been done for each of the 18 projects listed on this table?

MR. GRAHAM:  Generally speaking, I would expect --

THE REPORTER:  Microphone, please.

MR. GRAHAM:  Oh, sorry.  My mistake.

MR. CURRIE:  Oh, it's me, I'm sorry.  I learned a lesson.

MR. GRAHAM:  My friend turned it off, I think.


MR. WARREN:  Generally, that is your counsel's function, but that is an aside.


[Laughter]

MR. GRAHAM:  I must be talking too much again.

I'm just looking at the list here.  I would expect that these projects, given that they are in a deferral account, they are expected to be driven by the IPSP and be long-term, that these would be projects that are currently in the development stages.  So we would not really have a defined estimate, a set of alternatives, and a recommended alternative at this point in time.  That's the purpose of this, is to do the development work.


MR. WARREN:  You are asking -- and this is a topic to which I will return later, but since we're there now, can you tell me, it's possible that, having done the development work on these, that some of these projects might, in your view, not be cost-effective.


MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.  I'm going to try to avoid going in circles.  Again, we would look at the most cost-effective, in this case transmission alternative to achieve the purpose that's been put forward to us, but in the overall cost-effectiveness judgment is not ours to make.


MR. WARREN:  This may be an issue for argument, and I apologize, and certainly your counsel will promptly tell me if it is.  But I am puzzled, then, about what the function of the Board is with respect to projects in assessing the cost-effectiveness of your expenditures, when the determination of the overall cost-effectiveness is not made by you.  It's made by the OPA.


What is the Board to assess with respect to Hydro One's proposal in this case?

MR. ROGERS:  Well, may I just interrupt?  I've been invited to do so, and I am going to take him up on it.  It is a matter for argument, but I just want to point out these will be reviewed as they go ahead in the IPSP process, as I understand it.  Now, I am quite happy to have the witness try to answer the question sort of generically, but --

MS. CHAPLIN:  I think that would be helpful to have Hydro One's understanding of what the appropriate roles are.

MR. ROGERS:  That's fine.

MR. WARREN:  Before we get to that, let me parse it into two components.

Mr. Rogers was responding to my question about this list, but I want it in two parcels.  I mean, the general proposition that you have proposals before the Board, for example, the K1.1 list of proposals, and as I understand your evidence this morning, the determination of the overall cost-effectiveness of this is made by the OPA.

Now, given that, I want to know what Hydro One's view is of what the Board's function is in approving those.  If it's the OPA's assessment of cost-effectiveness -- and we don't have, in the evidence, Hydro One's assessment of the cost-effectiveness, as I understand it.

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, what you have is you have our assessment of this is the right alternative with respect to achieving the transmission need.  You do not have our assessment with respect to whether the need can be cost effectively addressed or not, because the need is really to enable new supply generally.  That's what I'm talking about when I am talking about the OPA's involvement.

So in terms of the need, the cost assessment, if you will, of -- the cost-effectiveness of the need, that is something that I think, as Mr. Rogers said, has to happen through the IPSP or through other means, because we do not contract for the generation, and that can be a significant portion of the total cost.

MR. WARREN:  But your evidence, I take it, under oath, as I understand it, is that for each of the K1.1 list, leaving aside the section 92 approvals that have already been granted, that these reflect Hydro One's determination of the most cost-effective alternatives, or are the ones on the list the OPA's assessment of the most cost-effective alternatives.

MR. GRAHAM:  Again, I believe they're the most -- from our point of view, the OPA comes to us and -- can I maybe tell a bit of a story?  The OPA would come to us and say, We see a need to accommodate additional renewable generation in the northern part of Ontario.  What are the transmission options for doing that?

We would look at the transmission options, cost them and say, We think this will get you the best that can be done in terms of, for example, what we're doing with the SVCs and the series caps, in terms of cost effectively enabling additional transfer capability from north to south in Ontario.


So we have done that cost-effectiveness assessment.  We have not said put that together with the price you are going to pay for the renewable power in northern Ontario and that's the right option for the province to pursue, because we can't do that.

MR. WARREN:  Let me return to the question.

Can I get for the K1.1 projects, other than the section 92 approvals, the cost-effectiveness analyses that you gave to the OPA for each of those projects?  Can they be produced for this case?

MR. ROGERS:  Well, I thought the witness said he wasn't sure what would be there, whether there would be any kind of formal document that could be produced.

I think maybe what I would like to do is take this under advisement.  I'm just not sure what is available.

MR. WARREN:  If my friend wants to take it under advisement and let the Board know (a) whether it is available, and I take it the corollary as to whether it will be produced.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J2.1, and as I understand it, it is to provide the economic rationale behind the Exhibit K1.1 projects, excluding the section 92 approvals to the extent that they exist, and it's a best efforts undertaking.

MR. WARREN:  Sorry, Mr. Millar, it is not the economic rationale.  What I am looking for is if Hydro One Networks provided a cost-effectiveness analysis for the transmission components of these projects, if we can get what it produced in that context for the OPA for each of the non-section 92 approved projects.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.
Undertaking No. J2.1:  To advise If Hydro One Networks provided a cost-effectiveness analysis for the transmission components of Exhibit K1.1 projects; to provide what was produced in that context for the OPA for each of the non-section 92 approved projects.

MR. WARREN:  Thanks, panel.  Could I then turn to the sustaining capital and sustaining OM&A budgets?  And I just want to make sure I've got the numbers correctly.

My understanding -- and please correct me if I'm wrong and try to sort out all of the various pieces of paper I have -- is that the sustaining capital budget for 2008 was $280.4 million, and for 2010 it will be $320.6 million.


Have I got those numbers correctly?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think the 2008 number you mentioned was the actual expenditure, not the budget.

And then, sorry, you mentioned?

MR. WARREN:  321.6 for 2010.

MR. GRAHAM:  That is correct.

MR. WARREN:  So that's, roughly speaking, a $40 million increase from 2008 to 2010; is that correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  Roughly speaking, that's correct.

MR. WARREN:  And for the sustaining OM&A budget, my note of the numbers is that in 2008 it was $197.9  million --

MR. GRAHAM:  Let me just turn up my -- sorry?

MR. WARREN:  2008 was $197.9 million?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's not the actual.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  That may have been the projection.  Hold on.  I will just check.  That was, I believe, the projection we filed, and the actual in the update was 187.5.

MR. WARREN:  So sustaining OM&A budget was 187.5 in 2008.  My number for 2010 is $240.1 million; is that correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  Other than it's the actual for 2008, not the budget, but that's correct in terms of the actual is 187.5 and the budget for 2010 is 240.1, the submission.

MR. WARREN:  So it is just a shade over a $50 million increase from 2008 to 2010; is that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's what the numbers show, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Now, against the background of those numbers, could you turn up Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 2?  That's "D" as in "dog", tab 3, schedule 2.

I'm sorry, do you have it?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I have it.  Yes, sorry.

MR. WARREN:  Looking at page 3, I'm going to read the following into the record:
"If there were to be a reduction in the sustaining capital funding levels requested, it could result in reduced reliability of supply to customers, severe system disturbances affecting many customers and neighbouring utilities, extensive equipment damage that would require costly capital investments to replace or refurbish, increase maintenance costs, increase environmental risks, increase safety risks to the public and employees, and non-compliance with regulatory and legislative requirements."

Have I read that accurately?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, you have.

MR. WARREN:  Now, let me begin with this question, Mr. Graham.

If there were a reduction in the sustaining capital funding of one dollar, would all of those results follow?

MR. GRAHAM:  No, they would not, and that's the use of the word "could".

MR. WARREN:  Let me ask you then, and notwithstanding the appearances, all appearances to the contrary notwithstanding - this is not a facetious question - if the result were a reduction in $100 in the capital -- sustaining capital funding levels, would those results obtain?

MR. GRAHAM:  Of course, I mean, the question that you are going for is, like, How much?  Every dollar that comes out of this, of course, is a valuable investment from our point of view, and so reductions are going to have an impact.  We would of course prioritize those impacts so that we would look at the lowest impact occurring based on whatever the Board's direction was.

But I can't tell you that -- what would a $100 reduction actually affect?  We would have to look at that in terms of the process.

MR. WARREN:  What I want to know is whether or not Hydro One Networks -- and I should say, Mr. Graham, just to save time, that there's a similar statement for the sustaining OM&A, okay.

So we can cover both of these.  May I presume that as part of your budgeting process, Hydro One Networks does a sensitivity analysis for these outcomes to determine how much can be lost from the sustaining and capital budgets before one or more of these results obtains?  Is that fair assumption on my part?

MR. GRAHAM:  It is certainly something that would be looked at during the review of the plans.

People would say, okay, if we went further in terms of reducing or if we added more, what are we going to have in terms of impacts, what are we going to have in terms of additional benefits, what are going to be the impacts on customers in terms of affordability, what's going to be the impact in terms of our ability to do the work?  Those are all things that get looked at in tandem.

MR. WARREN:  Now, you are very ably represented, and you have put together a solid case, but I assume that as part of the budget-planning process you don't assume that you're going to get 100 percent of everything you ask for from the regulator.  Is that fair?

MR. GRAHAM:  We do presume -- we've put together a solid case, and we do expect the regulator to take heed of that.

So we do not have an assumption per se.  The plan that we are currently looking at effecting would be based on this business plan that we've put -- or business plan that underlies this submission.

MR. WARREN:  But I also presume from your earlier answer that you have an analysis of how much can be lost from the sustaining and capital and OM&A budgets before one or more of these results obtain.  You have that analysis already, do you not?

MR. GRAHAM:  We have certainly looked at that question with respect to the review that's done both by the planning people and by senior management of the company.

MR. WARREN:  And can that be produced, that analysis for both sustaining and capital OM&A, can that be produced in this hearing?

MR. ROGERS:  Well, once again, this is a very long, convoluted, complicated process to build up these figures.  I suspect that the documents would fill a room, that this company goes through to come up with its budget that it presents to this Board.

So I won't undertake to do that.  The witness -- I will invite the witness to comment on it.  If it was readily available, I might change my mind, but I rather doubt it.

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, we don't at the end of the process say, Here is a formal sensitivity analysis with respect to the decision we've made.  As you say, we go through an iterative process.  We go through a number of iterations, in terms of, let's say how we can drive this down, what are the impacts going to be, what are the impacts going to be, not just on this year, but on future years, on our ability to do the work over time.

So it is a process, as you say, that requires a lot of thought and requires a lot of documentation.  So we don't in the end say, Okay.  Having made the decision, we're going to go back and kind of try and summarize all of that in a document we can file.  But, I mean, there is a tonne of documentation with respect to the process that's undertaken.

MR. WARREN:  I don't want to get lost in the suggestion that there's a roomful of documents or a tonne of documents.  I have to presume that you have done this and -- in preparing the budget.  And whether it's five documents or ten documents, I'm asking if the analysis can be produced.  Can it be produced?

MR. GRAHAM:  I understand that.  And my answer would be, it's a process, as we've documented here.  So that you don't -- I guess we find we don't have the time to try and summarize that in a document that lays out the submission.

So we're going to have to go back and see.  I know that there does not exist a file document that says, Okay.  If you have the sensitivity of 2 percent or 5 percent on that budget level, what does that mean?


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, if I can interrupt.  I try not to do this, but I'm going to suggest that my friend wait until panel 3 comes along.  Panel 3 -- Mr. Van Dusen on panel 3 deals with this process.  I think we'll be able to answer your questions on a more informed basis than this panel.

MR. WARREN:  Thank you for that, Mr. Rogers.  So I take it that the cliche "forewarned is forearmed"...?

MR. ROGERS:  I don't know what that means, but I am sure it is accurate.

MR. WARREN:  It means you will come with the document, Mr. Rogers, but...


[Laughter]

MR. ROGERS:  He will come with an answer.

MR. WARREN:  Panel, sorry, let me move then on to a different topic.  And again, I want to understand -- I want you to tell me if I have got the numbers right.

My calculation -- and I am using your Exhibit D2, tab 3 -- I'm about to lose the piece of paper.  D2, tab 3, schedule 1, page 4.  And I'm simply looking for a number to confirm that I've got the number correctly.

Am I right, panel --

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, Mr. Warren, you said tab D2...

MR. WARREN:  Tab 3, schedule 1, page 4.

MR. GRAHAM:  Tab 3, schedule 1.  I've got that.  Page 4.  Now, that I find hard to find, but -- oh, sorry?  Sorry, it's my mistake, my mistake.  Just hold on.  I've got it.

MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry to send you fussing through all this paper.  All I want to do is make sure I've got a number right.

My understanding from the evidence, Mr. Graham, is that in 2007 Hydro One Networks spent $152 million less than the Board-approved amount.  Have I got that number right?

MR. GRAHAM:  Just let me have a look.  2007?

MR. WARREN:  Yes.

MR. GRAHAM:  $152 million is correct, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Now, this is --

MR. GRAHAM:  Actually, that's -- sorry, that's --

MR. WARREN:  It's a combination of a number of numbers, but it's a total --

MR. GRAHAM:  I should have an update sheet.  I'm not sure if that is the actual or the projection.  Perhaps one of my panel members -- is this 152 the actual?

Sorry.  Just a second.  We will confirm.

MR. WARREN:  No need to apologize, sir.  I sent you scurrying through the paper.

MR. ROGERS:  This was yesterday's topic.  That's why he's having trouble finding it.  I don't object to it, but that explains why -- I couldn't find it myself.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.  That's correct.  I'm sorry.  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Now, the reason that I asked that question, panel, was in the context of our earlier exchange, when we were -- a few moments ago, when we were talking about the -- this is my modifier, not yours -- draconian results that would follow if your -- there were a reduction in sustaining capital and sustaining OM&A.

I take it that in 2007 the Board approved a certain amount.  You didn't spend -- by an amount of $152 million.  You didn't spend that amount, and the sky didn't fall.  Hydro One didn't collapse.  Fair?

MR. GRAHAM:  That would be correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  So I take it that there's a fairly -- and is it fair for me to conclude -- again, my modifier -- that there's a lot of fat in here that can be cut out without Hydro One Networks failing.

MR. GRAHAM:  No, that would not be fair, in terms of "fat".  I think the expectation is that sustainment -- the transmission system -- I know this is a story you've heard before, but the transmission system has a lot of intrinsic ability to withstand short-term reductions in expenditures.

So from your point of view, I mean, if you made a one-year expenditure reduction, as we have in this year, or as we perhaps do to some extent in 2009 for other reasons, the system can sustain that.  The problem is it can't sustain that level of expenditure on an ongoing basis.

So we have laid out the reasons for the 152 million under-expenditure in that year.  And you are right.  I mean, there was a lot of work that didn't get done.  The sky did not fall in, in terms of the one year.  I would admit that.

MR. WARREN:  I apologize if this is in advance of -- this is the dumbest question you will get today.  I hope it is the dumbest question you will get today.  But you saved $152 million in 2007.  What happened to the $152 million you saved?  Is it in the bank somewhere so you can use it for some other projects?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I think to some extent we expect that some of this work will be required to be done in 2009 and '10.  And so to some extent the filing may not represent all the capital we have to invest to get some of this work done.

But I can't speak to that universally.  That is certainly part of the story.

MR. WARREN:  So again, apologies in advance for the crudeness of this analysis, but should the Board take a look at the budget figures, for example, for sustaining and development OM&A and add to them $152 million to be the real expenditures in 2009/2010?

MR. GRAHAM:  OM&A or capital?

MR. ROGERS:  You're mixing capital and OM&A.

MR. WARREN:  Either one.  I want to know what -- I am trying to track what happens to the 152 million.  Should it be added to whatever category of expenditures you've got before the Board in this case?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, not in terms of the revenue requirement and the rates, because we see this as money, as you have already indicated, that we should have spent, to some extent, right?

So, for example, in 2008, which I can speak at because it is more recent, we had a budget for fencing around stations.  We did not accomplish all the work in 2008 for various reasons we can talk to.

We would expect that we're going to and make that investment in 2009.  It's not, I believe, in this filing.  We would expect that we would accomplish that work over and above the filing amounts.  So we haven't put it in the revenue requirement.

MR. WARREN:  A few moments ago, panel -- thank you for those answers.  A few moments ago we talked about the size of the increase in the sustaining capital budget and in the OM&A budget.  The figures were -- the increase from 2008 to 2010 was $40 million in sustaining capital.  And for sustaining OM&A it was some $50 million.

Now, at the risk of stating the obvious, the province is in -- suffering difficult economic times.  Can we agree to that?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that is very obvious, yes.

MR. WARREN:  When we look at the daily newspapers, it is depressing to turn on the radio or the television or read the newspapers, that people are losing their jobs, that credit is difficult to make, that people are having to make sacrifices.  Can we agree that that is out there, sir?

MR. GRAHAM:  I would agree.

MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me, sir, against that background, what efforts Hydro One Networks has made to cut back its spending in order to relieve the burden on ratepayers in these economic times?  What measures, specifically, have you taken to do that?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I think it is important for to us think that -- or to remember that the goal of the company is to support the province.  It's important that our goal of providing reliable service to customers, enabling nuclear new supply for the province, are followed up on.

And programs to sustain our existing assets are driven by the condition and performance of those assets based on a risk assessment.  In fact, the expenditures levels, I think the benchmarking information, if I have it correctly - it will be explored with you in a later panel - indicates that we are relatively low in terms of the reinvestment levels we put into our assets.

So we've been continuously trying to constrain our spending as much as possible so that we have no undue impact on the province.  We still see these things as necessary to go forward, just to provide the reliable service and to enable the new supply that the province is looking to do.

MR. WARREN:  Do I take it, sir, that the answer to my question is that you have done nothing to cut back your spending in light of the economic circumstances faced by the ratepayers of this province?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, there's also evidence in the filing with respect to what we are doing in the cost-efficiency area, and we've had a lot of savings over the last few years and we continue to put forward additional savings, so I wouldn't say we have done nothing.

I would say that with respect to particularly, Did we undertake an emergency program with respect to responding to the economic situation?  That would be true, we did not do that.

MR. WARREN:  Just in the category of your last answer, could you turn up Exhibit A, tab 16, schedule 1?  This isn't within your purview, but it is relevant to the answer you have just given me.  Exhibit A, tab 16, schedule 1.

MR. GRAHAM:  I have it.

MR. WARREN:  Can you go to page 6 of 13 of that, please?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I have it.

MR. WARREN:  Now, I am a terrible reader of tables and I apologize in advance for the mistakes I'll make, but am I reading that correctly, Mr. Graham, that the total incremental cost savings in the transmission arm from 2005 to 2010 is 0.8 percent?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think, if I recall -- and, again, you say this is not my evidence, but although -- these are representative of incremental year-over-year gains.  So if you wanted to look at a cumulative impact in terms of the revenue requirement, the OM&A costs or the costs of Hydro One, you would add these numbers together.  So we had 8.4 million in 2005.  We had an additional 5.4 million in 2006, meaning the total, then, would be 13.8 million, and so on.  So it accumulates.

MR. WARREN:  So a total of 50.1 million, is that right, total sales?

MR. GRAHAM:  Per year, yes.

MR. WARREN:  Total savings of 50.1 million over that period of time?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Per year.

MR. WARREN:  Per year?

MR. ROGERS:  This is a panel 3 topic, too, by the way.

MR. WARREN:  Fair enough, Mr. Rogers, but your witness, in response to my question about savings, made a reference to these savings.

MR. GRAHAM:  I did.

MR. WARREN:  And that's it?  This is the table that represents the savings.

MR. GRAHAM:  Again, although it is not my evidence, this is the evidence that the company has put forward; that's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Two final topics, panel, before I exhaust my time.  Can we -- and they're narrow and specific.


Can we look at Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 3?  This is in the category of research and development.  I just have a couple of questions on that topic.

MR. GRAHAM:  I have it.

MR. WARREN:  I want to understand, if I can, panel, the research and development function within Hydro One.  What, if any, relationship does your research and development function have to, for example, the research and development activities of the OPA?

MR. GRAHAM:  I'm unaware that the OPA has specifically got R&D functions with respect to transmission.  I don't believe they do.  So I don't believe there's any interaction there in an R&D sense.

Now, certainly with respect to some of the work that's being done under R&D program, it is driven by needs that are identified by the OPA.  So, for example, we have a project to look at incorporation of large solar -- large PV farms into the transmission system, and that's driven by the needs expressed by the OPA and the Ministry to add solar and renewable generation.

MR. WARREN:  So when I look at -- I am looking at table 1 on page 2 of that exhibit.  I see that you are forecasting spending some $15.2 million in the two test years on research and development?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's -- sorry, what's the number you used?

MR. WARREN:  15.2 million; 6 million in 2009, 9.2 in 2010.

MR. GRAHAM:  Oh, I see.  You're adding the R&D over the two years.  Yes, that's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  One of those, I take it, from what you have just told me, would be research on solar panels and how effective they might be -- sorry, I apologize.  You didn't say that.  You gave me an answer about solar panels and linking them to the grid.  That is part of what you're researching?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's what we're looking at as the linkage, not solar farms, per se, because that is not our business.  I think there is an interrogatory response that lays out the various R&D projects.  That is I-4-14.

MR. WARREN:  Right.  My question is:  Is it possible, as a result of that research and development, that you may conclude that it is not cost-effective to link solar farms to the grid?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I would doubt that, simply by the fact that we know we can already do it.  What we're trying to do is make it more efficient.

MR. WARREN:  My final question, sir, is in the same exhibit, and I want to just ask some questions about the development work for the IPSP.

Now, there is a panel later on which is talking about variance accounts, but I wonder if you could tell me why it is -- this is money which you are going to spend in the test years; is that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And I just want to make sure I understand the numbers, because I'm confused about it.

You are going to spend, according to table 1, which is on Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 3, page 7, you are going to spend - you tell me - how much on the development work for these IPSP projects?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe the table indicates 8 million in 2009 and 11.2 million in 2010.

MR. WARREN:  Can you just explain to me what the $47.9 million figure is?

MR. GRAHAM:  That would be the total development dollars over the entire period that needs to be spent on these projects.  So some of them are not being spent in the rate years, the test years.

MR. WARREN:  Now, this is money which is going to be spent -- this is $19.2 million that is going to be spent on these projects in the test years; is that correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. WARREN:  If it's going to be spent, sir, why would it be in a variance account as opposed to being added to your capital or to your OM&A, your development OM&A?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that is a question that would be better answered by a later panel.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, the other question or series of questions I have about this is that this is money which is being spent in advance of the Board's consideration of - I shouldn't say that - in advance of the next phase of the Board's consideration of the IPSP.

So it is possible, I take it, that the Board may not approve -- that's not necessarily the Board's jurisdiction.  It may say these projects should not go ahead?

MR. GRAHAM:  It would be untoward for me to judge what the Board may say.

MR. WARREN:  But it is possible?  That's all I'm asking you.  Is it possible the Board may do it?  I'm wondering, sir --

MR. GRAHAM:  The Board, of course, can do anything within its power.  Fundamentally, I think the issue we're dealing with here is the time pressures.

We see this as a need that the government and the OPA have identified as needing to happen in the short term.  Thus, we're not waiting with respect to these projects, and I hesitate to quote the Chair of the Board, but he made a speech the other day where he said time is of the essence.  And that's the attitude I think we have with respect to some these projects.

MR. WARREN:  Far be it for me to ever disagree with any suggestion from the Chair of the Board, panel.  But my question really is whether or not this is prudent expenditure, in light of the fact that these issues are not yet -- have not yet been considered by the IPSP.

MR. GRAHAM:  I understand.  That is, I think, one of the criteria, but, again, it would be better answered by a later panel that would lead to this being in a deferral account.

MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.  Thank you, panel.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Mr. DeVellis, I believe you are next.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, good morning, Madam Chair.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Go ahead.
Cross-Examination by Mr. DeVellis:

MR. DeVELLIS:  Good morning, panel.  I would just like to start, while it is fresh in my mind, with the last topic that Mr. Warren spoke to you about, and that is the development OM&A for the pre-IPSP engineering projects.

I know you said that questions as to why it is in a deferral account are for another panel, but let me just ask you.  I assume you have a forecast of what these costs will be over the test years?


MR. GRAHAM:  I think this table lays them out.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And are those costs beyond Hydro One's ability to control, any more than other IPSP-related expenditures that are in your development capital budgets, for example?


MR. GRAHAM:  Well, they're very much in our responsibility to manage.  I am not sure, when you say "not in our ability to control", exactly what you're referring to.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, I mean, typically, for one of the tests, with respect to whether amounts should be recorded in a deferral account, is whether they are beyond the company's ability to control.  I'm asking whether that is the case for these costs, as opposed to other development capital-related costs.

MR. GRAHAM:  Again, questions as to why it is in a deferral account, I would tend to defer, to use a term.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  That's fine.  Thank you.


Madam Chair, I submitted two spreadsheets to the applicant over the weekend, and I left copies for Mr. Millar on his desk there.  I wonder if I may have them entered as exhibits.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  We will call the first one "Hydro One Transmission, sustaining development and operations, OM&A", and that will be K2.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  HYDRO ONE TRANSMISSION, SUSTAINING DEVELOPMENT AND OPERATIONS, OM&A

MR. MILLAR:  The second one is "Hydro One Transmission, 2007 OM&A benchmark".  That will be K2.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  HYDRO ONE TRANSMISSION, 2007 OM&A BENCHMARK

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Does the Board Panel have copies?


MR. MILLAR:  We are just bringing them up.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Just a minute.


[Exhibits passed to Board Panel]


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thanks, we have those now.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  I have extra copies here if other parties would like.  I did send them out electronically over the weekend.

Now, panel, if I could start with the first one, that is K2.1.  As I said, I sent that over the weekend.  Have you had a chance to look at the table?


MR. GRAHAM:  I just got it this morning, but go ahead.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Do you have it in front of you?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I do.

MR. DeVELLIS:  So basically, this is your sustaining development and operations budgets over -- well, from 2003 to 2010, and I have added three columns just to show the differences between your forecast and actual amounts for 2007.  That would be column 8 and 9.

So column 8 will be your forecast from the 2007 application, and column 9 would be the actual 2007.  And then columns 10, 11, and 12 -- column 10 is the forecast from -- your 2008 forecast from the 2007 transmission application, column 11 is your 2008 forecast from this application, and column 12 is your actual 2008, that was provided in the update that you recently filed.


Do you see those there?

MR. GRAHAM:  I do.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Do you have a problem with any of those numbers there --

MR. GRAHAM:  There's a lot of numbers.  I guess we can see through our investigation whether we do.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So you can advise me if you see something that's incorrect on the table?


MR. ROGERS:  We will do that.  I don't plan to go through every number, but if something comes to our attention that is wrong, we will let you know, certainly.

There is one -- I can tell you, there's -- I don't know how significant this is, Mr. DeVellis, but down at line 46 --

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  -- column 9, the 1.4 is in the wrong column, I think.  It should be over --

MR. DeVELLIS:  Oh, yes, right.  It should be in column 12.

MR. GRAHAM:  2008.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, okay.

MR. ROGERS:  Otherwise, let's carry on.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Now, with respect to your -- the update for the 2008 actuals, we see here some fairly significant differences, I guess, for sustaining OM&A.  You started with an initial forecast of 200.9 million.  That would be column -- row 15.  And then in your current application you had 197.9 million, and your actual is 187.5 million.  Do you see that there?

MR. GRAHAM:  I do.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Is that accurate, to the best of your recollection?


MR. GRAHAM:  I believe so.  I would add that I believe there's a one-time insurance payment of $8.7 million credited against the actual in 2008, so if you add the $8.7 million back you get a figure that is more like 195.2 or something like that, 196.2, I guess.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  195.2, I think.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Well, my first question was going to be, the update that you filed simply had the numbers for 2008.  I don't think you had an explanation for the variance between 2008 and the actuals in your forecast.

MR. GRAHAM:  Well --

MR. DeVELLIS:  Is there something you -- can you give us a high-level explanation of the differences or the variation for sustaining and development operations OM&A?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, first off, I don't see it as being significantly different -- well, I shouldn't say "significantly".  It is not largely different than the budget -- than the OEB approval.  And in fact, if you look at the under-expenditure in 2008 and the over-expenditure in '07 were, I think, over, particularly one should take account of the adjustment that I just spoke of being a one-time item.

So we see this as being relatively close to budget, given the various items that we have to manage.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  I appreciate that.  But as for my question, do you have -- is there something you can provide us with, sort of a high-level explanation for the variation?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I guess I'm -- I'm at a bit of a loss with respect -- do you want me to go through the detail for 2- or $3 million?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, for sustaining OM&A, for example, your original forecast for 2008 was 200.9 million.

MR. GRAHAM:  That was the OEB approval; that's correct.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  And your actual 2008 was 187.5 million, which is about --

MR. GRAHAM:  With the $8.4 million credit against it - $8.7 million credit, I should say.  So that again, if you adjust for that, you're talking about something that is roughly $4 million different than the budget.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.


MR. GRAHAM:  We can go through the detail if you want, Mr. DeVellis.  I'm just not sure --

MR. DeVELLIS:  No, that's fine.

MR. DeVELLIS:  -- when you say "high level" that is really what you're after.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Can you explain the insurance adjustment to me again?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I believe this related to the Pinard TS fire, which occurred in, I believe, 2006.  And we got an insurance payment back with respect to that.

Mr. Currie, do you have...?

MR. CURRIE:  That's -- the Pinard fire occurred in December of 2006, and we received an insurance payment of $8.7 million, as Mr. Graham was saying.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And you received that in 2008?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. CURRIE:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  So you credited that towards your 2008 sustainment budget.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.

MR. ROGERS:  I think -- I'm sorry to interrupt, Madam Chair.  I do believe that this is in the evidence.  I remember reading this somewhere.  I think with the update there -- the significant variances have been explained in the blew-up dates.  I don't object to the questions.  I just point that out for the Board.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, okay.  As far as I can tell from the updates, it was just an update of the numbers, and there was no explanation.  That's what...

MR. GRAHAM:  There were -- as Mr. Rogers has said, there were a few sheets that were updated for major changes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  That's fine.  And so I take it then you don't feel that your 2009 and 2010 budgets need to be revisited, in view of the apparent reduction --

MR. GRAHAM:  We're always in the hands of our friends.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  I mean --

MR. GRAHAM:  But we feel they're appropriate.


MR. DeVELLIS:  The reason I was asking these questions, it seems like you've had -- your 2007 numbers were above your forecast, and then your 2008, you've had three forecasts, and each of them have been successively lower.  And my question was going to be, did that give you pause to reconsider your 2009/2010 budgets?


MR. GRAHAM:  We certainly don't see anything from the 7 and 8 results that would cause us to revisit the submission.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I would ask you to turn to our next spreadsheet.  That's Exhibit K2.2.


MR. GRAHAM:  I have it.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I take it your answer for this will be the same?  You have just seen it for the first time this morning?  Okay.


Well, again, anything on here that -- what we've done here is taken your OM&A budgets for sustaining development and operations and basically divided by the total transmission lines or units transmitted to obtain some kind of rough benchmark for your OM&A spending.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And my first question is, we have information, as far as I could find, up to 2007 -- that's from your annual report -- for total transmission lines and units transmitted.


And I know that there's going to be some significant work over the next few years.  So would you be able to update the -- provide us with a number for 2008, 2009 and 2010 for those two figures?

MR. GRAHAM:  I would expect we could take a shot at it.  I'm not sure it would be exact.

MR. DeVELLIS:  On a best efforts basis?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. GRAHAM:  Again, I guess I would add, Mr. DeVellis, there is a couple of cautions here.  With respect to transformer station assets and transmission lines, we're not sure where the Green Energy Act may take us, so, you know, that's a bit of a to-be-determined issue.

And -- but based on our plans in terms of putting units in service, and so on, we can provide you with what that tells us.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  On a best efforts basis, as far as you know at this time.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Millar, can we have a number for that?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  We're at undertaking J2.2.  Mr. DeVellis, could you repeat the undertaking?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  That's to provide the total transmission lines for 2008, 2009, 2010 and total units transmitted in terawatt hours for 2008, 2009 and 2010.
Undertaking No. J2.2:  To provide the total transmission lines for 2008, 2009, 2010 and total units transmitted in terawatt hours for 2008, 2009 and 2010.

MR. GRAHAM:  I'm assuming the eight figures would probably have pretty close to actuals, and the units transmitted would probably be per the load forecasts that underlie this submission.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.

Now, as far as the OM&A numbers that I provided in rows 5 to 10 -- to 13, I guess, any problem with the numbers, as I set out there?

MR. GRAHAM:  Again, subject to finding something.

MR. DeVELLIS:  You can let me know if I inputted them incorrectly.

So you see here in the OM&A per line kilometres and OM&A per units transmitted, rows 17 to 24, some significant increases over -- between 2007 and -- 2003 and 2007?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.  I think it would be fair to say that our costs have increased more quickly, because of the demands of the system, than the units of assets, if you will, and the units transmitted.  That's fair to say.

MR. DeVELLIS:  If I can ask you just to flip back to K2.1, briefly, and if you can look at row 48?


What I have done there is taken your, I will call it, SD and OM&A, sustaining development and OM&A, from 2003, 185.5 million, and inflated that, assuming a 3 percent per year increase.

MR. GRAHAM:  I see that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Do you see that there?  So by 2010, I have 228.1 million versus what you are proposing in this application of 310.3 million.  Do you see that there?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I do.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So a difference of about $90 million.

This is not to suggest that your spending should have been 3 percent in every single year.  My question is to you, though:  Does this sort of -- I'll call it a base line of inflationary increases.  Does that sort of analysis -- or did you use that sort of analysis in your planning in terms of sort of, Can we arrive at or can we limit our expenditures to a reasonable year-over-year increase?

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.  First off, I will have to take issue with your use of the word "reasonable", but other than that --

MR. DeVELLIS:  What we would consider reasonable, sorry.

MR. GRAHAM:  I think we do certainly consider affordability in terms of the rate impacts.  So that is a consideration that senior management and the planners look at, senior management, particularly, with respect to the submissions that we put forward here.

So I don't think we necessarily say what would the rate of inflation give us, but we certainly try to look at affordability as a criteria with respect to we may wish to do more, but that's going to have too much of an impact on our customers.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Is it explicitly part of your budget planning process?

MR. GRAHAM:  It's a criteria that senior management applies, particularly.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I would like to ask about some of your specific OM&A plans now.

MR. GRAHAM:  Be my guest.  Maybe someone else can say something.

MR. DeVELLIS:  And the first is your power equipment OM&A.  This is under your sustainment budget.  We have an interrogatory.  It's Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 10.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I believe we have it.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  We had asked about the increase, the extra work that you're going to be performing in the power -- under the power equipment program between 2008 and 2010, which is about -- there's a $25 million increase.  Is that about right?

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry.  That sounds right, subject to -- I will confirm it in a moment.

Sorry, I'm having difficulty sorting through my paper again.  Can you confirm?  25 million?

Yes, I have it in front of me, Mr. DeVellis.  Yes, 25 million -- 24 million, actually.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  Do you have the interrogatory response in front of you?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I do.

MR. REYNOLDS:  If we can find it.  Yes.

MR. GRAHAM:  Thank you.

MR. DeVELLIS:  So we had asked for, I guess, an explanation as to the extra work that you're going to be accomplishing with the extra -- well, $24 million is the total, but I guess a portion of that it would be inflationary increases?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think this lays out the proportion, but that's true.  There is still a significant portion of increase in work.

MR. DEVELLIS:  If you turn to the second page, you provided me with a table basically showing percentage increases over 2008.

First of all, can you explain what you've done in the table here?

MR. CURRIE:  We've categorized the PM spending along the lines of these broad categories, preventive maintenance, corrective maintenance, transformer refurbishment, breaker refurbishments and other refurbishments, and we've given you the percentage increases, as we see them, 2009 over 2008, and 2010 over 2008.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  I guess what I was looking for, though, is more of a breakdown of the -- not the percentage increase, but the actual work that you are going to be performing and how you arrived at the budgets for 2009 and 2010, because there are some -- you know, as we've seen earlier, some significant budgetary increases.

I am trying to get at how you arrived at those numbers.

MR. CURRIE:  Could I ask you to pull out interrogatory I-6-28?  We have given some examples there of accounts of the increased work that we are doing for specifically mid-life transformer refurbishments so you can get a sense of the increase there.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Currie, two things.  First of all, slow down a little bit and let people get the exhibit.  Secondly, be sure your mike is on, would you?

MR. GRAHAM:  It is on.

MR. CURRIE:  It is.

MR. ROGERS:  I think we have the exhibit now.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, sorry.  Go ahead.

MR. CURRIE:  If you turn to page 2 and you look at section B, you can see, for instance, the number of mid-life transformer refurbishments, and that is part of the increase noted in the other interrogatory response.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So you have an increase from four in 2008 to eight and six in 2009 and 2010.  Okay.  Do you have a budget for mid-life transformer refurbishments?

MR. CURRIE:  Yes.  For 2009, it's $17 million.  In 2010, it is $19.5 million.

MR. DeVELLIS:  And 2008, sorry?  Are you reading from the evidence, or just...

MR. CURRIE:  No.  This is new to the evidence.

MR. DeVELLIS:  What is 2008, then?

MR. CURRIE:  Seven and eight?

MR. DeVELLIS:  2008.

MR. CURRIE:  I only have the projection for 2008.

MR. GRAHAM:  Which was?

MR. CURRIE:  We projected nine.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Nine million?

MR. CURRIE:  Right.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Nine million for four refurbishments?

MR. CURRIE:  Right.  In 2007 we were at $17 million, so we had an uptick there.  But that's -- the refurbishments there were for the 750 auto-transformer refurbishments from mediation efforts.  Those are significantly more costly.


MR. DeVELLIS:  So that was 17 for the one refurbishment?


MR. CURRIE:  Well, there was a number of them.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  All right.  And does this -- sorry, I'm sure I must have looked at this before, but does this IR response contain the rest of the increases in the work program for power equipment?


MR. CURRIE:  No, it does not.  It just gives an example there.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Currie, I am going to ask you just to keep your voice up.  Mr. DeVellis is sitting close to you, but many people are not, and so just try to speak to Board counsel down there when you are giving your answer.

MR. CURRIE:  All right.  I will do that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  So in terms of the rest of the increase in expenditure, I guess this is a fair amount of it, isn't it?  The transformer refurbishments?  In terms of the rest of it --

MR. GRAHAM:  I think, as Mr. Currie has mentioned, that is $8 million there in transformer refurbishments.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  Okay.  And I will move on then to ancillary systems.


And this is another area where you have significant increases over.  The 2007 actual, I believe, was 9.6 million, and you forecast 21 million in 2010.  Does that sound right?


MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  We also had an interrogatory about that, and I think you gave me a similar answer.


MR. GRAHAM:  Do you have a reference?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, oh, sorry.  It is Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 11.  Let me know when you have it.


MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, I have a bad binder here.

Yes, I have it.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  I think you gave me a similar answer for that, that you did for power equipment, and you gave me sort of a percentage increase over previous years.  And I was looking for more of an increase, you know, work program.  I'm sure you will point me to some other interrogatory response, but...

MR. CURRIE:  Well, as we stated in this interrogatory response in I-4-11, that the primary increases are in the areas of ancillary-system services refurbishments and preventive maintenance.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  What I was looking for is sort of a, more of a breakdown of the actual work, the number of refurbishments or -- that you are forecasting.  Do you have that somewhere?


MR. CURRIE:  I don't have that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  You don't have that.  Okay.  Is there something you can provide us with?


MR. ROGERS:  Is that something that we can get relatively easily?


MR. CURRIE:  I believe so, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  J2.3.  Mr. DeVellis, can you repeat the undertaking?


MR. DeVELLIS:  It is to provide a breakdown of the additional work to be performed under the ancillary program -- ancillary-systems program.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN OF ADDITIONAL WORK TO BE PERFORMED UNDER THE ANCILLARY-SYSTEMS PROGRAM

MR. ROGERS:  Just before we do this, it has just been pointed out to me there is some evidence on this at Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 28, page 3.  I don't know that it answers the question completely, but let's have a look at it and see if it helps.  Part E.


MR. CURRIE:  That's the high-level explanation for the increases, is a significant portion of the population of assets at mid-life and at end of life.


MR. ROGERS:  Is there likely to be more information available than that?  If there is, then we will try to get it.


MR. CURRIE:  Yes.  I believe there is.


MR. GRAHAM:  I will say, Mr. DeVellis, while we're waiting, that the aging grounding grids, as is indicated here, is one of the areas of focus.  And I know there are some expenditures in that area.  I can't give you a number.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  No, that's fine.  So whatever you provide me in the undertaking.


MR. ROGERS:  We will do that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, with respect to your R&D spending and your development OM&A program, again, Mr. Warren pointed you to these numbers.  There are significant increases in the test years over prior years.  I believe there are increases from 2.7 million in 2008 to 9.2 million in 2010?

MR. GRAHAM:  Those numbers sound about right to me.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And I know you provided a list of projects for 2009 in response to an SEC interrogatory.  That's at -- you don't need to turn it up, but it's Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 14.


MR. GRAHAM:  Mm-hmm.

MR. DeVELLIS:  My question, though, is, are these projects discretionary, in the sense that they're not driven by aging assets or other sort of immediate needs?


MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I will speak in general, and then we can look at the list of projects.  I mean, there are various drivers that are here, but, I mean, I think we're looking at a transmission system on which the demands are substantially changing, particularly with respect to enabling new supply and the introduction of intelligence around smart-grid applications and so on.  Both of those indicate to us that we need to have a system that is more flexible, more able to deal with new issues, and that's primarily -- were a major driver of the R&D program.

But if we look at the projects, I think we'll probably find that some them have reflection of aging assets, or relay-aging, for example, I see as one of the projects here.  So it is not uniformly new stuff.  There is also things, looking at sustainment of existing assets.


MR. CURRIE:  There's a high-level interrogatory that gives the overall increases, in I-1-27.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I guess my overall question, though, is, what prompted this large increase in R&D at the same time as other budgets are also increasing by a large amount?  And have you considered possibly this as one area of restraint, I will call it, in view of increases in other areas?

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.  And I think my answer would be that it is primarily driven by the factors I've already mentioned, in terms of the new demands on the system, enabling new supply.  For example, I mentioned the solar project, just one of many.

So there are things that we've never had to do before that we have to adapt to, and these are often involving new technology or new approaches.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  I want to move on then to your operations OM&A.  And in this area you had about a $15 million increase from 2005 to 2010, from 38.3 million to 53.7 million.  Is that about right?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's right.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And you were asked -- perhaps you could turn up the exhibit.  It is Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 4.


MR. GRAHAM:  Right.  I have it.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  You're faster than I am.


Page 3.  And what you say there is:

"The planned expenditures for operations OM&A test years are higher than the bridge and historical years due to increased operator training requirements, increased operating-facilities maintenance and monitoring requirements, and labour material escalation."

Do you see that there?


MR. GRAHAM:  I do.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Then you were asked about that in Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 29.


MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I have it.

MR. DeVELLIS:  An interrogatory from Board Staff.  And they have asked you to break down the increase in operator training, operator-facilities maintenance, and monitoring requirements, and labour material escalation for historic bridge and test years.

And the increase in your response, that looks to be about a $5 million increase for 2005 and 2010?

MR. GRAHAM:  I'll maybe let Mr. Stenning -- I see 5 million but, I am not aware of the contents.

MR. STENNING:  The...

MR. QUESNELLE:  Your microphone, Mr. Stenning.

MR. ROGERS:  What did you say?

MR. STENNING:  Yes, the training costs are in the order of a $5 million increase.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Those are the training costs.

So that's five out of 15 million.  I wonder if you can explain the other ten, because the way this is described in the exhibit, those are the major cost increases, and you have identified five out of the 15 here.  I wonder if you can explain the rest.

MR. STENNING:  I don't have the costs that I can actually break them down per category.  If you go back to the Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 4, so we're seeing that the operations portion of the budget -- or you're looking at the period from 2005 to 2010; is that correct?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.

MR. STENNING:  So we're looking at the operations portion of the budget that we're seeing an increase of $9 million there.  And there's -- so of that 9 million, at least 5 million of that has been identified as a training component.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.

MR. STENNING:  So over that other five-year period you would also have other material and labour escalation figures.  So I think that that pretty well explains that component of the budget.

For the operation support, you can see that there's an increase also of approximately 5 million.  So you would expect that in the operation support area that you would also see some escalation in normal labour and material.


The operation support also includes things such as field switching, and, as you see, we have an increased work program, and field switching is also a component that we would expect to increase over that period just in terms of more services required for a larger program.


So I think that that would -- I can't put a dollar figure on that particular component, but that would explain that.

Then in the environmental and health and safety area, safety continues to be a greater focus, particularly the public safety.  It's a large percentage increase, but a rather modest increase in terms of one-and-a-half million dollars.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  The inflationary increases from 2005 - I believe you say it somewhere - is 13 percent?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's what the interrogatory response says, yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So if you just take the inflationary increase over 38 million, that's about 5 million.  Then you add another 5 million for the training costs, so that is ten.  So I guess you're saying the other 5 million is the other areas that you're...

MR. STENNING:  Well, switching is one significant component of that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.

MR. STENNING:  I think that you know this broad category is also subject to increased regulatory requirements.  As you are aware, cyber security, you know, the need to comply with additional regulatory components, and things like that, is also adding to the -- you know, the day-to-day costs, in terms of the operations budget.

I believe in the evidence we talk about, you know, additional things such as expansion of software licensing.  I think that's the other significant area that I didn't mention.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  I would like to ask about some of your capital budgets now.

I'll start with the Hatch report that is at Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 1, attachment A.  You don't need to turn it up.  I just have sort of a general question.

The report is dated September 16th, 2008?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, it is.

MR. DeVELLIS:  So can you help me to explain the relationship between the asset condition assessment and the capital budgets that you put forward?  I assume the budgets were already done by the time you got the report?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, the report is summarizing the results that Hydro One has found.  So the asset condition information that we base the plan on would be very similar.  I mean, we may have had some additional information come in by the time the Hatch review happened, but essentially it would be the same information they're reviewing as would underlie our plan.

I think I could add that the condition assessment information that's covered by the health index is only one of the drivers with respect to the investments we make.  Other things do come into play with respect to performance, et cetera.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Can I ask you to turn to Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 33?

MR. GRAHAM:  That is the sustaining capital?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Sustaining capital.

MR. GRAHAM:  Page, which?

MR. DeVELLIS:  Page 33.  It is sustaining capital, specifically protection, control monitoring program.

MR. GRAHAM:  I understand, yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Again, this is an area that is seeing a large increase in expenditures over the test years.

You say at page 33, beginning at line 8:
"It is critical to ensure that assets installed over a short period of years with a well defined end of life (EOL) are all replaced before onset of end of life begins.  The risk of replacing assets too early is far outweighed by the potentially disastrous consequences of allowing a large population of assets essential to the operation of the grid to begin failing simultaneously in large numbers."

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I take it, then, that the basis for the replacement of these assets is not performance-based, but, rather, age?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, it's certainly based on condition and performance in our history with them.  But I think what this statement is trying to lay out is that given the protection, control system is effectively, in some ways, the brain of the system, and it is what allows us to provide services to customers and protect those customers, that we do not want to take undue risk with respect to waiting for these things to fail before we replace them.  We want to make sure we replace them generally - not always, but generally - before they fail.

MR. DeVELLIS:  You're looking at the end of life for the assets and you say, Well, that's approaching, and we better replace it before something --

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.  It would certainly be based on indication -- like, you can observe the condition.  You can take a look at the utilization.  You would take a look at the performance of the assets.  Are they performing according to plan all, of those things, before you make that decision.  But, generally speaking, we're trying to be proactive in replacing P&C assets.

MR. DeVELLIS:  So how far before the end of life would you be replacing these?

MR. GRAHAM:  I don't know that I could answer that question.  I'm not sure Mr. Currie could either but I will let him try.

MR. CURRIE:  Some of the details about the requirements for replacing the P&C assets are on page 32.  The comprehensive list or the summary of the list is we're looking at mean time between failures and information from inspections, calibration drips, obsolescence, demographic data on age, and particular asset categories, the NERC standards and the nature and scope of defects.


So those factors, together, go into making the decision of end of life for these protection, control assets.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  I didn't see it in the evidence, but do you have a breakdown somewhere of the end-of-life region for these assets?

MR. GRAHAM:  I would expect that we know the demographics of the population.

Just to be clear, I should tell the Board - I think it is in evidence - the end-of-life region is just a calculation based on 75 percent of the expected life.  It's not necessarily what we use as the driver to replace, but it is an indicator of age.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So in terms of replacing these assets, you would be looking at replacing them before you get to 75 percent of --

MR. GRAHAM:  No, no, no.  I wouldn't say that at all.  Seventy-five percent is simply an indicator of age.  For example, if we have a good history, if we understand these assets are pretty dependable, we might look at taking them right up close to 100 percent of their estimated life, or potentially beyond, if we learned something since the estimated life was established.


In other cases, where we encountered failure histories, there are issues with condition and so on, we might look at replacing things somewhat earlier than the end of life.

MR. DeVELLIS:  No, I appreciate that.  But I thought that what you said in the evidence is that for these particular assets, you don't wait for performance issues.  You do it before you get to end of life.

MR. GRAHAM:  I wouldn't say we don't wait for performance issues.  We don't wait for performance issues to start accelerating.  I mean, we look at the early indications.  And, again, this is outside my area of expertise, but, generally speaking, we would look at trying to make sure we're not taking undue risk.  That's really what we're trying to do.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.

One last area of questions.  This has to do with your power transformer replacement, also under sustaining budget.

MR. GRAHAM:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. DeVELLIS:  That's in the same exhibit, D1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 22.

MR. GRAHAM:  I have it.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Right at the top, you say:

"The results of the analysis..."

That's analysis of the power transformers:
"...indicated that power transformer performance is deteriorating.  In particular, this general performance assessment showed that there is a significant deterioration of the frequency and unavailability measures for 500 kV transformers."

And we had an interrogatory about that.  It's at Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 32.  If I could ask you to turn that up.


MR. GRAHAM:  That's my famous binder again, but I will try to find it this time.

We have it.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And if you turn to page 2.  It is your answer to part (c).  And you've given us the performance -- I guess the frequency of forced outage performance and unavailability of forced outage performance in the table there.


MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And it doesn't appear to me that there is a significant deterioration.  I wonder if you could explain that for me.  You have, for example, for the 500 kV in 2005, 167.7, in terms of unavailability of forced outage, and then up to 238.5 in 2006, but then down to 86.5 in 2007.  Am I reading that correctly?


MR. CURRIE:  Yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I don't know what the numbers mean, but it doesn't seem like there's a trend towards greater frequency of outage.

MR. CURRIE:  There's, I think, two issues here, dominant issues.  One is the failure history of the 500 kV auto-transformers.  We have had a number of failures of these units.  And the other thing is the comparison to the CEA national average.


And for instance, for the 500 kV transformers, when we compare like units in other jurisdictions within Canada, we're 7.1 times worse in terms of frequency and 8.5 times worse in terms of unavailability for comparable assets.  So this is an indication to us of a deteriorating trend in these assets.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Are you reading from something that is in the evidence, or is that something you can provide us?

MR. CURRIE:  No, I'm not.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Sorry?

MR. CURRIE:  No, it's not in the evidence.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Is that something you can provide us then, just showing the averages?


MR. CURRIE:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking --

MR. ROGERS:  Well, didn't he just give the average?  What is the --

MR. DeVELLIS:  He read two numbers.  I thought that --

MR. CURRIE:  7.1 and 8.5.


MR. ROGERS:  I'm not sure what we're being asked to do, Madam Chair.  That is my concern.  He's indicated that the performance of this company's assets in this category are much worse than the average that you referred to, right?

MR. CURRIE:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. ROGERS:  What other --

MS. CHAPLIN:  What more do you need, Mr. DeVellis?

MR. DeVELLIS:  No, that's fine.  I thought that there was a summary that could be -- because I understood the witness to be only pointing to the 500 kV.  Is that right?


MR. CURRIE:  That's what I was talking about, the 500 kV transformers.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Okay.

MR. CURRIE:  And that was the reference on page 22 that you were dealing with.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  No, okay.  That's fine.  That's fine.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.

Okay.  Thank you very much, panel.  Those are my questions.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.

I guess we will take our morning break now.  It is five after 11:00.  We will return in 20 minutes.  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 11:05 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 11:26 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Mr. Buonaguro, I see you have managed to charm the techies, so are you ready to proceed?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, thank you.  I insist on using as much of the technology in the room as I can.  Good morning, panel.

As you can see from what I put on the screen, I would like to start with some questions with respect to the pre-engineering work.  What I have on the screen is Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 3, and I have just highlighted one of the excerpts there which talks about the fact that the Hydro One is doing the pre-engineering development OM&A work for future projects.

And one of the questions I have, my first question, the title is, "Pre-engineering work to support IPSP and other long-term projects", and from the paragraph I've highlighted, it appears that the only long-term project, other than pre-IPSP work, is the additional generation initiatives to be in service at Darlington B for the middle of the next decade, work related to that; is that correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  It is the only one mentioned.  I am not entirely sure there aren't other projects in the list that aren't outlined in...

MS. CHAPLIN:  Microphone, please.

MR. GRAHAM:  I'm sorry.  Just to repeat that, Mr. Buonaguro, I am not sure that all of these projects are specifically identified in the IPSP, in terms of the development work.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So if I turn over to table 1, which is on page 7 of the exhibit at C1, tab 2, schedule 3, that's the list of all of the projects that require pre-engineering work?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the OPG project we were just talking about is project 18, I believe, incorporation of Darlington B GS?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.  Yes, it is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So most of these - you can tell me - are IPSP-related projects, but there may be more that are non-IPSP?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I guess what I would say is they may not have -- I'm not sure what the specific identification of them in the IPSP is.

For example, the Kitchener, Waterloo, Cambridge, Guelph transmission reinforcement, I am not sure how that gets in the IPSP.  I am not even sure how the IPSP relates to the specific likelihood of doing an RFP for gas generation down there.

These are all around enablement of new supply in line with what we expect the OPA is going to be requiring.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Could you give me an undertaking to look at the list and determine which ones are -- I hesitate to use the word "truly", but truly IPSP-related projects and which ones are properly identified as other long-term projects?

MR. GRAHAM:  I would think we could do that quickly in terms of the status vis-à-vis the IPSP, yes.  You're talking about the filed IPSP as opposed to the rework which is yet to be filed?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  This is J2.4, and, as I understand it, it is to identify with which projects under table 1 are not related to the IPSP?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, at C1, tab 2, schedule 3, page 7.
Undertaking No. J2.4:  To identify which projects are not related to IPSP in Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 3, page 7.

MR. BUONAGURO:  At C1, tab 2, schedule 3, page 7.

MR. GRAHAM:  Perhaps I could just elaborate.  There has been a fair bit of concentration on it.  These projects here are things we feel, from a time point of view, as I mentioned timing before, are really urgent, need to be done quickly and cannot await, from our point of view and our understanding of the OPA's concerns, the actual approval on the IPSP to come.

So that's why we've put these forward, and, you know, the accounting treatment I'm not really e equipped to speak to, but the need for the work is fairly clear, in our understanding, particularly at least the upfront work, to make sure these don't slip on a time basis.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Speaking on the need for the work and specific to IPSP-related work, we talked yesterday on the development panel about projects that are OPA recommended and that, generally speaking, that OPA recommendation resulted in a letter from the OPA.  I guess it ended in a formal letter from the OPA recommending the project?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think there's an undertaking -- you gave me an undertaking to give me an example, and I think there was a further undertaking to give all of the letters?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I believe that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  In this type of work, is there a similar process?  For example, are there projects here which are related to the IPSP that the OPA is therefore -- and that the OPA has gone and made an actual recommendation to Hydro One to do the project?

MR. GRAHAM:  Not to do the project at this point in time.  I mean, I think there have been discussions around doing the development work, getting ready in case we need to do this project on a quick time line.

I would not say that at this point they have come back to us and said, Do this project.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I misspoke.  They recommended -- they have actually made a recommendation to Hydro One to do the preliminary engineering work?

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.  This would not be in the formal type of letter you're talking about with respect to the commitment of other work.  This would be more an understanding between ourselves and the OPA that it makes sense for us to undertake some of this work.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, is that true for every IPSP-related project, that there has been communication between OPA and Hydro One and that they've indicated to Hydro One that Hydro One should be doing preliminary engineering work on these projects?

MR. GRAHAM:  I'm not the right person to ask "every".  It would certainly be my understanding that for the large majority of these projects, we have had conversations.  The OPA would be aware of it and would be, in our understanding at least staff level supportive with respect to the potential need for these.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I take from that there is nothing in writing specifically that you could file to confirm the OPA's standing on Hydro One doing the preliminary work?

MR. GRAHAM:  I am a little unaware.  I hesitate to say nothing in writing, because there may be in some cases.  I just don't know the status.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Would you like to take an undertaking to review what you do have with respect to these projects in terms of OPA recommendations?

MR. ROGERS:  No.  Madam Chair, I am not going to volunteer to do that.  It sounds like quite a bit of a big undertaking to go back through all these files to see if any of this communication, which has been described to you as a daily, iterative process between the two organizations, is in writing.  I don't know what purpose it would serve.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I mean, the alternative is to leave it at what I understand to be the evidence is they have conversed with the OPA on these projects, but there is no specific recommendation from the OPA to do these jobs or to do this work in anticipation of projects that will be approved in the IPSP.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, I think this that -- I will go with the evidence there, which is, I think, that they have an ongoing very close relationship with the OPA and that they believe that these projects are considered by them to be urgently necessary to get under way.


None of these are going to find their way into rates in this case, because if you agree with the proposal, they will all be in a deferral account for future disposal.

So that's our position, I think.  It is just going to be too difficult to go back and try to put together e-mails -- and a lot it will be in e-mails or in meetings and oral discussions, I imagine.

MR. GRAHAM:  It's going to be a variety of things.  I think it would be fair to say, again, that if you look at -- I think the first nine projects are already mentioned in the IPSP, and we're simply going forward, in the absence of having an approved IPSP, to start the development work.


The last project is related to the government's directive with respect to developing the nuclear at Darlington.  So we're talking primarily the projects in between, and I am just not sure of the status of those.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, let me move on, and maybe I need to come back to it, maybe I don't.

MR. CROCKER:  Madam Chair, if I could interrupt for ten seconds, my name is David Crocker.  I'm sorry I didn't introduce myself yesterday morning.  I wasn't here.  I am representing AMPCO with others.

We asked -- AMPCO asked an interrogatory which -- and got an answer to an interrogatory which is right on point, and rather than me wait when I am cross-examining to raise the point, perhaps it makes it simpler.

I am in your hands.  If you would like me to wait, I will wait.  If...

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Buonaguro, are you content to allow him to pursue it on that particular interrogatory?  You have questions on the particular interrogatory answer you received?

MR. CROCKER:  Well, we asked exactly the same question in an interrogatory that Mr. Buonaguro just asked and got a response which is slightly different than the response here, but we have a response.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Buonaguro, I will leave it to you to decide whether you would like to pursue your line of cross-examination or whether you would like to have this...

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am indifferent.  If he wants to follow up now, I am content to have him to do so.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

MR. CROCKER:  If we could repeat the question and answer, it's Exhibit I, tab 10, schedule 8, page 1.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am putting it up on the screen if people are following along.

MR. GRAHAM:  If I may address that?

MR. ROGERS:  Let's wait for the question.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay, sorry.

MR. CROCKER:  The question -- well, the question, it's (a):
"Has the OPA specifically requested Hydro One to undertake preliminary work on IPSP projects?"

And the response to (a) is:

"No, the OPA has not yet specifically requested that Hydro One undertake preliminary work on these projects."


MR. ROGERS:  What's the question?


MR. CROCKER:  I don't have any question.  That was the issue, and I thought I would point out that it's been -- the question has been asked and it was answered.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, maybe you could invite the witnesses -- can you help?


MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I think, as I tried to say -- and I, I guess, apologize if I misspoke -- of course, the IPSP has not been approved yet.  Thus, for the IPSP projects the OPA is waiting approval before they tell us to do things that were put forward in the IPSP.


We at this point understand that they still see the need for those projects, and thus we're going forward, as shown in this exhibit, to start the preliminary development work in the deferral account.


So it's true that they have not given us a formal request, because the IPSP still is before the Board, or is deferred and will be brought back to the Board, but our understanding is that, again, on a timing basis these projects need to go forward, or at least we need to be ready to take them forward, and thus we're still going forward on the work, and our understanding at the staff level with the OPA is that they support us on that.


MR. ROGERS:  Can I just add to this?  If you look at the exhibit -- oh, I'm sorry --

MR. CROCKER:  I don't think I'm going to interrupt again.

MR. ROGERS:  I'm sorry, there is an answer, actually, that I have in my briefing book here, where the OPA was asked the very same question and provided an answer in the IPSP hearing.  And I can file this, for everybody's convenience.

But in that answer, which is an AMPCO interrogatory, by the way, in that case, same interrogatory, I think, they say that:

"The OPA has not specifically requested Hydro One Networks Inc. to undertake preliminary project development work on IPSP projects.  However, the OPA has had preliminary discussions with Hydro One and other interested parties on a number of projects in the IPSP for which the OPA has identified that development work should proceed."

And then it goes on to talk about the projects.


So I will file that, with your permission, Madam Chair.  It's an AMPCO interrogatory in another proceeding, but it is the same question, and it provides you with the OPA's response.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sure.  Why don't you file that.  Shall we just give that a number to mark it?  Let's give it an undertaking number so we have a...

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is J2.5, and it is to file an undertaking response from the IPSP; is that correct?


MR. ROGERS:  No, an interrogatory response, AMPCO Interrogatory No. 1 in that hearing.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.5:  TO FILE AN INTERROGATORY RESPONSE, AMPCO INTERROGATORY NO. 1


MR. CROCKER:  Madam Chair, I thought by interrupting I would have saved time.  I don't think I have, and I won't do it again.

MS. CHAPLIN:  That's quite all right, Mr. Crocker.

Mr. Buonaguro, why don't you proceed.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Turning to the one confirmed project on the list at table 1 of C1, tab 2, schedule 3 that isn't IPSP-related, which is item number 18.  Could you give me a description of the underlying need -- give me a description of that project and why Hydro One is the person that should be doing pre-engineering work on that project?

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.  First off, I will apologize.  I think this is probably mischaracterized, in terms of the evidence.  It would have been better dealt with by the previous panel, but I will try, given the previous panel has already gone forward.


My understanding is that the government has -- is under -- has underway an RFP process with respect to acquiring new generation at the expected site, as at the Darlington B generating station, and thus we're looking at the implications for the transmission system of incorporating new generation at that site.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.


And when you are looking at the rest of the table, and if you identify other projects that are non-IPSP-related, could you provide a description similar to that of what the project is?


MR. GRAHAM:  I'm sure we could do that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, looking at the table, projects 11 to 14 in particular, they appear to us to be contingency projects where -- it says right on the table -- they all refer to note 2, which means -- which says:

"Development work for these projects is to manage a scenario wherein gas-fired generation does not occur in the area."

MR. GRAHAM:  I don't see that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which suggests that these are contingencies, that if there is no gas-fired generation in that area pursuant to the IPSP, then these projects will be necessary.

Is that a fair characterization of those projects?

MR. GRAHAM:  Again, you're asking me about an area I don't have expertise, but I think it would be fair to say that would be my understanding.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, are these -- I have called them contingency projects.  Are these the only four projects in the list that could be called contingency projects, where they're in support of a possibility of the IPSP failing in particular areas?


MR. GRAHAM:  As far as I am aware, that is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And do you have any updates on the need for these projects?


MR. GRAHAM:  I would assume the northern York transmission reinforcement, for example, may relate to the same need that has been satisfied by the OPA's selection of Pristine Power to put a new generator in northern York region, so I am not really an expert again on this, but that's an assumption, subject to us, I guess, correcting ourselves.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So if that is true, then this project will disappear?


MR. GRAHAM:  I would expect so.


MR. BUONAGURO:  You sound like you don't want -- you don't -- aren't in a position to give me an answer now on the other three projects.  Is that --

MR. GRAHAM:  And because I am not a planner in detail, I am not sure what all the aspects of that contingency are.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Could you give me an undertaking on behalf of the company to update those three projects as well to see if they're in a state where they may not be --

MR. GRAHAM:  I think we can provide you an update with respect to, has the contingency disappeared with respect to the northern York region.  I am not sure -- the contingency is probably still extant, for example, in Kitchener-Waterloo, Cambridge, Guelph, where they have not determined what they're going to do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am just asking for confirmation, if that's --

MR. GRAHAM:  I think we can probably do that, as long as you're satisfied with that kind of level of information.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  Undertaking J2.6.  And I missed which projects we're talking about, so could you repeat the undertaking, please?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, projects 11 through 14 were identified as the only "contingency type projects", and the undertaking is to confirm that they are still required contingency plans under the OPA's IPSP with respect to generation facilities.


MR. GRAHAM:  At the risk of adding more confusion to this, Mr. Buonaguro, I would note that if we may have discussions, the OPA may wish the development work to go forward on some of these, pending the actual completion -- or actually, more certitude around the generation projects.  I am unclear as to how that works.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Well, if you have that information, if you could provide it as part of the undertaking.  Do you have a number for that?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  It is 2.6.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thanks.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.6:  TO CONFIRM THAT PROJECTS 11 THROUGH 14 ARE STILL REQUIRED CONTINGENCY PLANS UNDER THE OPA'S IPSP WITH RESPECT TO GENERATION FACILITIES.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in Undertaking I-1-28, you confirm, in response to Board Staff interrogatory, that Hydro One doesn't know what changes, if any, may be made to the scope of the referenced IPSP projects or their cash flows as a result of a September 17th, 2008 Ministerial directive to the OPA?


MR. GRAHAM:  I am just pulling it up.  That would be fair.  I think, as Mr. Rogers' opening statement mentioned, and as we have mentioned before, I mean, we would expect there's likely going to be something coming out of that, and it's going to be in the direction of increasing the demand, but we don't know specifically what that is going to be.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And in a similar vein, you confirmed to the School Energy Coalition in Interrogatory I-4-14 that you haven't been provided an update with regard to any of the projects while the IPSP is under review?


MR. GRAHAM:  No, we haven't.  I mean, again, discussions are ongoing, but no -- nothing specific and nothing determined.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, in that context, based on what you've been saying to previous examiners on this topic, my understanding is that, despite no further information for the OPA, and despite the, I guess, the limbo nature of the IPSP, Hydro One is still proceeding with the preliminary engineering work on all of these projects.  Is that correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.  And again, that's based on our understanding of what the government has been announcing, in terms of what's public thus far and what we hear in conversation with respect to the government's interest in moving forward on new supply for the province as quickly as possible, cleaning up the sources of supply so we're using less coal.

And these projects are necessary.  One of the prime constraints with respect to these new renewable projects is constraints on the transmission system.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, to confirm the obvious, Hydro One is not the only licensed transmission owner in the province.

MR. GRAHAM:  Correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  And going back to table 1, at C1, tab 2, schedule 3, and looking at the projects that are listed there --

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, first off, some of those projects -- my understanding is that for some those projects they're linked directly to Hydro One assets and therefore Hydro One is likely the only party who could be responsible for the work; is that fair?

MR. GRAHAM:  Certainly our expectation is projects that are embedded in our system are likely to be with us, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you give some examples from the list?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, for example, the north-south projects, I'm assuming there's a new north-south.  Yes, the lines up at number 2 -- 1, 2 and 3, those would be linked into our network, part of our delivery system, so we would see those as being of that nature, for example.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Then would it be fair to say there are other projects that could be undertaken by a transmitter other than Hydro One?  I am looking at -- possible examples would be the neighbour lines, projects 6 to 9.

MR. GRAHAM:  In terms of "could", that's to be proven out, but that is possible.

I would say that our concern with many of these right now is in terms of they need to get under way.  So we put the development work in this budget.  But it's not to say that the Board might not determine that there's another process they want to put in place to select another transmitter to do it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, under the proposed Transmission System Code, isn't it envisioned by the Board that other transmitters than Hydro One could undertake such projects and that, in fact, in that code, they're talking about a process to designate a transmitter responsible for developing and constructing enabler facilities, specifically.

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe that's the case.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, looking at Exhibit I, tab 10, schedule 8, which is the same AMPCO interrogatory we were just looking at, I believe?

MR. GRAHAM:  I have it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Looking at response D, it was suggested -- the question was asked:
"Please comment on whether project development work undertaken at the request of the OPA would be transferrable and useful to a third party should Hydro One not be the transmitter selected to construct the projects."

And the answer was, "No", with some explanation, obviously.

Does that mean that to the extent that you are in a position to be the transmitter responsible for these projects based on your preliminary engineering work and to the extent that other parties who may be competing for that work under what's envisioned in the Transmission System Code, doesn't that put Hydro One at an advantage in terms of bidding for that work, particularly since you can't transfer it to somebody else?

MR. GRAHAM:  This is envisioned as commercial projects and that there's a commercial process for determining who the winner is going to be.  We feel that the investment we have made is commercial property of the company and we have a commercial mandate under the Ontario Business Corporations Act.


So we feel that we should not transfer that free of charge, at least, with respect to other parties.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I expect I know what the answer is going to be, but I am going to ask, anyway.  Why would it not be more reasonable to wait until the OEB has designated the transmitter, and then let the party undertake the pre-engineering work for at least some these projects?

MR. GRAHAM:  Our immediate concern is the timing -- timeliness, to be honest.  That is why we feel the work has to start now.   Obviously we're in the Board's hands with respect to what they might want us to do in future.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, I have some questions about the prioritization process.  I got from Mr. Warren's cross -- he was directed to panel 3 for some of his questions.  Is it true that all of the prioritization questions should go to panel 3, or should I try them now?  I am asking counsel.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, they're the panel that can deal with the process, but I don't object if you want to try it with these witnesses.  If they can help you, they will.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, the prioritization process is described in Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 5, generally speaking.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.  I have it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And my understanding is that that process applies across the board with respect to investments.  So it would apply to all OM&A and all capital spending, including sustainment, development, operations and shared services?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's my understanding.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then I've highlighted here page 5 of that exhibit.

MR. GRAHAM:  Hmm-hmm.  Sorry, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Which talks about two things.  It talks about minimum levels of spending; correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And it also talks about -- then it talks about higher level spending, I guess, and I guess described as layered on top of the minimum level; right?

MR. GRAHAM:  Higher level is more accomplishment, more risk mitigation, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The example that this particular excerpt talks about is wood poles.  So I don't say that this is the reality but, for example, it could be that 500 would be the minimum spending for that particular project, and then --

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that was the inference of this, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then you would also look like -- beyond the minimum, you would look at 700 or 900 poles, in the example, as additional layers of spending as part of your planning process?

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, overall -- the overall spending levels, as I understand it, are subject to the prioritization process, based partly on the ability of investments to mitigate risks to Hydro One's business values?

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then beyond that, a preliminary plan is developed that also takes into account the affordability of the overall proposal, which is something you've talked about this morning already?

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you describe in more detail how affordability is assessed?

MR. GRAHAM:  I guess from two points of view.  In terms of the origination of the plan - and this is when the minimum in level 1 and level 2 investments are put forward - that's typically done by the planning function.  The planning function is looking primarily at the needs of the assets, but would be aware of the level of expenditure, along with the level of resourcing and so on, that we have had historically.


So there would be a consideration at that level in terms of not going out on a limb, so to speak, not going too far with respect to increases.

But it's primarily the role of management review, with respect to what's the impact going to be on rates and is that an affordable level for customers, given the benefit they're going to get from the increased programs or decreased programs, as the case may be.

So it's primarily the management review that considers that affordability criteria.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is there a percentage rate impact that, if you hit that ceiling, it's no longer affordable?

MR. GRAHAM:  I would doubt it.  This is a judgment that's applied by senior management in the organization.  I would think that they're looking at the balance between cost to customer, risks, doability issues.  All of those things are balanced off.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, for the test year, 2009-2010 proposed spending, is this the minimum level of spending that was determined in the process, or does it include the additional layers of investment on top of it?

MR. GRAHAM:  I can't be absolutely sure.  I know that in many cases, and probably the large majority of cases, this spending level is at the minimum.  But I would not say uniformly it is.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is the spending described that way anywhere in the evidence as this is the minimum level of spending in this particular area or project versus this is -- is that kind of information in the filing, because we haven't been able to understand it, if it is?

MR. GRAHAM:  I don't believe it is there, no.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I would like to refer you to Exhibit A, tab 17, schedule 1.  This material discusses -- I'm at page 10 -- discusses the outcome of Hydro One's stakeholdering sessions regarding the current rate proposal.

MR. GRAHAM:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So, again, it's Exhibit A, tab 17, schedule 1.  I'm looking at page 10 over to page 11.  Whoops.

I'm just going to read this: 

"At the close of the December 17th, 2007 session, stakeholders indicated that they wanted to understand the overall business planning process for asset investment, including the overall prioritization, and how the company determines where the cut-off point is on capital spending.  Hydro One Transmission indicated that it would undertake to address questions about the prioritization process and how and where final asset investment decisions are made as part of its transmission rate filing."

So that was, I guess -- I don't know if you want to call it an undertaking, but that was an outcome of a stakeholdering process; correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, would you agree that, going back to the A -- Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 4, prioritization process evidence, it generally describes the planning process, but does not actually provide specifics as to why higher levels of spending were not viewed as necessary, for example, considering the risks, and to the business values, nor what areas would be reduced or could be reduced with a lower level of overall spending, along with a description of what the associated increase risks were?  That sort of analysis or evidence isn't in there.


MR. GRAHAM:  Well, we don't provide scenarios with respect to alternative plans.  This is a submission that we're making, in terms of looking for recovery from the Board.


I do believe we have described how and where the investment decisions are made.  The process description is in here, in terms of the process we go through, and where, in terms of the levels of management and planners, various things are considered.  It doesn't talk about scenarios of an investment, which is not, as I read it, part of the request.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Let me go out on a limb here and try an analogy.  I might get in trouble for it.  But for me looking at this, the prioritization process is sort of like the rules of a game, like a hockey game, where you've described how the game is played, and you've told us what the final score is, but I have no idea how the game actually went.  I don't know who scored, whether there were penalties, how the result -- how the rules were implemented in the particular process to provide you with the final score.

And I think that is what is missing for me.  You haven't actually shown what happened to get to the result, even though you have described the framework under which you would anticipate that going forward.


Do you understand my analogy?


MR. GRAHAM:  I understand your analogy.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is it an apt one?

MR. GRAHAM:  I don't think so, totally.  I do understand what you're saying, in terms of, you're not with us day by day through the process in understanding what's undertaken, in terms of coming up with these levels.


But my understanding is, the submission is basically to defend the evidence with respect to what we are proposing, and not to talk about the five or six iterations we might have gone through, in terms of levels of expenditure and the various considerations that were looked at in determining that.


MR. BUONAGURO:  I take it from your earlier answers that this is not the snapshot of the lowest -- the minimum spending, the application is not the minimum spending overall.


MR. GRAHAM:  Well, it's not based on -- a minimum level, as it described here, is basically just to keep us out of what we call in Powerlines the red zone, the unacceptable risk level.  Certainly the company is trying in some areas it's deemed important by management to invest a little more to get further benefits for our customers.


MR. BUONAGURO:  But that suggests to me that you know what the minimum spending level would be and that you should be able to tell me what it was.

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I guess, you know --

MR. BUONAGURO:  And then the difference between that and the application would be the layers that you have added on top of that, and then we could ask you questions about how you built those levels of spending up on top of the minimum.

MR. GRAHAM:  We would have minimum levels from the planners.  That's not necessarily what the company would consider the minimum level.


So, I mean, the planners are, you know, taking their best shot with respect to the things that need to be done, but I don't think we could put it forward, here's the corporation's minimum plan.


MR. CURRIE:  The minimum level that Mr. Graham is describing is to keep us in regulatory compliance, to deal with the immediate hazards that we see developing in environmental issues with equipment performance issues, but it doesn't address long-term trends that we see in performance or asset condition assessment.


This plan that we put forward is addressing trends that we're seeing developing in the test-year cases and in supporting us going forward beyond the test-year cases.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Still, the minimum level of spending that you're talking about, from I guess what you call the planner stage, is a starting point.


MR. GRAHAM:  Certainly.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can you provide that starting point for us?


MR. ROGERS:  Not voluntarily, Madam Chair.  This planning process is a very elaborate process.  It's a very detailed process.  It's been described to the Board in considerable detail in the past three or four cases that I've been involved with.  And it's just not something that can be done that way.


Correct me if I'm wrong, but panel 3 can deal with the process, but you can't just produce a document like that.

Now, I also -- I'm sorry, forgive me, I would also like to say that the company did try to respond to intervenor concerns about this area at the stakeholdering by providing a lot more information in this case than previously has been done about this process.


So, no, unless you order me to, I won't undertake to do that.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Maybe before I do that, Mr. Graham, you did describe that the planners identified the sort of spending that would be necessary to ensure you stayed out of the red zone, so those areas of highest risk.


Why is it difficult to identify that amount for us?  Because you have described a process, I take it, that we'll be getting more -- perhaps more information about the process, the iterative process, later, but you have seemed to have described some sort of level of spending that keeps you out of the red zone, but then the identification of these other things that are also considered by the company overall to be, in a total sense, their view of the minimum required.

But you have described this differentiation between the red zone and this other stuff.  So I am struggling with why you can't identify what that number is with some level of accuracy.

MR. GRAHAM:  Perhaps part of the concern is that, without context, it becomes like another plan filing, just a plan at a minimum level, and what does that mean, and what are the implications and so on.  It is a concern just providing numbers.

I mean, fair enough.  I mean, we could go back to the start of the investment planning process and say if we added up the minimum levels from the planners this is what it would be.  But it comes without the information that's in the submission with respect to what does that mean, what is that going to imply, what is that going to mean for the year after the first year and the second year and the third year and the fourth year.

So my concern at least would be in just providing you with a set of numbers and saying, there they are.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, I think you could certainly provide whatever additional explanation you felt was warranted.  But I guess what I'm trying to understand is how difficult it is for you to identify that number.  And I am getting the impression it is not that difficult, although you feel a number of caveats would be appropriate.


MR. GRAHAM:  Well, it would be fair to say that we do have a system, and people input into the system the minimum level 1, level 2.  So I am guessing -- I am only guessing -- that the numbers from that could be provided.

However, there's been repricing since then.  There have been additional circumstances that are dealt with in this plan that may not have been dealt with in terms of those, because those things were put together basically over a year ago, early in 2008.


So of course I have concerns.  I understand the Board may want to see the information, but...

MR. ROGERS:  Can I make a suggestion, Madam Chair?  Can I take it under advisement and see what we can put together to meet the concern?  Panel 3 is really a better-informed panel to deal with this issue, and they're coming, but let me see what I can -- what might be available.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.


MR. MILLAR:  This will be Undertaking J2.7.  And either Mr. Graham or Mr. Rogers, we have spoken about this quite a bit.  Maybe one of you could give me your understanding of what the undertaking is for.


MR. GRAHAM:  My understanding would be that this is to provide the minimum levels going into the planning process, from the planners, and the context such as we may feel necessary to provide some understanding of what those numbers mean.

And I would note that our ability to do that will be limited.  Otherwise, you would see four binders again.  I'm sure that is not what you want.


MS. CHAPLIN:  No.
UNDERTAKING NO. J2.7:  TO PROVIDE THE MINIMUM LEVELS GOING INTO THE PLANNING PROCESS, AS WELL AS ANY CONTEXT NECESSARY TO PROVIDE A BETTER UNDERSTANDING OF THE NUMBERS

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


Next on my list is Mr. Stephenson.  But you wanted to go in the afternoon, or are you ready to go now?


MR. STEPHENSON:  That's fine.  I can -- I can go now.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Cross-examination by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  Panel, my name is Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.  Most of my questions will be on the sustaining capital and OM&A issue.  And I am going to deal with this at a very high level.  I am not going to ask about any particular projects.


In terms of the sustaining capital and OM&A budgets which we know are forecast to increase for '09 and 2010, it seems to me that intuitively there are two basic factors that contribute to those increased budgets.  One is increased level of activity, in the sense of number of projects or amount of work, and the second is increase in per-unit cost, however you measure that.

And can you assist us?  I am assuming that, to a very significant degree, the increased cost is attributable to greater levels of work, rather than increased unit cost.  Am I correct?

MR. REYNOLDS:  Yes.  I would like to provide some explanation.

There are significant cost increases that the company has seen in the past few years relating to materials.  We have all seen the commodity price increases, and certainly the price of copper, many of these materials that are intrinsic to the equipment that we manufacture -- that we purchase.


And also I would like to add, those costs do not show any signs of decreasing.  Despite the economic climate that we're in, we have got every evidence to suggest that those costs are continuing to go up.  There is very large demand throughout the world by companies and countries putting money into their infrastructure.  So that's one very significant increase in costs.

There are a lot of other things the company has done, and I draw your attention to A-14-7.  And you will see in that piece of evidence in section 3 eight areas that the company is -- Hydro One is employing now, and to some extent has done so in previous years, but we are continuously improving these areas to drive our costs down.

I would like to mention a couple of them:  Work bundling, which is particularly important in the sustainment area, where we can collect many areas of work together and do the work in a more efficient manner; and we have spoken earlier today about some of the protection programs.  It's very evident in those programs where we can combine many different types of programs into one and do the work in a more efficient manner.

Another significant one for sustainment is in standardization, and we have developed, once again, in this protection area, which is a strong growth for the installation of distributed generation and the upgrade of our control systems, an item called PCT in a box, which is a modular design for replacing these complicated protection systems and are standardized in a systematic way, instead of doing them on an item-by-item and a component basis.

There is many more that I could go through, but they're all described in A-14-7.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  But just to be clear here, you just gave me an example, in addition to the efficiencies, but you talked about how, for example, commodity and component costs will have -- you are facing increases there, which I would equate to a unit cost increase.

But I just wanted to confirm.  I thought your initial answer was that, to a large degree, the increase in overall cost was due to an increase in the overall level of activity, rather than unit cost.

MR. REYNOLDS:  Absolutely.  I was describing factors that affect our ability to do a given amount of work, as you say, a unit cost.  But the units are going up substantially.  We have substantially larger work programs to accomplish in sustainment and development areas in future years.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Now, I've been cross-examining on this issue for it feels like 15 years, and I always get into a debate with the company about whether there has been under-investment in the past.

And I'm going to get -- go back into that again, but would you agree with me that one factor which affects the level of activity on the sustaining level that you have to do on a go-forward basis is the amount of sustainment work that you did in the past, relatively speaking?  If you did more relatively in the past, you may not have to do quite as much in the future, and vice versa.  Is that directionally accurate?

MR. GRAHAM:  That would be fair.  I'm going to add the caveat that of course you don't want to spend money far in advance of when it is required.

MR. STEPHENSON:  No.  But the nature of sustainment work is that if you don't do it today, it doesn't go away permanently.  It is simply deferred; fair?

MR. GRAHAM:  If there's a need now and you're not able to get to it right away, certainly.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And last time around in this case, I think it was Mr. Penstone that was sitting in one of your chairs, and I put to him a quote from a speech by the then Minister of Energy to the Canadian Club on October 31st, 2006.  This is my cross-examination on April 23rd, 2007.

The Minister said at that time, and I quoted it then:
"As of 2003, our transmission system, the 28,000-kilometre long network that brings power to our cities and factories, was crumbling after years of under-investment."

And at the time, Mr. Penstone wasn't prepared necessarily to agree with that that was an accurate characterization.  But, in any event, I take it you're aware that's what your shareholder felt at the time?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe that is an accurate quote, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I take it that the concern raised by your shareholder is something which affects the company's view of its priorities on a go-forward basis.  That is one factor; is that fair?

MR. GRAHAM:  Certainly that would be the case.  I think -- you know, I can't speak for what the Minister said.  The case we're putting forward in terms of increasing investment and sustainment does reflect what we see as the condition of performance of our assets now, and we do see the need for some additional investment and that is what I am here to talk about.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.

I don't know whether I saw this anywhere in the evidence, and it may not be a number that you have at hand, maybe not at all.  But I appreciate what you said, that the end-of-life measurement isn't necessarily a perfect measurement in terms of replacement of components, but it is a proxy that you use to inform your decision making; correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.  It would be more specific to the age itself.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  We hear about -- in your materials, you've got a number of data about components entering into their end-of-life phase or near end of life.

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Assuming that your application as proposed was approved, and assuming that you actually executed the program that you proposed, at the end of that program would you have more components at their end-of-life period than you have now, or less?

MR. CURRIE:  The demographic pressures that we're facing on the system would indicate that we would have more end-of-life assets.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So even though you are replacing at an accelerated pace, you've got more units reaching end of life than you are replacing.  You can't keep up with this wave of demographics coming towards you on the basis of your current plan?

MR. GRAHAM:  Mr. Stephenson, I am going to disagree with your characterization of "can't keep up".  I think we feel we're doing the appropriate things in terms of assets that do reach end of life.  As the increasing pressures are experienced going forward, we will have to see what we need to do about that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  That's a judgment you made.  But just on the statistical analysis in terms of however you measure your end of life statistics, you've got more -- more going in than you've got coming out on the basis of your current plan?

MR. GRAHAM:  Over the next few years, that's correct, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.

MR. REYNOLDS:  I would just like to add -- I would like to add that the buildup of the assets at Hydro One has not been a linear buildup and that there have been times in our history where the system has expanded significantly and there has been a bell curve of new items being introduced.

And we are reaching the period of time when that event is impacting us.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And I understand this point completely.  As I understand it, there was a huge growth phase in the 1960s and '70s where lots of new components were being added.  Those components, brand new then, are now reaching end of life, and that occurs in a very spiky way due to what happened in the past; correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  It would be fair to say that I think that's fair, and the actual demographics of the company, major components, you probably are aware, are illustrated in the evidence in section D1, tab 3, schedule 2.  I believe it is page 20.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  Now, again, let me just deal with this at a high level.  Obviously one of the impacts of the level of sustainment work that goes on is a reliability on your system, which gets manifested in a variety of ways.  Fair enough?


MR. GRAHAM:  Certainly that's a consideration.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  As I understand it -- well, that assuming your plan was approved by the Board, and assuming you were actually able to execute the plan as proposed, notwithstanding all of that effort, your system reliability risk on the transmission system actually will increase over the next two years, as opposed to staying level or decreasing.  That's accurate, isn't it?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I will let Mr. Currie speak to the details.  I'm not sure that is accurate.  I mean, I think what we tried to do is balance, as I said, all the risk with respect to our plan, so we have invested what we think -- or we are proposing to invest what we think is an appropriate level to maintain our reliability levels, and in fact in some cases look to move them towards corporate targets, which in some cases are better than our current performance.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Mr. Rogers, I'm going to ask to go in camera now.  There is a confidential interrogatory response that I would like to put to the witness, and I think it is appropriate that that be done in camera.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Is that your final area that you are going to be going to?


MR. STEPHENSON:  Actually, I can -- there are a couple of other things I can touch on before I get there, if that makes sense.  It raises from the last answer given, and that's why...

MS. CHAPLIN:  I am just saying, because, given our timing, perhaps we could cover off the rest, and we could come back and do the in camera session first thing after lunch.  That might sort of be easier.  I imagine there is a number of people that might need to leave the room.  I don't know.  Anyway, why don't you proceed and...

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Let me just deal with a couple other issues then.


Let me talk about the -- one of the factors that affects your ability to do a particular level of sustainment work is the level of development work that you are otherwise planning on doing during the same period.  There's some degree of trade-off between your ability to execute on both plans.  Is that fair?


MR. GRAHAM:  I think, while we tried to, you know, meet the key priorities across the Board, there is a fact that we are an integrated company with an integrated work force, and some people are working on either sustainment or development, so that would be a potential impact, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And there's a very fundamental difference between -- in terms of consequences -- between not doing development work at a point in time and not doing sustainment work at a point in time.


MR. GRAHAM:  Well, there are different criteria that lead to the level of priority we're putting on it.  That's fair.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, let's put it this way.  I'm now talking about consequences.  If we talk about a piece of development work, for example connecting either a customer or a generator, if you don't do that piece of development work, there's no connection.  It's pretty simple.  Fair?


MR. GRAHAM:  No connection to which, sorry?


MR. STEPHENSON:  To either the load or to the generator.  If you don't actually undertake the work, the result is tangible and obvious.  There is no connection.  Fair?


MR. GRAHAM:  That's fair.  If it happens to be that type of work, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes, and I'm just using that as an illustrative example.

On the other hand, if you don't do some sustainment work this year, it may be that there isn't an immediate and tangible impact.  Fair?


MR. GRAHAM:  I think that would be fair.  In fact, I think I have already testified to that issue, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And that's just the nature of it, right?  Because what you're doing by nature of sustainment is to improve something that is operating now, which may or may not fail tomorrow or a month from now.


MR. CURRIE:  And also, the system redundancies mask some of the equipment performance problems that we're seeing.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And the mere fact that there isn't a failure, catastrophic or otherwise, again doesn't mean that that work doesn't have to be done.  It may mean simply that it's done later rather than sooner.  Fair?


MR. GRAHAM:  I think that is certainly, in general, fair.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And again, directionally, the cost of doing it in the future, there's no assurance whatsoever that that's going to be any less, and it might well be more by deferring, fair?


MR. GRAHAM:  It certainly could be more, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, let's put it this way.  If a consequence of not doing it this year is that you have -- you have to deal with it on an emergency basis, as opposed to a planned basis, that could easily contribute to increased costs, both direct and indirect, in the sense of the costs it imposes on your customers.

MR. GRAHAM:  I think we have in evidence and testified before that the emergency work is typically more expensive than planned work; that's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And so when Mr. Warren asked you earlier today about cutting the fat out of your sustainment budget because of the current economic climate, I'm going to suggest to you, but that's, from an economic perspective, whatever the immediate benefit there might be from taking that approach, that's not necessarily an economically prudent approach on a long-term basis.


MR. GRAHAM:  I think, per our proposal, we would agree with that.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  I mean, I equate this to the old TV commercial about the guy selling oil filters that says, You can pay me now or you can pay me later.  If you don't replace the oil filter, you're going to be in here with an engine job.


I mean, that analogy applies to sustainment work by definition, almost, doesn't it?


MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, in many cases.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Madam Chair, I am now done what I was going to do.  This little area is a very brief area.  I imagine it's going to be five to ten minutes maximum.  So I am in your hands as to whether you want to deal with it now or later.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Well, let's deal with it now.  If there is anyone who has not signed the undertaking --

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, we do have some intervenors who have not signed the undertaking because they didn't necessarily wish to see that -- that response.  However, I think Mr. Buonaguro at least does wish to stay for this, but I don't think we have copies of the undertaking lying around.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, Mr. Buonaguro, I am content for you to execute that after, or we can get those over the lunch.

Who else has not signed the undertaking and wants to remain?  Okay.  You know what?  I would prefer if these undertakings be executed over the lunch break.  We will come back, we will have our brief in camera session, and then we will proceed on that basis.

So I will give people a little extra time.  We will return in one hour and ten minutes.  Thank you.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:25 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 1:38 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Do we have any preliminary matters before we go in camera?
Procedural Matters:

MR. MILLAR:  I do have one matter, Madam Chair.  It relates to the circulation of the confidential transcripts.


The normal practice is that absent a specific direction from the Board, we do not provide electronic copies of the non-redacted transcript.  The redacted transcript is circulated as normal, but we do not provide copies of the non-redacted version.


If people want those, we produce hard copies and they will be -- I guess we can speak with the court reporter, but once he confirms you have actually signed the undertaking, you can get a hard copy.  So that's the way we would propose to do that, unless there is a stringent objection from any party and the Board can make a determination.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Does anybody have any objection with that?  Okay, we will proceed on that basis.  Okay, so if we are ready, I will turn this off air.

MR. THOMPSON:  Madam Chair, may I just get your direction?  

If others of us have questions about this document, should we ask them now while we're in camera?

MS. CHAPLIN:  That sounds very sensible, Mr. Thompson.

MR. ROGERS:  That's fine.  I agree with that.  The only problem would be if it is a question outside of this panel's knowledge, of course.  We are certainly willing to try it, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Well, we will go in camera now.


Thank you.  Actually, Mr. Millar, could I ask the Staff just to double through an external link that in fact we are off the air?  I know sometimes we have checked through -- and internally it's been off the air, but externally it was not.  So, thank you.

MR. STEPHENSON:  It would sort of defeat the purpose, wouldn't it?

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right, Mr. Stephenson.
Cross-examination by Mr. Stephenson (continued):


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Mr. Rogers, does the panel have Exhibit I-4-2?

MR. ROGERS:  I hope so.

MR. STEPHENSON:  It's the executive summary to the business plan.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I have it at least.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Let me ask a couple of questions about this document.  The document we're looking at is a -- as I understand it, is the executive summary to the 2009-2011 Hydro One business plan dated August 14, 2008.  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  As submitted to the board, that's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  As submitted to the board.  As I understand it, this would have been approved by the board in the form we see it here?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I take it you've seen this document before?

MR. GRAHAM:  I have.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And does this document continue to be an accurate reflection of the Hydro One business plan as of today?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, it does.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  The reason I'm going to ask you about this is I want to come back to the issue of the risk, the reliability risk, on the transmission system for the business planning period.

You recall I asked you some questions about that before the lunch break?

MR. GRAHAM:  I recall.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  If I can just take you, on page 1 of the document, under the heading "Key Highlights", the third bullet point reads as follows.  It says:
"As a result of transmission development requirements and limitations on resources, some sustainment work has been deferred, increasing risks to reliability and customer satisfaction in the short and medium term.  Addressing this risk will be a key focus of the 10-year transmission plan."

Do you see that?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I do.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I'm assuming that when it refers to the short and medium term, it is referring, at a minimum, to the 2009-2011 period; is that fair?

MR. GRAHAM:  I would assume so, certainly to the test years.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And so what I asked you before, was the plan of work in the sustainment area that you were proposing, assuming it was approved as proposed and assuming it was in fact executed, whether that would result in an increase or a decrease to the level of reliability risk on the system, this document appears to indicate the answer to that question is that there will be an increase in the reliability risk; fair?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I think, as I tried to respond to your question earlier, there is a relationship between development sustainment work, and this document clearly sets that out in the way that if there's really major priorities driving one area, we may have short term and medium term, as is set out in this document, implications for another area.


Our goal continues to be to provide reliable service both in the immediate areas, and certainly towards the long term, to achieve the corporate targets.  In the case of this business plan, it is fair to say that the priorities, as we see it, driving development were such that we have to do some short-term deferral of some sustainment work, and that -- I don't know that that will increase unreliability.  It does increase the risk, though, to your point.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair enough.  If I can, not to flog a dead horse, this issue is revisited on page 4 of the document.

Let me just ask you one question before I get there.  The prior business plan, am I correct that would be the business plan for the period of 2007-2009?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, this actually was -- it's done annually, so there was a business plan for 2008 to 2012, as well.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So you see the first -- I am now looking at the last paragraph of the document.  The first sentence reads:
"System reliability risk has increased from the prior business plan."

And so when it refers to the "prior business plan", that is the document you just referred to, I take it, the 2000 -- sorry, what years?

MR. GRAHAM:  Eight to twelve.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Eight to twelve.  So even in the span of one year, they are assuming increased risk; fair?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that would be fair for two reasons.  As is laid out in this submission, there were certain sustainment pieces of work that didn't get done in 2007, which this would have recognized.

And, as well, as you say, the sustainment investment may not have been what we would ideally optimally have looked for, having less pressure, if you will, on the development side.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And then the second sentence of the final paragraph reads:
"Given development requirements and funding and execution constraints, the level of work required to sustain the existing transmission system is achieved beyond the business plan period."

In other words -- first off, you see that?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So it's talking about post-2011; right?

MR. GRAHAM:  Certainly, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And then it goes on to say:
"This risk will be addressed in the ten-year transmission plan."

Stopping there, I take it that's a document which is not yet complete?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, it's still under development.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Just out of interest, what -- is there a target on that?

MR. GRAHAM:  My understanding, but it's -- again, you might be best actually to ask this of Dave Curtis on the next panel, but my understanding is I think April it's targeted for review by the board of directors.  I'm not entirely sure that's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.

In any event, I take it, to your knowledge, we can -- or we can take this assessment as continuing to be the corporation's best assessment of the issue of reliability risk arising from the execution of the plan you are proposing today?

MR. GRAHAM:  Of course things do change, but, generally speaking, I think that's a fair assessment overall of the plan, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Just to conclude here, in that second sentence, as you see, they do indicate the three constraints, or it indicates there are three constraints.

Number one is development requirements.  Do you see that?

MR. GRAHAM:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Number two is funding.  Do you see that?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I do.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And number three is execution constraints.  Do you see that?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So on the development requirements, I take it that is the issue which you and I have explored I think a couple of times now, which is there's some element of trade-off between how much you can get done as between these two bundles of work.  That's what's being talked about there?

MR. GRAHAM:  Largely speaking, that's the drivers we've talked about with respect to development capital and associated work.

MR. STEPHENSON:  The funding issue, I take it that that is essentially the rate impact issue.  Am I right about that?

MR. GRAHAM:  That would be correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And that harkens back to the conversation you had with, I think it was Mr. Warren earlier today, where you said senior management is obviously concerned about rate impact, and that is a constraint upon what we can get approved for any given planning period.

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  That's that issue.  And then the execution-constraints issue I think is -- if I am not mistaken, that's the issue which we have also talked about from time to time, which is about getting qualified suppliers, work-force issues, permitting, outages, all those kinds of issues, that that's what that is being discussed there, right?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.

Mr. Thompson, do you have questions?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I do.  Primarily informational, so let's see how far we can get.

Cross-examination by Mr Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Panel, I represent CME.  My name is Peter Thompson.  We have not met before.


First of all, this document, Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 2, talks about a business plan, 2009 to 2011, which is a three-year plan?  Have I got that straight?


MR. GRAHAM:  Right.  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And you mentioned to Mr. Stephenson, if I heard you correctly, that the prior business plan was for a period 2008 to 2012?


MR. GRAHAM:  Well, the business plan is -- contains to some extent an outlook.  It's not approved by the Board for the five-year period.  So in this parlance that we're used to we think about a five-year outlook, but the approval by the Board is for the three years.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So am I correct then that whoever wrote what is attached to this interrogatory response was working from a document that covered the years 2009 to 2013?


MR. GRAHAM:  That document -- or that information may have been available, but they were working on a three-year approval for the Board.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, is the document, attached to the interrogatory response, a précis of a larger piece of work, or is it all that exists, or do you know?


MR. GRAHAM:  I don't know.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  What, if anything, did any of you folks have to do with the preparation of this document?


MR. GRAHAM:  Well, a significant amount of work -- like, the planning people are in the area that Don and I are in.  We would have integrated -- or put the submission, the basic information, together.  We would have been involved in the integration and the derivation of the final levels.  We would have facilitated senior management's review of the plan.


But we do not -- we're not responsible for what the board approves.  That's a senior-management recommendation of the board.

MR. THOMPSON:  Maybe you misunderstood my question.  Did any of you write this document?


MR. GRAHAM:  I did not.


MR. CURRIE:  I did not.

MR. THOMPSON:  Anybody else on the panel?  Can you tell me who did?  Who would have the responsibility of writing up the recommendation, key highlights, and executive summary?


MR. GRAHAM:  I don't know.


MR. ROGERS:  I don't know.  I don't believe these witnesses would know that, but I think panel 3 probably does.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And do any of these witnesses know from what paper the authors of these documents were working from when they wrote what is attached to Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 2?


MR. GRAHAM:  It's my assumption -- I only assume -- that they would have been working from the information that's compiled through the business planning process that we're here to speak to, and that that information would underlie the preparation of this document.


MR. THOMPSON:  And is that information in the record here today?


MR. GRAHAM:  That's the submission itself.


MR. THOMPSON:  What do you mean, "the submission itself"?


MR. GRAHAM:  The submission lays out the plans that we have put forward.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, are you saying the pre-filed evidence is the basis for this document?  That's something I should direct to the next panel.

MR. GRAHAM:  The pre-filed evidence is a statement of the plan that underlies this business plan.  It reflects very much -- in fact, it is consistent with this business plan.

MR. THOMPSON:  No, I understand that.  But there is apparently a document that covers off three years, and maybe even five.  Is there such a document?  That's all I want to find out.  If you don't know, then I will ask the people that --

MR. GRAHAM:  You might want to ask the process people.  I know there are a number of documents prepared in line with the business plan.  I'm not sure exactly what they would have attached to this document.


MR. THOMPSON:  And is there a difference between a business plan and a budget?


MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, there is in our estimate.

MR. THOMPSON:  What's that difference?


MR. GRAHAM:  Basically, the business plan sets the overall planning framework, the directions, the investments we're going to make.  The budget would look at more detailed resourcing and specific issues, some of the outage issues we talked about and so on.  So the doability aspect gets ingrained in more detail there.  But the budget is consistent with the business plan.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thanks.


Now, in this document on page 1, first paragraph, they talk about the 2009 budget and the 2010/2011 outlook brought forward to the board -- that's the board of directors, I guess -- for approval in November.


MR. GRAHAM:  Mm-hmm.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, are any of you people familiar with those documents?


MR. GRAHAM:  Well, certainly with the budget, because we're each controlled by the budgets that are set for our organizations.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, is there in the record here, in this case, the 2009 budget that was presented to the board of directors?


MR. GRAHAM:  I don't believe it is, as such.


MR. THOMPSON:  Could that be produced?  Have you seen it?


MR. GRAHAM:  I've seen the budget for my division, and I am aware that there is a budget for the corporation.  I do not know that I could tell you that I've seen the budget document for the entire corporation.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the budget, as I understand it, includes both transmission and distribution; is that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, it would be a budget for the company, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, could I ask that a copy of the budget that was presented to the board of directors for approval in November be produced in confidence as an undertaking?


MR. ROGERS:  Well, you can ask.

MR. THOMPSON:  As well as the outlook?

MR. ROGERS:  My friend can ask, but I will object to doing it.  I wasn't aware this was going to come up today.  I need to get some advice about this.

But before we undertake to make confidential documents like this available, I need to take some advice.  Panel 3 can deal with this issue.  And I can certainly let you know my position first thing on Thursday morning.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Thompson, are you content to --

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, that's satisfactory.  If this is the wrong panel, then I'll appreciate the statement of the position at the outset on Thursday, thanks.


Now, there doesn't seem to be anything in this presentation to the board of directors about the economic meltdown or the ability of electricity consumers to absorb the increases that are being talked about in this document.  Can any of you explain why?


MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I guess the first thing to recognize is, this was filed August 14th with the Board and would have been prepared in advance of that, so I'm not sure if there is a timing issue.  There probably is with respect to understanding the significance of the, if you will, the meltdown, to use your word.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.


MR. GRAHAM:  And secondly, I think there's also the importance of the various programs that are put forward to the province, regardless of the economic situation, although I understand that these things need to be considered.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, in relation to the 2009 budget that's referred to in this document, was, to your knowledge, panel - and if you don't know, say so - was the factor of the economic meltdown and the ability of electricity consumers to absorb electricity increases considered as part of the budget presentation that was made in November?


MR. GRAHAM:  I honestly don't know.  I would say the board of directors would be very aware of the situation at the time they reviewed the budget.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you didn't present it to them --

MR. GRAHAM:  No, I did not.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Let me follow up with the other group on that.


And just from a process perspective, if I understand what's happening here, at page -- well, on page 1, the second-last bullet point, it says:

"Based on the plan, a 2009 and 2010 transmission rate application will be filed."

Just stopping there, that's what's before the Board in this case?


MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And it was filed sometime after August the 14th, and the actual application in the filing is dated towards the end of September.


MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then it goes on and it talks about the increases in transmission.  And then it says:

"A combined transmission and distribution application is anticipated for 2011 requesting a rate increase of 10.7 percent for transmission and 16.9 percent for distribution."

Now, just stopping there, do I understand that's going to be a cost of service presentation?

MR. GRAHAM:  I'm not sure what our plans are for filings, but typically if we were coming back to the Board, I'm assuming that for this kind of rate increase it would be a cost of service application, not under an IRM mechanism.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

MR. ROGERS:  Madam Chair, you may recall in my opening statement I addressed this.  This has changed.  The company's present intention is to come back before this Board within, I think, the next 12 months for a transmission -- full cost of service transmission case.


I believe the company has notified the Board that it plans to file a distribution application this summer.

MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry?

MR. ROGERS:  This summer.

MR. THOMPSON:  Cost of service?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  For 2010 are you now talking about, or '11?

MR. ROGERS:  '10 and '11.

MR. THOMPSON:  '10 and '11, okay.

All right.  Those are my information questions.  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  Mr. Crocker, did you have any, or did any other counsel have questions on this particular item for this panel as opposed to the third panel?

MR. CROCKER:  No, I don't.  I'm sorry, I may have misunderstood.  Yes, I have questions of this panel.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I am just speaking as we are remaining in camera.

MR. CROCKER:  No.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Madam Chair, I do have two brief questions on this document, if I may.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. DeVellis, you have had your opportunity.  Are you going to be...

MR. DeVELLIS:  I had understood this document was going to come up in panel 3, so I saved my questions, but since we're on the document now, I thought I would ask them now, but I can wait until panel 3.

MS. CHAPLIN:  If you're going to be brief, then let's go ahead.
Further Cross-Examination by Mr. DeVellis:

MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  The first question is with respect to the completeness of the document.

The interrogatory was to provide a copy of the business plan, and the document that's been provided, it seems to be an executive summary of the business plan.

MR. GRAHAM:  I'm assuming it is a board memo.  It's an assumption, again.  I'm not too sure, but typically the board is provided with a memo for their approval.

MR. DeVELLIS:  If you look at the first page, at the bottom of the first page it says the plan presentation is attached as schedule A.

MR. GRAHAM:  I see that.

MR. DeVELLIS:  There doesn't appear to be a schedule A with this document.  Is it something that can be produced?

MR. ROGERS:  Well, Madam Chair, if I could take that under advisement, as well?  It would be better if these questions had been asked in interrogatories so I could be better informed, but I will undertake to take make enquiries and see, if that is satisfactory to you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.  That would be satisfactory.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.

The other question for you, Mr. Graham, you will recall our discussion this morning with respect to the year-over-year increases in sustainment development operations OM&A?

MR. GRAHAM:  I do.

MR. DeVELLIS:  I asked you if the year-over-year increases or the relative -- the spending increases relative to past years is something that formed part of your planning process, and you said that it did.

MR. GRAHAM:  I said that affordability constraints were something we looked at, which is reflected in this board memo, yes.

MR. DeVELLIS:  That is what my question is going to be.  It doesn't seem to me that those kinds of considerations are reflected in here.  It seems to me that the ability to get the plan approved by this Board is reflected in here, but not in terms of whether your project spending is reasonable or consistent or reasonably proximate, I guess, to past years.

MR. GRAHAM:  I can't speak to the document.  I can tell you for sure that in the process that was considered, that the spending levels that were originally considered were knocked back significantly with respect to the impact on customers.  The rate increase was deferred until the middle of the year on behalf of customers.  So that those considerations were taken account of.

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  Mr. Balogh, do you have questions on this document of this panel?

MR. BALOGH:  I have some prepared questions that deal with --

MR. QUESNELLE:  Your microphone, Mr. Balogh.

MR. BALOGH:  To repeat, I had some prepared questions that deal with the replacement of aging equipment and how they are actually scheduled to be replaced, and where these are contained in the business plans.  Would this be appropriate time to ask?

MS. CHAPLIN:  It sounds to me that those are probably questions that you can ask that don't have to be done in the in camera session, so why don't we hold off on those?

MR. BALOGH:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Millar, did you have any questions on this document?

MR. MILLAR:  No.  Nothing from Staff, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So I think that concludes our in camera session.  

We will go back on the public record now.


In my order of cross-examination, I now have AMPCO.  Mr. Crocker, are you prepared to go ahead?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Crocker:

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I should say that between Mr. Warren and Mr. Buonaguro, most of the territory I wanted to cover has been covered, but I want to go back to a couple of things to clarify.  I will pose my questions to you, Mr. Graham, as everybody else has.

MR. GRAHAM:  One of these days I'm just going to ask somebody else.

MR. CROCKER:  I believe it was Mr. Warren who asked you about your sustaining budget of $197.9 million in 2008 and the actuals of 187.5 million.

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, just to remind me, are we talking OM&A or capital?

MR. CROCKER:  Sustaining OM&A.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.

MR. CROCKER:  I can take you to -- they are at Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 1, table 1, page 2.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I can't remember exactly what you said to -- I believe it was Mr. Warren who asked you about it, as to whether you accomplished all that you wanted with the money that you spent in 2008, or you hadn't accomplished everything?

Account for the difference for me, could you?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, again, the major portion of the difference from the approved, I think, if I remember, in the OM&A, the sustaining OM&A, is the $8.7 million one-time credit from the insurance payment we received, and ex that, I think we're within a couple of million dollars of the sustaining budget, if I recall.

MR. CROCKER:  I didn't recall that being your answer, but all right, if that's your answer --

MR. GRAHAM:  Let me just check something and I will confirm that.

We're talking sustaining, right, OM&A?

MR. CROCKER:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. GRAHAM:  As I have it, the OEB approved a level of 200.1.  The actual was 187.5.  Then we need to add $8.7 million back to that in terms of the one-time credit.  So if we add that number back, I think we get 197.2, or -- 196.2, sorry.  So that's $4 million under budget, $3.9 million under budget.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  For the same sustaining budget for 2009 and 2010, you didn't change from the original to your update; correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Did you not feel that there was anything left unaccomplished that you needed to spend money on?  Did you accomplish what you accomplished, then?

MR. GRAHAM:  I guess we felt that, materially speaking, this was still a fair representation of our requirements.

As I said, we were relatively close to budget in 2008, so we wouldn't see the impact as being that material in terms of having to update the filing and redo the planning exercise.  Of course, we will look at what we need to do to prioritize to maintain spending within the approved levels.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

MR. REYNOLDS:  I could add that when the filing was presented, it was done on the basis of our forecast at that time.  So the things that you are describing would have been in the forecast and, hence, the impacts that they may have had on a future year would have also been considered at that time, and, in fact, were.

It's only a relatively small difference from the forecast that has actually resulted by the end of the year.

MR. CROCKER:  Can I take you, please, to your development OM&A issues?  They are at C1, tab 2, schedule 3.


MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, we have it.


MR. CROCKER:  And can I take you once again to the table, table 1, which is at page 7 of 7.


Now, I'm not going to re-ask the questions that you've already been asked about this, but you agreed, I think, with Mr. Buonaguro that all of the transmission elements of this project -- of these projects may not be done by Hydro One.  There is theoretically, in any event, some competition in this field now.


MR. GRAHAM:  I think what I had agreed with Mr. Buonaguro in is that the Board may determine that some other party would actually take on the project.  This is just a pre-engineering -- the development work.


MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MR. GRAHAM:  At this point it is our intention to go forward with this development work under the current circumstances as we understand them, other than where there was a couple of items where there was a contingency note in the table, and we may find that we no longer need to pursue those.


MR. CROCKER:  And Mr. Buonaguro asked you, and I am going to ask you, do you not think that if the Board approves your pre-engineering for these projects now, that you will have a leg up on your competition, should these projects not be -- be competitive; that is, not be carried out by Hydro One?


MR. GRAHAM:  I don't see it so much as a leg up as we're doing it because we feel it is necessary, in terms of the timing of the work.


With respect to a competitive arrangement, if the Board looked at such, certainly, you know, any work that's been done, I guess, is a factor.  I won't deny that.  But we're doing this because of the timing and urgency.  That's why we're undertaking this work.


MR. CROCKER:  I understand that, and that's generally the answer that you gave Mr. Buonaguro.  But what he didn't ask you and what I'm going to ask you specifically then is to confirm that it would give you a competitive advantage.


MR. GRAHAM:  I guess that's speculative.  I'm not sure how the process is going to work.  We're not doing it for that purpose.  That's really what I have to say on that.


MR. CROCKER:  No, and I wouldn't suspect that you would be.  But having -- the mere fact that you would have done it might give you a competitive advantage.


MR. GRAHAM:  I still see that as speculative.  I mean, honestly, I mean, it's obvious that if we have done some work and others have not done that work, that being in possession of that work is valuable.  I would not disagree with that.


MR. CROCKER:  Can I take you to your operations OM&A?

MR. ROGERS:  I'm sorry, I hesitate to interrupt my friend, but just, there's been a lot of attention paid to this table today.  I just want the Board to understand that these sums that are on this table are -- we're not asking for you to approve them.  They're not in the rates that are being applied for.  These are sums that the company feels it ought to spend in advance, and ask they go into a deferral account to be dealt with later on by the Board.  Presumably, if at that time you felt they were imprudent expenditures, the company would not recover them.

So they're willing to take the risk of these expenditures, because they think -- well, for the reasons he has given you.  So I hope people understand that.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Is this one of those categories, though, where the company is looking for some sort of indication from the Board, supportive?


MR. ROGERS:  Well, I think -- that's a good question.  And I think -- I think, yes, I think, yes, that -- I think that the company is laying this out for everybody to see, and if the Board had a serious concern about some of these -- and I am not asking you to approve them, and I don't -- your hands are not being tied, but if you did have some concern about it, it would be very useful for the company to know that.  They may go ahead and do it anyway, because they've told you they feel they have to do it.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.


MR. CROCKER:  Could I take you, please, Mr. Graham, to the operations OM&A part of this, which is at C1, tab 2, schedule 4, page 4.


MR. GRAHAM:  C1-2-4, page 4?


MR. CROCKER:  Yes.


MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.  Thank you, I've got it.


MR. CROCKER:  You say in paragraph 3 that you expect 60 percent of existing complement are moving into retirement age?


MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.


MR. CROCKER:  That doesn't necessarily mean, does it, that these people will retire.  It's just that they are moving to the point in their combination of years and -- years of service and age that they could retire if they wanted to.


MR. GRAHAM:  Right.  Mr. Stenning, I know, will probably have something to add here, but in general there is a need to remember that we can't just have somebody retire and bring somebody in the next day, that there is a need for training and preparation, particularly here, where operators are particularly NERC-certified, so there is a definite laid-out process for getting them there.

Anyway, Andy, did you want to add to that?

MR. STENNING:  We certainly don't expect that that entire complement of people, that as soon as they reach the ability to retire or cross over a certain threshold that they will retire.  We actually have a model which, you know, looks at past history and estimates the percentage of people that will actually retire.


MR. CROCKER:  Well, that was basically what I was going to ask you.  I understand that you can't wait, that you have to prepare.  I wondered whether you had any statistics or any information which gave you a sense as to how many of that group of people would actually retire, how many of them would continue on?


MR. STENNING:  I think the existing model that we're working on assumes approximately a third of the people that are eligible to retire will retire.


The most recent history gives us the example that retirements are slightly more aggressive than the assumptions, but we update the plan and go through our hiring process based on a yearly update on the model.


MR. CROCKER:  So are you proposing then to hire a third of that 60 percent in response to that model, or how were you proposing to respond to that?


MR. STENNING:  The model basically takes into account the, you know, the number of trainees we have in the system today, the number of trainees that we think we're going to have based on this.


Like, we have -- by the end of this year or during this calendar year, we'll have 40 trainees in the system.


MR. CROCKER:  You're not doing this then to increase your staff complement.  You're doing this to respond to retirement.  That's what you're suggesting?


MR. STENNING:  We're not doing it to increase the approved staff complement.  We are actually at the present time running slightly under-complement.


MR. CROCKER:  All right.  Can I take you farther on in this then to the shared services and other OM&A information, which is at C1, tab 2, schedule 5.

MR. GRAHAM:  Generally speaking, this is not our evidence, but we will try, and we'll see what the questions are.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  If not your evidence, whose evidence?  Thursday's?

MR. GRAHAM:  I can ask my friend.  Shared services is on panel 3?

MR. ROGERS:  Shared services is panel 3, which is Thursday, but if you -- I'm willing to have these witnesses try if you want, but, Madam Chair, that panel is specifically --

MS. CHAPLIN:  Why don't we wait.  If these are specific shared-services questions, let's hold those to the appropriate panel.


MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I have two questions.  Let me take -- actually, I have one question, and one question farther on.


Explain to me the Cornerstone credits, could you?


MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I'll give you just a brief overview, but that is really a panel 3 issue.  The Cornerstone initiative, I think, is under panel 3, I believe.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, it is.


MR. CROCKER:  I can wait.  I am in your hands.

MR. GRAHAM:  I think they would be better able to answer your question, certainly.


MR. CROCKER:  All right.  Can I take you then to C1, tab 2, schedule 12.

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, if that's on property taxes, that's also panel 3.  I wonder if my friends realize that at Exhibit A, tab 20, schedule 1 there is a complete list of the panels and the topics that they're to deal with.


MR. CROCKER:  All right.  I can wait for Thursday for that as well.  I will ask panel 3 on Thursday.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.


MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I don't have any further questions.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Crocker.

Mr. Thompson, I believe you are next.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

Yes, panel, I will try not to replough any ground that's been covered already, but I am correct, I hope, that what we're talking about in your evidence is the capital budget with respect to sustaining -- sustainment capital and operations capital?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's in our evidence, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then OM&A budget with respect to three components, sustainment, development and operations?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Just in terms of the summary picture of the capital piece for those two items that you are responsible for, as well as development capital, we find that, I believe, in Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 1; is that correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's a summary, yes, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then for the OM&A summary for the three topics that you're talking about, sustainment, development and operations, we find that and another OM&A topic in Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 1?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Am I right?  Okay.  In each of those documents, in each of those pre-filed evidentiary pieces, the first paragraph describes the budgeting process, as I characterize it.  Mr. Warren drew your attention to this this morning.  It says "the proposed OM&A expenditures".  This is in C1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 1.  The phrase in D1, tab 3, schedule 1 is "the proposed capital expenditures", but then the text goes on.  It is identical in each case, "result from a rigorous business planning and work prioritization process."

You are familiar with that evidence and you adopt it?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  I am aware that process is part of panel 3, but can I take it that each member of this panel is aware of the budget process, because they are, in fact, engaged in it?

MR. GRAHAM:  Certainly true for, I believe, all of us.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I will follow up this in a little more detail later, but in Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 1, there are sort of some milestones in the process.

This is at page 2.  I don't think you need to turn it up.  It's likely second-hand to you.  But it talks about, in January 2008, strategic direction and goals established by senior management.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I see that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, do you folks participate in that exercise, or does someone else do that?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I think we would have input to that.  That's not something we would be directly making the presentation on, but in terms of the strategic directions, those are kind of tested through the company.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Then the next milestone is "Business plan instructions issued".

Do you folks issue business plan instructions or do you receive them?

MR. GRAHAM:  Generally we receive them.  To some extent, the business plan instructions are created in the unit that I'm part of, but that I am not directly responsible for.

MR. THOMPSON:  Generally speaking, from whom do you receive the business plan instructions?

MR. GRAHAM:  Specifically in our case, for the sustainment development operations programs we're talking about here, they would come from what's called the business integration unit in asset management.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Is that an executive that issues that or executive committee, or something a little lower down?

MR. GRAHAM:  It's typically -- I'm reaching here.  It's approved by senior management, but it is issued, I think, probably - I'm guessing - by the director of business integration.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then the process says, "February 2008, investment proposals developed".

Now, is that something you people engage in?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then the next step, "Investment plan prioritized and selected", is that something you people engage?

MR. GRAHAM:  We're certainly part of that process, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then the next is "Executive committee review of business plans with lines of business."  Is that something that you take up to another level, your group takes up?

MR. GRAHAM:  Typically the people that we work with, yes, do take that up.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Then that results in something going to the board of directors of Hydro One in August 2008, and I assume it's the document we were discussing off the record?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

So when the evidence describes a rigorous business planning process, can you help me with what that means?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think I can.  The business planning process, as this indicates, starts with instructions, so they're based on the strategic direction, as well as the pricing issues, and so on, that need to be addressed.


The investment proposal development is a very intensive effort in terms of going right across the company and taking a look at the investment plans we need to put in place.  The various planners are responsible for putting that information together.  They would come up with, as we talked with Mr. Buonaguro -- about the minimum level 1, level 2 kind of possible funding levels.

These would be put together and prioritized through the model and senior management would review them.

So -- and this is -- there's a number of discussions and iterations occurring through this period.  As you can see, it's quite a few months.

MR. THOMPSON:  Let me just ask you a couple of questions about a rigorous business planning process.

To be rigorous, does the planning process, in your view, need to be compatible with and responsive to emerging trends?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that would be fair to say.

MR. THOMPSON:  When I say "emerging trends", I'm including emerging trends with respect to assumptions on which a budget is based.  Would you agree that if the assumptions emerge materially differently than was presumed for the initial stages here, that the plan should react to that?

MR. GRAHAM:  I would say it is always a matter of timing, but, yes, certainly major changes should be adapted to as quickly as possible.

MR. THOMPSON:  And actual expenditures, if the actual expenditures prior to the planning year emerged materially different than what was assumed, the initial planning process to be rigorous, would you agree the process should respond to those emerging trends?

MR. GRAHAM:  I agree the process should take account of that.

As you are probably aware, we did under spend in 2007 and 2008, and that would have been a consideration.  And to some extent, because of redirection of resources because of the priorities that are laid out in the evidence, that would have, in a way, looked at additional work needing to be done in 2009 and 2010.  So that's a consideration that I think the board and the management would take account of, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  To be rigorous, would you agree that the planning process would need to be able or should be able to respond to material changes in the ability of the customer base to pay rate increases?  Is that something that is part and parcel of the rigorous planning process that this company follows?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, it certainly is part of what particularly, as I mentioned before, management and senior management take a look at with respect to the impact on our customers of the rates that we're looking at that would derive under the business plan.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, then let's just move forward from that, if we might, into a couple of more specific areas.

Again, if you can't answer this, say so, but in the Exhibit A document I was referring to, Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2, I think in appendix A --

MR. GRAHAM:  Schedule 2?

MR. THOMPSON:  There are a number of assumptions that are part of the exercise.  I hope I've got this right here.

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, just if I can check, were you referring to schedule 2?

MR. THOMPSON:  Am I referring to schedule 2?  I made a note and I think I am, but just a moment.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think it may be it may be appendix A of schedule 1, Mr. Thompson.  There is a document there.

MR. THOMPSON:  Appendix A, sorry, of A-14-1.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, we have it.

MR. THOMPSON:  There's 2009 business plan assumptions, and then we see, for example, the CPI Ontario for '09 and '10 was assumed to be 2.3 percent and 2.0 percent, some other numbers in years following, and that was apparently based on CPI Ontario and U.S. cost escalator forecasts, based on the Global Insight December 2007 forecast.  Do you see that?


MR. GRAHAM:  I do.


MR. THOMPSON:  And what does the 2008 forecast say for these numbers?  Do we know?


MR. GRAHAM:  I don't know.  I'm not the witness with respect to economics, so...

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, in any event, that didn't come back down to you?  Someone didn't say, Look at these inflation numbers based on 2008 and see if that adjusts the budgets.  That didn't happen in your case?


MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I think I would point out that, as I've mentioned before, senior management and the Board do take a look at the submitted plans, the plans that are submitted to them in the light of customer impact, and that they did make some adjustments to reduce the plans to reflect the impact on customers.  I'm assuming that at the time -- which is again -- we're talking about the July time frame, generally speaking, June/July -- they would have known what they did at that point in time.  Things may have got worse since.  They always have the option of directing the organization to do further redirection if necessary to achieve lower levels.


At this point I think that we've made the determination that the plans we put forward need to go forward, and that they are supportive of what the province is trying to do, and we feel it's still an appropriate submission.


MR. THOMPSON:  My question is really much more specific, sir.  These blue sheets were updated in February of 2009.


MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And they are reflecting changes in actual numbers, actual expenditures, in 2008.


MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, they do.


MR. THOMPSON:  And presumably that kind of thing would come down from on high to you, saying, These changes have occurred.  Factor them into our plans for 2009 and 2010.  Did that happen?


MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I think it would be fair to say that when the Board and management look at the actual results, they would consider whether there needs to be any redirection of the company due to them.

The major change -- the largest change, I should say, that occurred was an increase in expenditures in the development capital.  They did not come back and tell us that because of that increase we should adjust the plan, because I think they felt that it was still leaving all the proposals as requiring continued expenditure.

So again, I'm surmising when I say this, because I wasn't part of senior management, but I know they look at those results.


MR. THOMPSON:  But I'm talking about, did anything come from senior management to you instructing you to look at these changes and, if appropriate, factor them into our '09 and '10 budget?  I take you to be saying, No, nothing came to me.


MR. GRAHAM:  Specifically what came to us was that -- and in my case I can speak to it, because of the rate-filing exposure.  I mean, the senior management had considered the 2008 actuals and considered that the impact on our filing was such that we would leave it alone.

MR. THOMPSON:  How would they be able to do that without input from you?


MR. GRAHAM:  I think they're knowledgeable business people, and they're probably more knowledgeable about the impact on customers than I am.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, inflation, did anything come down from on high about the inflation forecasts for '09 and '10, '11, and '12 and '13 being quite different, based on the December 2008 Global Insight forecast?


MR. REYNOLDS:  I'm afraid I also can't be specific, but I can tell you that a number of times each year all of these figures are provided to all lines of business, with the company's best forecasts for the future.  And for instance, our estimate is that people that initially derive the costs for the various projects and programs are given updated figures.  And I'm not sure if it is at a regular interval, but it happens a number of times a year.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, do you know sitting there today what the CPI forecast for 2009 is now, based on Global Insight December 2008 forecast?


MR. REYNOLDS:  I do not.


MR. THOMPSON:  Does anybody know that?


MR. GRAHAM:  No, we do not.  I think it would be something that my friend on my right could maybe add to.  But with respect to prices, as we've mentioned before, the CPI is an indicator, certainly, of Ontario inflation.  It's not necessarily an indicator of the prices we're seeing, in terms of the equipment and things we have to buy to get our programs delivered.


MR. REYNOLDS:  Sorry, yes, I didn't fully understand where you were going with this.  Indeed, the indices that are shared within Hydro to, as I say, the groups that estimate costs are divided into many different groups.

We discussed earlier the increases in materials, and they're very specific to particular types of materials and equipment.  Indices of escalation for all of these things are provided.  So it's not -- it certainly doesn't follow the CPI set of numbers.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the CPI is represented as being an important assumption to the 2009 business plan.  In any event, you don't know what it is based on the updated information.

MR. GRAHAM:  No, we don't.

MR. THOMPSON:  And so the budgets were not changed to reflect any emerging trend in that inflation, assuming it is materially different now.


MR. GRAHAM:  No process that I'm aware of did that, yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And in terms of the economic meltdown and its impact on the manufacturing in Ontario, for an example, did anything come down to you folks from on high saying, Re-look at this rates claim in the context of the economic turmoil that Ontarians are faced with?


MR. GRAHAM:  Again, no specific communication, to answer your question.  However, again, it is something that is generally considered by management on an ongoing basis.

So I would assume that the judgment has been made, and it's fair to say, certainly in light of 2008, as you asked earlier, that they did do that review and made the determination that it was still appropriate to go forward with these plans.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Let's turn to just a few numbers here to see the extent to which this budget has responded to trends.


And let's -- to start with capital first.  So that would take us to Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 1, please.  And if you go to -- I hope you have your white sheets there, as well as your blue sheets, because this illustrates the point I'm trying to make.


And just before I do that, internally, does Hydro One have any benchmarks as to what constitutes a material change in O&M expenditures or capital expenditures?  In other words, if you spend more -- a million dollars more than budgeted or a million dollars less, is that significant, based on some rules, internal rules?


MR. GRAHAM:  I will let Mr. Reynolds add to what I'm going to say.  But with respect to the projects and programs we put forward for approval, if there is a variance beyond a certain criteria, then that has to be reviewed by senior management or various levels of management, depending on the severity of the variance.

MR. THOMPSON:  And what is the -- is it a dollar-amount criteria on capital?

MR. REYNOLDS:  For major capital projects, the -- we have a process to deal with variances that requires $500,000 variance and 10 percent, those two factors.


MR. THOMPSON:  And what is it on O&M?


MR. REYNOLDS:  For --

MR. THOMPSON:  The variance that triggers a need for examination.


MR. REYNOLDS:  To my knowledge, there is no equivalent.  For O&M, there's monthly reviews of trends and of work accomplishments.  And those things are adjusted on an ongoing basis, as opposed to a one-time approval for some increased funding.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So if we look at the white sheets in table 3, for example, and looking at operations capital --

MR. ROGERS:  Sorry?


MR. THOMPSON:  So this is Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 1, page 6, table 3.

MR. STENNING:  Can you repeat that?

MR. THOMPSON:  "D" as in "dog", D1, tab 3, schedule 1, page 6, table 3.  Is the witness panel with me?

MR. REYNOLDS:  Yes, we have that.

MR. THOMPSON:  It is entitled "2008 Board-Approved Versus 2008 Projected Capital".  There's a column entitled "Bridge Year", which I understand to be the estimate of the amount you were expecting to spend when the white sheets were filed; is that correct?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  That was some time in August/September time frame the white sheets were prepared?

MR. GRAHAM:  Right.

MR. THOMPSON:  So you were expecting to spend $30.2 million in operations in 2008, as of August of 2008?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, to be fair, the August is when the Board approves it.  It is typically based on the projections as of the end of May actuals, because of the process that needs to be taken forward to get it to the August board meeting.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So May is -- May of 2008 is the timing of the $30 million number?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  If you go back to page 2 of this document, you were, am I right -- am I reading this right that you were budgeting 18.2 million in 2009?

MR. GRAHAM:  18.2 million is the submission for 2009; that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then you have -- if you go back to table 3 in the blue sheets, you have actual expenditures of $23.1 million; in other words, $7 million less in 2008 than you originally anticipated?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  That has no impact on what's happening in 2009?

MR. GRAHAM:  I will let Mr. Stenning talk to the detail with respect to operations capital.

MR. STENNING:  I think that one of the big -- one of the big projects that affects operating capital, and it is probably -- you know, you can see it in more detail in Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 4, but the -- under the title of "Grid Operations Control Facilities", you can see that we originally forecast to spend $21.1 million.  We did come out and spend $16.8 million.

So you can see there's almost a $5 million shift there.  One of the biggest projects affecting that is our NMS upgrade.  As has been explained in one of the interrogatories, it's an extremely complex project that the -- it was originally proposed to go forward in 2007, and that's why you see some of the capital shifts between 2007 and 2008.

The cyber security requirements that came into place at the end of 2006 increased the scope of that project, which delayed its initial release and start, and so some of the -- you know, it's an extremely complex project, and so the ability to forecast the exact spend on that project at the time that we did it in May.  So there's a difference in terms of the overall accomplishment in that particular area.

So that's probably the biggest one single component in terms of the differences in spend between what we forecast in May and what our actuals were at the end of 2008.

MR. GRAHAM:  I think it would be fair to say, Mr. -- sorry, I've forgotten your name.  Mr. Robinson?

MR. THOMPSON:  Thompson.

MR. GRAHAM:  Thompson, I'm sorry.  My mistake.

MR. ROGERS:  A very big mistake.

MR. GRAHAM:  I know, ten lashes.

MR. THOMPSON:  It might be a stupid question, so go to something else.

MR. GRAHAM:  Definitely things change as we go forward.  So there is no question what we have provided to the Board here is not exactly what we would say is our actual plan now as it was in August.

We have made an assessment that the changes that have occurred in 2008 are not substantive in terms of the overall filing being representative of what we need to spend.

So there are some areas, for example, we talked about -- I mentioned fencing earlier on where we're going to have to spend some money in 2009.  It's not reflected as an increase to 2009 in this filing.  We're just going to go ahead and spend the money to get it done.


So those things are there.  There will be perhaps some reprioritization.  We think this is a fair representation of our filing overall.

MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Well, that's all very broad brush.  I mean, we go through these numbers and where we have what appears to be a material reduction in spending, this area, it has no impact on a go-forward basis.

I'm sure you will say that about every line, which, to me, is not demonstrating a rigorous process.  It's demonstrating a rigid process.  You just don't change anything.  Is that the way it works, whatever happens?

MR. GRAHAM:  All I can say again is that we do give it serious consideration with respect to the impact, and, in this case, it's been determined that it's not sufficiently material to make a change.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let's look at the OM&A again, just again to illustrate this phenomenon.  And that takes us back, I think, to Exhibit C1.  That's Charlie 1, tab 2, schedule 1.

Just before I launch into these comparison questions, I couldn't find anything in the evidence telling me that 2009 versus 2008 was a significantly abnormal year, or that 2010 versus 2009 had abnormalities, but is that what you're telling us here today on the stand?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think what we're trying to tell the Board is that there are a lot of requirements that the company needs to fulfil, and certainly they're leading to increased expenditures.  What's abnormal, what's not -- what is normal is a matter of definition.  We certainly understand that there is significant spending here that the Board needs to examine carefully.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But if we're comparing 2009 over 2008 versus 2010 over 2009, are each of those years of comparable -- or are they comparable in terms of the normality?

MR. GRAHAM:  Again, I don't think this is a matter of normality or abnormality.  The reason we've put forward an increased spending for 2009 that is a larger increase over 2008 than the increase in 2010 over 2009 is that there's a need from the assets for that work.

So that that's what we've established.  We've established a new base line in 2009, and it does go up further in 2010, but not as much.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let's just --

MR. REYNOLDS:  Sorry, could I add a comment, that in fact if you look between the years 2006 to 2007, there was an increase of about $27 million in sustainment OM&A.

So it's not that it's going down each year.  We have shown significant increases in prior years.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let's just take a couple of examples here.  Let's go to table 3.  This is C1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 5.  Just take the sustaining O&M.  These are the white sheet projections.  So this would be May of 2008.

You are expecting to spend $197.9 million at that point?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And can I take it that assumed the credit you --

MR. GRAHAM:  That did not assume the credit.  The credit came along later.

MR. THOMPSON:  So you didn't expect the credit?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the credit was what, again, sorry?

MR. GRAHAM:  $8.7 million

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But then I -- I will have to adjust for the credit, but if you go to the test year budget, that was driving a budget -- that level of expenditure expectation was driving a budget of 226.5 in 2009, if I'm not mistaken?  I'm looking at table 1 to get that number.

MR. GRAHAM:  226.5 for 2009 is the submission; that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And 240.1 in 2010?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

MR. CURRIE:  The largest increase that is represented in that is from the station sustainment area.  If you turn to Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2, on page 2, you can see that it's the station's budget driving the increase for maintenance.  And primarily, that's driven from the performance we're seeing from the assets and the asset condition assessments that we're getting.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I just want to look at these global numbers for a moment.  And I take your point there is further detail in schedule 2 that we should look at; is that right?


MR. CURRIE:  Yes, and it's broken down further in the evidence as well in later pages.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  I understand that, but to my mind, we had a 197.9 sustaining budget that was driving -- sorry, sustaining anticipated expenditures, which we have to adjust by some $8 million to bring it down to, let's say 191, and then your actuals come in at $4 million lower, at 187.5 --

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, first off, an adjustment of $8.7 million would take it down to nearly 189, take it down to 189.2.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, whatever.  So it goes to 187.5, but there's no change to the budget that is driving that number -- sorry, upon which that number relies.

MR. GRAHAM:  So the variance that we're talking about then is somewhere in the order of $1.7 million, I believe.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.


MR. GRAHAM:  I don't want to trivialize things for the Board, but that's a pretty small percentage of the total we're talking about here, in terms of materiality to manage.

MR. THOMPSON:  You say 500,000 is something that you're supposed to take a sharp look at.

MR. GRAHAM:  On the individual projects, yes.

MR. CURRIE:  I think what is the dominant factor here is the actual condition of the assets, the large portion of assets that are moving through mid-life refurbishment area and that are in the end-of-life region, they're driving up the sustainment OM&A budgets, specifically in stations.

So we're responding to those pressures, and they're quite large.  So I think that is one of the reasons why the budget is not materially impacted by some small underage in 2008.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let's go to the other two, development and operations, where we don't have this credit issue.  The initial presentation, the budget, as I understand it, is 13.9 million, and that was being prompted by a $10 million expenditure in development OM&A in May?

MR. GRAHAM:  The projection would have been $10 million; that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  I got that from table 3, Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 1, table 3.

You then have an $800,000 reduction, which is 8 percent, but no change in the test-year requirement.


MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then we go to operations, where initially you had a $50 million expenditure, anticipated expenditure, in May, 50.1 million.  And that was driving a need for $52.3 in the test year -- million, right?


MR. GRAHAM:  It's fair to say that the programs year to year rely on what's done the previous year, in terms of the base.  It's also fair to say that what's here, in terms of the submission for 2009 and '10, is a balance of many considerations, including, as we've talked about before, affordability and doability.

So in one sense, if we had underspent our projection, you might be inferring that we should have increased the budget for 2009 and '10, but we don't see that as appropriate, given the affordability constraints.  We feel it is something the company can manage.  We're managing a portfolio here of -- I forget the total number, but it's probably in the order of 1.4-billion for 2009.  And so we manage these things.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I am just trying to demonstrate the impact here.  So you -- and operations is a good example, where your anticipated -- what you are looking for was a $2.2 million increase above your expected 2008 expenditures of $50.1 million.

When your expected expenditures come in at almost $5 million less, you are now looking for 7 million, over and above your expected expenditures.  This is not demonstrating rigour.  This is demonstrating rigidity.


MR. GRAHAM:  Well, in some senses the under-expenditure, depending -- it depends what it is, but in some senses it would say there is additional work that perhaps needs to be accomplished in 2009.  And what we're saying is, we're going to manage that work within the filing we had made already.


So I'm not saying that is uniform, but that is certainly a consideration at times.  And effectively, I think we're demonstrating some flexibility.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I will argue that.  Let me move on, in terms of one other point I wanted to make on this rigidity issue.  And I don't -- I think it is in your filings under "correspondence", but hopefully you have a copy of a letter -- if I can put my hands on it...


The company wrote to the Board on January the 16th.  This is filed, and this is with respect to Hydro One's willingness or lack thereof to even discuss a reduction in capital in OM&A expenditures.  Do you --

MR. GRAHAM:  I'm sorry, do you have a reference, so I could find the letter?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, well, it's January 16th, 2009, and it was sent by Ms. Frank to all intervenors of record and to the Board, and there is a tab in your A-filing dealing with correspondence.  Let me just get it.  I think it must be there.


MR. MILLAR:  I have a copy I can share with the panel, if -- but I only have one extra.


MR. ROGERS:  I don't have it.  Do we need it, Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  Probably.  Here, I will give it to you.


MR. MILLAR:  Does the Board Panel have a copy of the letter?


MS. CHAPLIN:  I don't think we do.


MR. MILLAR:  I will just -- I will lend you mine.


[Mr. Millar passes document to Ms. Chaplin]


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thanks.


MR. THOMPSON:  This letter was written in the context of engaging in some discussions about Hydro One's OM&A budget amounts and the capital budget amounts.


And there is a sentence in there to the effect -- I don't have the letter in front of me.  You now have my copy.  But --

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry.  I apologize.

MR. THOMPSON:  It's okay.  It says something to the effect that Hydro One will not commit to any changes to either OM&A or capital-expenditure budget amounts.  Do you see that?


MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I do.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, is that Hydro One's attitude, as you folks sit here today?  That you won't commit to any change?  I mean, are you that confident in these numbers?

MR. GRAHAM:  I will start, and I can see my friend leaning forward.  I think, with respect to that statement, that's a statement with respect to this particular situation, reviewed, I'm assuming -- the senior management's reviewed the 2008 actuals, taken a look at the filing, and determined that it is not necessary to adjust the filing for those results or for any other changes, and as such we're saying in this case we don't want to make changes to the filing we put in front of the Board.


That's not to say that we would always not make changes.  It is to say that in this circumstance we do not think it is appropriate.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what I wanted to ask you in that context was this:  Let's assume the Board agrees with intervenors that some change is warranted.  And just leaving aside the quantum of the change and that, what I wanted to ask you folks -- and maybe it is not for this panel, but it's for the next panel -- how would you prefer a finding to the effect of a need for adjustment to be expressed?  As an envelope amount, or some specific line-item criticism?


MR. GRAHAM:  I don't think that is for me.


MR. THOMPSON:  I assume that it is for the next gang?


MR. ROGERS:  Well, it's really for this Board to decide, Mr. Thompson.  And, you know, this letter was written and states the company's position, which we're going to talk about in the final argument.  So you can ask the next panel, but I just don't know that they're in any position to answer it either.


I think I can say this, though, that if the Board feels that some of these proposed expenditures are inappropriate, I think -- I will correct this if I am wrong, but my belief is the company would like some direction from you as to where you do think they are inappropriate, rather than just a blanket cut, an arbitrary cut.


If I am incorrect in that belief, I will let you know.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I will probably take a shot at it on the next panel, too, but let's move on.

Just in terms of making sure that I understand some of the interrogatory responses here with respect to impacts of what I would call an envelope disallowance, and two exhibits that I wanted to draw your attention to, panel.  One is Exhibit I, tab 2, schedule 18.  That's an interrogatory response from -- sorry, to questions posed by Mr. Aiken.

Do I read this correctly -- this is I-2, schedule 18.  At the bottom of the page, what you are responding to, I believe, is a 10 percent reduction in the amounts that have been budgeted for 2009 and 2010.

If I go over to the next page, the revenue requirement impact of that in 2009 is about $5 million, and for 2010 about $15 million?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think, based on some average assumptions, that's what this says, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then the other one I wanted to understand is a response to School Energy Coalition, and that's -- I think it is School's.  Maybe it isn't.  Maybe it is VECC.  Let me just check.

What did I do with that one?

Yes, sorry.  It's Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 28.  What this is talking about, and I'm looking at the second page, is if the 2009 and 2010 in-service additions were 15 percent lower than projected, the revenue requirement in 2009 would be lower by 5.1 million and revenue requirement in 2010 would be lower by $18.2 million.

Is that the same thing as a 15 percent reduction in the capital budget or is it something a little different?

MR. GRAHAM:  I'm speculating here, because I didn't answer those.  The first one said it was based on assuming that all of the reduction went in service in those years.  This one is saying reduction to the in-service additions, and, of course, because of the multi-year nature of some projects, not necessarily everything goes in service in the year that it is spent.  So I'm assuming that is the reason for the difference.

MR. THOMPSON:  One was 10 percent and one is 15.


MR. GRAHAM:  This is 15 percent on, I think, in-service additions, and the other was 10 percent on expenditures.  The assumption I think further was outlined if you assume that all of the expenditure reduction is affecting the in-service in that year.

MR. THOMPSON:  So they're two different scenarios, are they?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe so.  Again, I'm just looking at the answers and reading them and seeing what I see.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Was that not for this panel?  Sorry, did I -- I thought one of them was.

MR. ROGERS:  If I might just help, panel 3 I think would be better equipped to answer your question, probably.  I think you probably have the right answer, but panel 3 can elaborate.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, my last question is with respect to what's reasonable for an O&M increase on an envelope basis.

What you are proposing, as I understand it, 2010 over 2009, is a 3 percent increase in total O&M?

MR. GRAHAM:  It looks like it is about 14-1/2 million.  I will take your 3 percent.

MR. THOMPSON:  I thought you said that somewhere.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, you are right, we do, right beneath that.  Yes, I see that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But on 2009 over 2008, it is substantially greater in percentage terms?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, if 3 percent is good enough for '10 over 2009, I guess my question is:  Why isn't it good enough for 2009 over 2008 as a measure of reasonableness?

MR. GRAHAM:  I will try as a general answer and perhaps my friends might want to add some specifics, but it is not so much that it is 3 percent.  It is based on the work and the affordability criteria.  So we felt we could effectively discharge our responsibilities for the level of 449.7.

For the 435.2 that's proposed for 2009, that's total OM&A, or if you adds SD&O, those are representative of the drivers that are there in the assets in terms of delivering our mandated requirements.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I think I would be arguing if I went any further.  So thank you very much.  Those are my questions, panel.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  I think we will take our afternoon break now, and we will return --

MR. STEPHENSON:  Sorry, Madam Chair, just before we take the break, because I was hoping to leave, I was wondering if I could just ask one thing.  This is in relation to the in camera evidence that we had earlier today.

I wonder if we could -- if I could ask my friend, Mr. Rogers, to report back to us on Thursday, after having reviewed the transcript, as to whether or not it remains his position that that is appropriately in camera.


It seems to me that the presumption should be that to the extent that this can be made public, it should be made public.  It may well be that having read the evidence, that Mr. Rogers is satisfied that most or all of it need not be in camera.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, Madam Chair, I would be glad to do that, to review it and let you know.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  All right, we will break now for 20 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 3:06 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:26 p.m.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.


Mr. Faye, I believe you are next.


MR. FAYE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-examination by Mr. Faye:


MR. FAYE:  Panel, my name is Peter Faye.  I am counsel for Energy Probe.  I'm going to cover in a little bit more detail some of the major areas that have already been discussed with you at a higher level.


And I prepared a bit of an examination brief, simply because it's a little complicated trying to juggle eight exhibits at the same time, and we have to go back and forth to get the sense.  But the entire thrust of my cross-examination is driven by a couple of Energy Probe interrogatories.


And the first one is Interrogatory 14.  That would be Exhibit I, tab 8, schedule 14.  I didn't copy that.  That's not part of the brief package I gave you.  But if you would like to turn that up.  Do you have that okay?


This IR was looking for an explanation on the increased maintenance and, to some extent, the increased sustained capital expenditures, and the fact that they're increasing, that you have been through this with Mr. Thompson at the last cross-examination.


And I just want to dig a little bit deeper into it.  The statement that I am referring to is at the top of our IR, and it's made in the evidence at C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 14.  Line 23 says:

"An increasing number of power equipment assets, such as power transformers and circuit-breakers, are entering their mid-life and end-of-life regions."

And I think you have probably mentioned this on a couple of occasions today, that that is the foundation for your sustaining capital and sustaining OM&A increases.  Is that a fair statement?


MR. CURRIE:  The mid-life and the end-of-life regions are more an indication of long-term trends that we're seeing.  Those are the areas where we are anticipating that more work has to be done, but it's not the same as specifically selecting an asset for mid-life refurbishment.  If it's in the mid-life region, it is a candidate, but we would select it on specific test requirements and expectations that we could preserve its asset life.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.

MR. CURRIE:  And similarly, with the end-of-life region, it is not immediately declared end-of-life.  It would be based on its performance and its detailed asset condition assessment.


MR. FAYE:  But the general conclusion I've tried to draw there, that the more assets that enter mid-life to end-of-life, the more you need to spend on OM&A and on the replacement capital.  Is that fair?


MR. CURRIE:  In the long-term, that's a correct assumption, that the more assets we have entering those regions, the more work we -- the more candidates we potentially could have.  But nothing in the test year, test years 9 and 10, are specifically programmed, just being in that region.  There's other detailed factors that are driving these investment decisions.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Could you just look at our examination brief, page 1.  The page numbers are referenced in the upper right-hand corner.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Faye, I don't think that has an exhibit number yet, so I propose to give it one.

MR. FAYE:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  I believe the Panel has copies.  We will call that Exhibit K2.3.  It is Energy Probe's cross-examination brief.


MR. FAYE:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  ENERGY PROBE'S CROSS-EXAMINATION BRIEF

MR. FAYE:  Looking at line 15 -- I'll read it into the record:

"The increased sustaining OM&A expenditures are required to meet the increased maintenance and refurbishment requirements of the large number of assets that enter their mid-life to end-of-life regions in the 2009 to 2010 period."

The way I understand that is that, you know, the literal meaning of it is that you need more money to maintain assets that are entering mid-life to end-of-life periods.


MR. GRAHAM:  I think, Mr. Faye, that perhaps the evidence is a little simplistic here.  It is certainly indicating that that is something that we can put forward as a marker with respect to the expectation, as Mr. Currie has spoken about, that more will need to be done because of the age of these assets.

However, as Mr. Currie has noted, we really do look at the specific situation with respect to the assets' performance condition, et cetera, before we make the decision to make major investments.


MR. FAYE:  Let's move on through my questions, and if I need to come back to this subject I will.


If we look at our page 2 of the document brief, starting at line -- page 23 -- or line 23 on that page -- this is, for the record, Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 14.


And there at line 23 I read:

"An increasing number of power-equipment assets, such as power transformers and circuit-breakers, are entering their mid-life and end-of-life region.  Mid-life represents the point in an asset's life cycle where the reliability of the equipment begins to deteriorate and OM&A costs begin to escalate."

So stopping at that point, can I understand that to mean that, as assets move into the mid-life point, the expectation is that you will have to do more maintenance and possibly refurbishment on them to keep them in working order?


MR. CURRIE:  I'm going to try and distinguish again between the mid-life region and the actual mid-life refurbishment candidates that have been selected.  The mid-life region is actually defined fairly broadly as 25 to 75 percent of the expected asset lifespan.


So in actuality, to suggest -- or to select a candidate for mid-life refurbishment, we're looking at detailed assessments and performance of those assets to determine that we're going to spend money on it, and we also have to be sure that the injection of money that we do put into it for mid-life refurbishment, that the asset can exist for a number of years beyond it, typically ten to 15 years.


So the expectation is in the long-term trend, having more assets in the mid-life region, that we will have more candidates to select from.  So that's a marker of a trend of where we see it going.


MR. GRAHAM:  So I think, Mr. Faye, your statement is probably fair, in terms of the expectation being there, but we do confirm that before we make the investment decisions.

MR. FAYE:  Oh, yes, I'm not trying to suggest that you just look at the age and then take things out of service and start repairing them.  No, my point is that your selection criteria is, first you get to mid-life, and then we'll start looking at you as a candidate as to whether you need any work.  You don't look at early life.

MR. GRAHAM:  Unless there's particular circumstances like poor performance or poor condition that arises before then, we would track before then, but typically, no.


MR. FAYE:  That's fair.


And finishing off that paragraph, at line 27:

"End-of-life represents a point where reliability deteriorates, and is no longer economical to repair or refurbish the asset."

Is it fair to conclude from that statement that this is the population from which you draw candidates for replacement?


MR. CURRIE:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. FAYE:  As opposed to the mid-life candidates, from which you draw candidates for refurbishment and maintenance.

MR. CURRIE:  To clarify, when we decide to put mid-life refurbishment money into an asset, we have to be sure that the asset is sound enough to maintain a normal lifespan.

So we're not going to inject a mid-life refurbishment unless our assessments are that we can spend this money and bring the asset back up to a performance level we desire, and then the asset can continue.


So we're careful about that, and -- but generally speaking, you are correct.  In the end-of-life region we are going to have candidates there for replacement.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Good.  If you would flip the page now to our Exhibit No. 3.  In the original evidence this is in colour and a little easier to see, but I don't think it is that difficult to distinguish the two bars -- or the two sections of each histogram here.

The bottom section, the darker colour of each of these bars, is the mid-life candidates; is that right?


MR. GRAHAM:  That's what the graph shows; that's correct.


MR. FAYE:  And the upper section, the lighter-grey section on the copy at least, would be the end-of-life region?


MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Just concentrating for a moment on the mid-life, if I am reading this right, that line from 2007 to 2010 looks flat; is that right?


MR. CURRIE:  I think there might be some small increase, but it maybe is not material.


MR. FAYE:  Yes.  Hard to distinguish, at least, on the graph.  It looks to be around the 500-units level.


MR. CURRIE:  Right.


MR. FAYE:  And so is it fair for me to conclude that the number of transformers in the mid-life region in 2007, 2008, 2009, and 2010 are more or less the same?

MR. CURRIE:  Well, what we're considering mid-life region, again - I'm going to try to draw the distinction between what we actually program for work - we have I think 500 candidates.  That's still pretty substantial number of transformers that we're going to program.

Based on what we're seeing, if we're seeing the need to do mid-life refurbishment, we have 500 potential candidates to look, by this analysis, and if we confirm that with specific asset condition assessment and performance analysis, then we would have a candidate selected and we would do that work.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  Perhaps another way of saying what Mr. Currie is saying is that the expenditures aren't driven from the mid-life population, per se.  That's an indicator, but we would look at the specific circumstances with respect to the individual components in terms of what actually needs to have money spent on it.

MR. FAYE:  Let me just be clear that I understand what you said there.  Have you just said that the OM&A cost of maintaining power transformers is not necessarily related to the number of transformers in the mid-life region?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, it would be related, but the number -- for example, refurbishment is a major OM&A cost versus the ongoing maintenance that is required.  So the number that's needed to be refurbished is driven by our assessment of the actual condition, performance, et cetera, of the asset.  So the mid-life region, to our discussion earlier on age, it just indicates this is a population where you would expect it more likely that they're going to need mid-life refurbishment.

Certainly, as Mr. Currie indicated, over a period of time they're going to require it, but in terms of what we do in any particular year, we're looking at the actual condition of the asset itself, its performance and so on.

MR. FAYE:  Would I be able to find in the evidence that finer tuning of this 500 transformers?

MR. CURRIE:  Yes.  Actually, we have an interrogatory response that details the number of mid-life transformer refurbishments, and we're on that topic.

If you look at Exhibit I-6-28, section B, we actually show the number of mid-life refurbishments that we're planning to do, and they're a substantially smaller number than the 500 or so we would indicate in the mid-life region.

MR. ROGERS:  Just slow down a second, Mr. Currie.

MR. CURRIE:  I'm sorry.

MR. ROGERS:  Let us get the exhibit.  It is I-6-28?

MR. CURRIE:  I-6-28.  I apologize.

MR. ROGERS:  Part B?

MR. CURRIE:  Part B.

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.

MR. CURRIE:  I will try to slow down.  What I am trying to indicate here is even though we have a number, a sizeable number, in the mid-life refurbishment area shown in figure 1 of C1-2-2, we're only selecting, in nine and ten, eight or six units to have mid-life refurbishment on.

MR. FAYE:  Yes, I understand that.  Thank you.

My point is that you have previously said, in the first two exhibits I referred you to in our brief, that an increasing number of power equipment assets, such as power transformers and circuit breakers, are entering the mid-life and end-of-life regions.

But when I look at it, I don't see that happening.  I see 500 in 2007 and each of the following years.  There are no more than 500.

So how can more be entering it and not show on this graph?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think simplistically - and I will have to remember the interrogatory response you were showing us earlier, the Energy Probe interrogatory - the statement itself says there is an increasing population entering mid-life and end of life, and we indicated, I believe, that in this circumstance the primary increase was in the end-of-life component part of that.  I think we did say that in the response to the interrogatory.

MR. FAYE:  That's fair.  Yes, you did.

Okay.  So we both agree now that the level of mid-life transformers is not increasing?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think, as you pointed out in the graph and as Mr. Currie has stated, it is basically similar.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Can we flip now to page 4 of our brief?  This is circuit breakers.  And looking again at the darker portion of the graph at the bottom, it appears to me there's a little more fluctuation here, but it is actually down, not up.  It appears to me that this is a fairly level line, too.


There are no more circuit breakers entering mid-life than there were in 2007 and 2008; is that fair?

MR. CURRIE:  Yes, as the graph describes, that is correct.

But I think, to clarify, the graph -- because the definition of mid-life region has been so broadly defined, and we're trying to give you an indication of the long-term trends for these activities, it kind of masks what the actual pressures are.

If I take a narrow snapshot, for instance, if I take instead of -- if I take breakers from 20 to 30 years, we see the population growing from 16 percent in 2008 up to 21 percent in 2013.  That's not in the evidence.  That is part of more what a typical mid-life refurbishment for our circuit breaker would be.

MR. FAYE:  If you can give me that reference again, how many breakers and what age categories?

MR. CURRIE:  Between the ages of -- if I assume typically a circuit breaker -- I know the circuit breaker range can be 40 to 65 years, depending on the type of circuit breaker.

If I look narrowly at a narrow range, 20 to 30 years, I see the pressures in that area grow from 16 percent to nearly 21 percent.

So I think if there's any deficiency in the tables of the material we've shown, it's that we tried to show there is a broad range of candidates we can select from, but by doing that, we've kind of de-emphasized where the pressure points would be.

So I have access to demographic data that you don't have, and in that demographic data I'm seeing trending upwards, especially at the typical -- more typical ranges one would expect to do a mid-life refurbishment.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So my interpretation of your graph here, that because no more circuit breakers or transformers than you ever had seem to be entering mid-life, that's not enough granularity you're saying?  You're saying you have to look within that 500 transformers or that 2,400 breakers, and you will find the distribution in there is --

MR. CURRIE:  Well, specifically, I mean, anything with programming for mid-life refurbishment is based on, if you will, the facts on the ground, the performance of the assets, the asset condition assessment, other tests that we're running on these assets, and that's where we're determining and that's how we're making the decisions to spend mid-life refurbishment money.

So in the graph, we're not necessarily -- we're showing you that we have a wide range of candidates.  We're trying to show you the indication of long-term trends, but specifically we're programming by what we're seeing.

We are prudently putting in the correct amount of money based on the actual results and performance of equipment.

MR. GRAHAM:  I think it would be fair to say, Mr. Faye, your statement is correct with respect to there are more factors than are demonstrated in this graph that go into making the decision to invest.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So the statements in here that you have made, just the number that are entering this mid-life, that's not a correct statement.  It's the characteristics of the individual machines that are entering that life?

MR. GRAHAM:  I would characterize it more as just it's an indicator.  So it is fair enough as an indicator, but it's obviously not enough to understand the decision.  I think that is fair to say.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So it can't be used as an indicator of why your OM&A would be increasing, either?

MR. CURRIE:  It is an indicator for the long-term trend.  It is an indication of what is going on in the test years, and it will be an indication of where we see things going beyond the test years.

MR. FAYE:  Well, I'm still a little puzzled, because the evidence here says that nothing's changing, and yet the OM&A costs are changing.  So when you say "trend", what's your long-term trend period?  What should I say is the long-term, in your view?

MR. CURRIE:  From the analysis that I've done, the long-term trend on end-of-life replacements is we're going to face continued pressure to replace assets, and that's not going to disappear any time soon.

In terms of mid-life refurbishment, what I've seen in the brief analysis that I've personally done is the mid-life pressures will continue to build, and we might see some small decrease after ten years, but those pressures will re-arise again.  And, again, it's basically as those assets are aging and the demographic profiles that we do have, this is what we can see simplistically arising from a trend.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, I won't belabour this, but I wonder if you would give me an undertaking to provide data that is meaningful for backing up your OM&A, then.  Tell me how many breakers, in which age categories within the 500 or -- sorry, transformers, and of the about 2,400 breakers, which age distribution within that category is the one that's causing you problems.

MR. CURRIE:  In the test years, we've programmed nothing based on age.  Age is a long-term indicator for us.  It's all based on asset condition assessment and performance.

MR. GRAHAM:  I think, Mr. Faye, perhaps it would be helpful, although I'm not sure -- you may be aware of this.  If you look at Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 2, which is the capital, there is more precise information with respect to the age distribution of the circuit breaker and transformer assets on page 10 and page 20.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  That's where I can derive this conclusion that those are the assets that are causing you to have --

MR. GRAHAM:  Again, as Mr. Currie has indicated, the age is not the primary factor, but if you're looking for a more precise breakdown by age, this gives you a better idea of where the peaks and valleys are.

MR. FAYE:  I'm looking for a more precise breakdown of meaningful data.  What I have here doesn't appear to be meaningful.  I can't draw any conclusions based on this histogram.


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, Madam Chair, can I just interrupt and observe -- and it may help.  I don't know.  I hope so -- at this exhibit, Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 28, which I think was what we started this discussion with, I will ask the witnesses to look at that answer, because it looks to me like there are breakdowns of this equipment by year in some detail.

And maybe I misunderstand these tables that are provided, but isn't this the kind of information that Mr. Faye is looking for?

MR. CURRIE:  The actual number of mid-life refurbishments for transformers is presented in I-6-28.  We see an increase in the number of units.  In 2008 we did four mid-life refurbishment areas, '09 we're planning eight, and then planning six in '10.


MR. GRAHAM:  I think further, perhaps, Mr. Rogers is pointing out that Part C indicates some indication of breaker maintenance requirements, and there is other data in the interrogatory response.


MR. CURRIE:  In terms of what?  Yes, those other tables refer to planned maintenance activities and replacement activities.

If you want specific details of what is driving refurbishment detail or decision, I can point you to I-1-30.  Specifically on page 2, there's a table that shows, for instance, power transformer remediations.  In terms of the reliability, we're analysing the failure histories of specific classes of transformers, and we're identifying specific failure modes.


In terms of condition assessments, we run a suite of tests that can tell us that -- what's going on inside the transformer.  We will do a condition assessment visually of the transformer.  And we're trying to assess if mid-life refurbishment is appropriate.  Those are the factors that we're going into doing that with.  I don't know if that would be helpful for you as well.


MR. FAYE:  I will take a look at that, thanks, and make argument on it.


Can I move then to the other category of transformers and breakers that are on these graphs, and that's the end-of-life.


Now, I think I asked you, and I think you agreed with me, that the source of candidates for end-of-life replacement are the ones that appear in this upper part of each of these bars.  You don't ordinarily get them out of the mid-life group.  You ordinarily get your replacement candidates from the end-of-life group, right?


MR. GRAHAM:  I believe that's fair.


MR. FAYE:  Yes, okay.  If we look at our page 3 -- again, this is the transformer graph -- there is an increasing number of end-of-life transformers.  It seems to range from about 710 up to about 750, so a 40-unit increase across those four years.  Is that approximately right, do you think?


MR. CURRIE:  I believe we've answered an interrogatory response specifically on that and clarified that, and I would rather redirect to there, if I can find it.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Sure.


MR. CURRIE:  I know it's here.  I don't know if I can find it for you.

Just based on the graph, I mean, I think you're looking -- at the first year you're looking at about 15, you're looking at perhaps another 15 entering that region, and perhaps another ten, based on the numbers you have there.


And again, I would draw the distinction between the actual end-of-life region, which is quite broad, and how we're selecting candidates, because we're not selecting 200 candidates for replacement.  We are looking within there for specific conditions and specific performance reasons.


MR. FAYE:  Yes, I understand that.  I believe you said previously that your end-of-life region starts at 75 percent of normal retirement age?


MR. CURRIE:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  And you would agree that the band that you're working within there is a narrower band than your mid-life band.

MR. CURRIE:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. FAYE:  Then I will just ask you to take, subject to check --

MR. ROGERS:  I'm sorry to interrupt.  I wonder, the interrogatory you're referring to, Mr. Currie, is it Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 55?


MR. CURRIE:  Yes, that's correct.  That's the one I was trying to find.  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  Can you help Mr. Faye, or have you exhausted your ability to do so on this topic?  Have a look at this and see if you can answer Mr. Faye's concern, or at least explain to us how it helps address the question.


MR. CURRIE:  Okay.  Section I, the bar chart is cumulative.  Specifically, we're referring to figure 6, the power transformer.  21 transformers enter the end-of-life region in 2008, another 16 in 2009, and another seven in 2010 by those broad definitions.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I was only trying to get to a simple approach here, percent increase, and I make this to be about a 19 percent -- make it 20 if you like.  Round numbers are okay.  From 2007 to 2010 I make it about 20 percent increase in the number of transformers in the end-of-life category between 2007 and 2010.  Would you take that, subject to check?


MR. CURRIE:  It's not material to how we're making our decisions for the end-of-life replacement, so I...

MR. ROGERS:  But is the number right?


MR. CURRIE:  Yes.  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Okay.


MR. FAYE:  All right.  If you'd flip over then to page 4.  The same pattern repeats itself in circuit-breakers.  And again, I will just ask you, subject to check, it looks to me like the top of the bar on 2007 is around 3,500 on the graph, and the top of the bar on 2010 is around 3,900.

And if my calculation is correct, that's about a 36 percent increase in the number of units entering end-of-life.  Take that, subject to check?


MR. CURRIE:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Now we can move to what may be a lot more interesting discussion here.  When I look at our page 7 of the examination brief, this table 2 is your stations OM&A.  And I believe you referred Mr. Thompson to this in his cross-examination.  And we are finding that from 2007 to 2010 there's about a 20 -- sorry, a $13 million increase in maintenance on power equipment.


And power equipment I think you've defined as circuit-breakers, power transformers, and maybe some associated smaller equipment.  But generally, that increase looks to be out of proportion to the increase in the number of assets that we just examined that you are choosing to refurbish.

I'm just wondering, should there not be a correlation between the size of the pool of assets and the amount of money you have to spend to maintain them?

MR. CURRIE:  I think the answer simplistically is "no", because the assets are not all the same size or capability.  And I think that the trend line for power equipment is perhaps a little distorted, because we spent more in 2007.  We had larger expenditures in 2007, specifically on 750 of the auto transformers.


MR. FAYE:  You spent more in 2007 on 750 MVA autos?

MR. CURRIE:  Remediation activities.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  All right.  Then I think I have your answer there.  I won't belabour that.

Looking then at our page 8.  And this one is a little bit more difficult to discern, but I hope I have come up with a way of simplifying it.


This is the capital for stations.  At first glance, it looks like I could just look at the circuit breakers and the power transformers, look at the 2007 expenditure and the 2010 expenditure and make some conclusions, but I understand from previous cross-examination that I also have to look at this station reinvestment category, that not all circuit breakers are in circuit breakers and not all transformers are in transformers.  Have I got that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think what you've done here, Mr. Faye, is add the first three lines together, and to some extent that is fair in terms of how things are done.

MR. FAYE:  Fairer than taking each category on its own merits?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think there are things that go back and forth, depending on whether we're doing a whole station or just an individual component, for example.

MR. CURRIE:  That shown in evidence.  We actually clarify the relationship between the circuit breaker station reinvestment and power transformers on D1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 6.  Lines 8 to 20 give the relationship.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Looking, then, at my subtotals -- and they may be a little hard to read.  I will clarify them.  I have added up the first three columns in 2007 and I get 68.2 million; in 2008, I get 123.4 million; in 2009, 127.7; and in 2010, 127.1.

And that's the capital.  If I understand it right, that's the capital needed to address your end-of-life major power equipment problem?

MR. GRAHAM:  I can confirm, having done that myself, that those are the right figures.

MR. FAYE:  Would you also agree with my statement that that's the money that addresses the end-of-life situation with major power equipment?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that would be a fair categorization of the major driver, if not the total, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  If I look at the increase between 2007 and 2010, I get about 59 percent increase, but I don't get that percentage when I look at the end-of-life graphs for breakers and power transformers.  I get a much lower percentage.

Would you care to comment on what seems to me to be an inconsistency?  The cost is going up, but the numbers aren't following it.


MR. CURRIE:  That's because the assets that we're replacing of different sizes, different capabilities and different costs.

MR. GRAHAM:  Mr. Faye -- and I may misunderstand, and Mr. Currie can correct me if I'm wrong again.  As we tried to explain earlier, the actual drivers of the investment are not strictly the population.  It's the assessments with respect to their condition and performance.

So because of your point that it is not perhaps as clear as it should be here, you can't simplistically draw the correlation, as you called it, between the population and the expenditures and say that they should lock in or march in lockstep.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I think I appreciate that distinction.  I would ask you, though:  Has the population deteriorated so much since 2007 that you have this very distinctly different cost structure than you did back then?  It's only been three years.  How could the population have changed that much?

MR. CURRIE:  Our current plans take into account the actual asset performance, the asset condition assessments, and our plans reflect that.

If anything, the three sums of those ones are lower in 2010 because we have a major project ending in that year, Claireville TS, which is described in the evidence.

MR. FAYE:  I'm not sure I am following you.  Are you saying that the dollar amounts are lower?

MR. CURRIE:  For instance, in system reinvestment in 2010, you see a drop in 2010.  If you are thinking that it is flat, it's because the Claireville investment is coming to an end in that year.

MR. FAYE:  That would, I think -- I think you are one step ahead of me, but I am happy to jump there.

You are looking at the fact that from 2008 to 2010 on my subtotals, it's flat.  There is no increase.  And yet the end-of-life graphs would suggest that the number of units that you have to deal with is increasing, and that was going to be another question.

If there's more and more of these end-of-life units that need to be addressed, why is the capital expenditure the same?

MR. CURRIE:  Well, I think in 2009, the big issue in terms of the corporation's prioritization is that we've prioritized to spend less in certain sustainment areas and more in certain development areas.  I think you will see that in 2009.


And I think, in 2010 we're seeing major projects, such as Claireville, come to an end, and, as a result of the complexity of those station reinvestment projects, there will be more coming in future years as we're responding to the asset needs there.  Certainly that is related to the end-of-life region.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Then I will just ask you one more question on that subject and we will move on.

It sounds to me like you have some discretion here when you do these projects.  You can pick and choose amongst the end-of-life candidates and decide which ones need to be done this year and which ones can be postponed?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think -- go ahead.

MR. CURRIE:  We're going to say the same thing.  As Mr. Graham said earlier, we're prioritizing based on risk.  We're prioritizing on what we're seeing in terms of the asset condition and performance.  We have some ability to prioritize based on risk.

MR. GRAHAM:  I think it would be fair to say that there's a difference in drivers between one investment and another.  Some may be absolutely urgent.  For example, we experienced an issue at our Richview station with respect to the cap banks, and that needed to be done right away, because we have a NERC, NPCC reliability issue.


Other areas might be more judgmental, to use your point, but are certainly needed to be done within a relatively short period of time in terms of the risk of outages to customers and so on.

So there are some things that are -- like, have to do right now.  There are some things that are, Well, we can do that in the next couple of years.  There may be some things that need to be done in the next five years, but looking forward to the population, we say we need to get at that job now; just to make it manageable, it needs to be done over five years.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, I think I got the answer I wanted to get, but I will just clarify it so it is on the record.

I think what I am hearing is that there is some discretion.  If the Board chose to ask you to lower your capital investment, you have some, some discretion in these categories here on end-of-life replacement?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, I guess it would be fair to say in the short term that reductions can be made, and this is my point, but just to finish, that does come at the cost, as Mr. Stephenson mentioned earlier, of investments needing to be made later and perhaps at greater cost.

MR. CURRIE:  And I think in the short term, when the investments are made, we're going to see increases in corrective maintenance, which we have been seeing in the past, and that will show up in the OM&A side for the station sustainment.


If we're not making end-of-life replacements and we're forcing assets to go beyond what we would like them to be, then we're going to see higher costs to maintain and keep them in the system at the desired reliability level.

So it's not exactly a neutral thing, discretion capital.  We will probably see increases in costs in OM&A that we won't have any discretion on, because things will happen and we will have to respond to them.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Let's leave that, and I am going to ask you to go to another IR that I didn't give you any schedules on.  This is IR 20 from Energy Probe, Exhibit I, tab 8, schedule 20.

MR. GRAHAM:  We have it.

MR. FAYE:  This one asked you a question about your health index results for power transformers and for airblast breakers, and we pointed out that according to the evidence filed in Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 1, attachment A, the assessment of transformers appeared to mostly fall into the "good" and "very good" condition categories.

Then we looked at the increase in OM&A for that category and we thought, Well, if the report on page 10 says that normal inspection and maintenance is all that is required for transformers in the "good" and "very good" category, and if most of your transformers fall into the "good" and "very good" category, why would you have to increase your OM&A costs?

MR. CURRIE:  I think that -- I think in the evidence it states that the health index is only one part of the decision-making process that we're using; the health index, along with performance.  Other detailed asset conditions is being used to drive the investments.

I can give examples of where the health index directly tracks the replacements, and I can give examples where more analysis is being required.

Specifically more analysis is being required for power transformers, much more complicated devices.  The health index may or may not report everything that we want.  So we bring in other factors to make sure our decisions are prudent and reasonable.

MR. FAYE:  Well, I am not sure that that is really a really satisfactory answer.  I mean, first I've heard that your end-of-life and mid-life evidence doesn't really tell the whole story.  And now the health index, which supposedly is going to tell us what condition these assets are in, that doesn't tell the whole story either.

Is there more evidence, in your submission, where I should look for the rest of the story?


MR. CURRIE:  Well, I think I've -- as we've stated, that we're seeing deteriorating performance trends for our assets, specifically in transformers and breakers.  I believe there is an interrogatory response on that.


In terms of every project that we have, the major one for power transformers or circuit-breakers or system reinvestment, there is an S-document that clearly documents all the factors that went into making those decisions.  That's file filed in evidence too.

So the story is more complex than just one single number or one single area.  We have to go through a whole range of decision-making and analysis.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I would like to turn you now to, I think, mercifully, my last set of questions.  And this is our IR 21.  So it is Exhibit I, tab 8, schedule 21.


This is on the subject of replacing your oil circuit-breakers, and I have a couple of general questions that would help me understand the program.


You say they're technically obsolete.  Does that imply that they're not working very good?


MR. CURRIE:  In some cases there are actual performance problems being illustrated, but generally "technical obsoletes" means that we're seeing two primary issues, that we're having design capabilities, and the intended functionality no longer matched today's requirements.


Another big driver for technical obsolescence is that the original manufacturer cannot deliver replacement parts to us.  They're not available from the original manufacturer.  And the parts, when they are available, if they are available, are available at a higher cost and perhaps with a different quality.


So the original manufacturers in some cases have actually said they will no longer provide support for these products, which means that, you know, we -- going forward, it would become more expensive to maintain these assets.


MR. FAYE:  It sounds like there is an after-market for these transformers like there is for cars.  Is that so?


MR. CURRIE:  Well, specifically, I thought we were talking about breakers.


MR. FAYE:  Sorry, breakers.  Breakers.


MR. GRAHAM:  Just to your point, basically, what Hydro One's been doing for quite a while is remanufacturing, reusing parts from OCB, so we have been able to maintain the fleet, but we're reaching the point at which that is no longer viable in many cases.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So it is really two issues.  One is, it doesn't sort of synchronize and fit with the modernization of the rest of your system.  Did I hear that correctly?  These old breakers don't sort of fit with the expectations of performance of the new equipment?


MR. CURRIE:  Yes.  The newer breaker and SF-6 breaker would be better able to handle switching duties that are required in certain areas.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And the second reason is, it's hard to get spare parts to fix them when they do break?


MR. CURRIE:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And let me ask you, of the many types of breakers that might be covered under this category, how many are low-voltage breakers?  Or have I got -- is that a stupid question?


MR. CURRIE:  No, I just don't have that answer at my fingertips.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  But the population of breakers includes the ones that we normally think of, in terms of transmission:  Bank breakers, bus breakers...

MR. CURRIE:  Right.


MR. FAYE:  But it also includes feeder breakers.  Am I right?

MR. CURRIE:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  And those are low-voltage feeder breakers.  And there will be many more of those than there would be of bank breakers and bus-tie breakers?


MR. CURRIE:  I'm not sure of the actual demographics.  That sounds about right to me.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And so what I'm wondering about is the criticality of replacing feeder breakers, or have I misunderstood again, and you're not replacing feeder breakers, you are just replacing the high-voltage components?


MR. CURRIE:  Well, again, we're making decisions to be prudent.  We're making decisions to mitigate.  I think that our focus -- I know our focus on that has been the 115 and 230 kV circuit-breakers for oil.  We have concerns about the volume of oil they contain.  We're concerned about some of the environmental issues going forward, dealing with those breakers.  So I think that has been our focus, to deal with the criticality.

If we have performance issues or short-circuit issues, a lot of the issues with these oil circuit-breakers are relating to short-circuit.  We are replacing breakers because the short-circuit capability of the existing OCB no longer matches the requirements, because of the distributed generation that's being added to the system.  So we are making the best picks we can in certain areas to mitigate the risks that we are seeing.

MR. FAYE:  So when you're -- you are back to the Leaside TS discussion that went on the other day, that the short-circuit availability, once you have a lot of generation feeding into your system, is too much for the equipment that has to carry that short-circuit in the event of default; is that right?


MR. CURRIE:  Well, for specific examples in OCB, yes, that is taking place.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And that is mainly confined to areas of fairly large short-circuit availability in the first place, like Toronto.


MR. CURRIE:  I don't have the volume.  I would say, no, it would imply anyplace that distributed generation is being added to the system.  We have the potential to have short-circuit mismatches between the equipment capabilities and what the system can deliver.


MR. FAYE:  So we're even talking about places remote from the 500 and 230 kV system?


MR. GRAHAM:  In fact, I think, generally speaking -- and I leave it to Mr. Currie to correct me on the technical details, but that is where we're seeing generation across the province in many, many cases well away from the 115 and 230 bulk system.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And you're saying that the feeder breakers that are vulnerable are the 44 kV breakers then?  Is that what I'm hearing you saying?  You're feeding this generation into the low-voltage bus.

MR. CURRIE:  We're making selections based on the criteria that we're seeing, based on many factors.  The technical obsolescence is a driving reason for the strategy to replace OCBs.  Our initial programming in the test years is based on environmental concerns with the high-voltage breakers.

We will look for performance issues.  We'll look for short-circuit ratings. We will make the best picks that mitigate the risks that we're seeing within the broad umbrella of the strategy.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thanks for that.  I won't belabour what is essentially a techie argument.

One last question:  In the replacement of your oil circuit-breakers you've mentioned in the evidence that you're going to use SF-6 insulated breakers.


And I would like to refer you just to an interrogatory from VECC that you referred us to in our IR 20, and that would be Exhibit I, tab 6, schedule 51.


On page 2 of that response to VECC, there's a listing of your health-index parameters on various pieces of equipment, and I wonder if you could just comment on the rather poor condition of your SF-6 breakers, according to this chart.  This would be down the left-hand side, fourth or fifth category.  And looking across, 8.6 percent of them are in the 50 to 70 range, 14 in the 70 to 85, and 77 in the 85 to 100.

And I wonder if you would comment on the wisdom of replacing long-standing oil circuit-breakers with SF-6 breakers that don't appear to be standing the test of time.

MR. CURRIE:  Well, what I can tell you is that there are specific generations of SF-6 breakers that have been introduced on our system.  Specifically, we introduced the first generation SF-6 breakers in the late 1960s.  Its technology was not as good as today's technology.  We've moved to a much simpler single-pressure design from the original double-pressure design.

So the kind of SF-6 breaker that we're seeing performance degradation in is related to the older population, where there is design problems.  So the current modern SF-6 breaker is far superior to anything that we put in in previous times in the past, I think.

MR. FAYE:  And do you have some of those modern ones on your system from which you are drawing this conclusion?  The experience, I mean?

MR. CURRIE:  Yes, we do have them.

MR. FAYE:  And how old would your modern SF-6 breakers be?

MR. CURRIE:  Well, I believe, according to my notes here, that this single-pressure design circuit-breaker has been the choice for transmission-class switch gear over the last 30 years.  So I would take that from my notes, and I don't know the demographics well enough to definitively say that we have been using the single-pressure design for quite some time.

MR. FAYE:  And so you have about 30 years of performance history that gives you confidence in them.  Is that what you're saying?


MR. CURRIE:  Yes.


MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thanks.  That's all my questions, Madam Chair.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Faye.

Mr. Andrew, I believe you are next on our list.

MR. ANDREW:  Thank you.  Our issues have been canvassed and I don't have any questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Mr. Balogh, are you ready to go with your questions?

MR. BALOGH:  Good afternoon, and...

MS. CHAPLIN:  Do you have your microphone on?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Balogh:

MR. BALOGH:  It seems like I will cover some of the same grounds that Mr. Faye did, but from a different perspective.  A lot of the items were covered in general terms, and I would like to deal with specifics.

I will begin by saying that because of an August 16th decision with reasons, the Board gave Hydro One directions to develop format and data reflecting asset conditions.  They complied with this by hiring Hatch International Limited.  Some of the data Mr. Faye referred to, and I would like to revisit this.

In the same study, which they presented last fall to Hydro One, they analyzed the equipment and they came up with what they referred to a health index of the equipment.  They were ranging from very good to very poor.


To use the example of a power transformer, there were 640 transformers that were examined.  If you look at the paragraph on page 10 of this report, we notice that out of the 640, 495 was categorized as being very good condition.

MR. ROGERS:  Can I just interrupt to say this is in Exhibit D1, tab 2 --

MR. BALOGH:  It's D1, tab 2, section 1, attachment.

MR. GRAHAM:  This is the Hatch 2008 --

MR. BALOGH:  Yes, exactly.

MR. ROGERS:  So people can have it.  What page are you reading these numbers from, please?

MR. BALOGH:  I'm reading a paragraph.

MR. ROGERS:  What page?

MR. BALOGH:  That would be...

MR. GRAHAM:  Page 10, Mr. Balogh.

MR. BALOGH:  To repeat, out of the 640 transformers they studied, 495 were in very good condition and 90 of them were good condition.

If I did my arithmetic right, that means that 93 percent of the transformers they examined in such way, they were in very fine condition.  There appears to be a slight contradiction between figure 1 that Mr. Faye referred to, where it showed on figure 1 that almost - I'm just roughing -- using rough estimates, 60 percent of them are approaching end of life.

According to -- if you accept Hatch's figures from the report, notice that only 7 percent of these transformers need to be replaced on a more or less urgent basis.  Am I correct in that?

MR. CURRIE:  The evidence we have presented is correct, but the inference that the health index or the end-of-life region are the driving factors in the replacement decisions is not necessarily correct.

Our planners would determine the probability of failures of those transformers based on many, many factors, the detailed asset condition assessment, the operating environment, the environmental conditions, the performance, specific failure data, other manufacture data, the availability of spare parts or external benchmarking that we might have had.

So that it is a complex picture to determine where we're going to make these replacement decisions.

MR. BALOGH:  This is understood.  Would you be good enough to tell us what are those other parameters that were used to have this apparent contradiction between the two graphs?

MR. CURRIE:  I can give you an example where the health index was not necessarily representative of what we had to do with a specific population of transformers.

Recently, last year, I think midsummer, we identified through a detailed review there were 19 CGA transformers on our system, Canadian General Electric transformers, that had some previous problems.

We had -- out of these 19 units, we had two units with very poor health indices, but the other thing that drew our attention to these transformers were we had three specific failures of these units within the specific family.  So that caused us to do a detailed DGA analysis, dissolved gas and oil analysis, and we went back many years over history and we've confirmed that there was indeed some design deficiency within these units.

We went at that point to the manufacturer to make a determination that our analysis was indeed correct.  The manufacturer confirmed that the transformers did have a design defect that we had not detected up until this point.

And right now, these transformers are under observation and we're programming to replace them in future years.  I believe some of the replacements, because it happened after the filing, we've reprioritized the replacements.  They're going to be transformers we are replacing, I believe, starting in 2010.

MR. BALOGH:  So this is data which is not contained in the pre-filed evidence?

MR. CURRIE:  That's correct.

MR. BALOGH:  Okay, thank you.  Well, if we assume that the criterion were basically acceptable to Hydro One, which I have no evidence that it wasn't, it shows that 7 percent or -- I don't know -- 55 transformers need to be replaced urgently.

Since the money set aside for this is -- for 2009 would be $127 -- or, no, $50.6 million --

MR. CURRIE:  Right.

MR. BALOGH:  -- that is close to three-quarters of a million dollars per transformer.  That would be a reasonable cost for these aging units?

MR. CURRIE:  Power transformers can range -- there are some smaller ones.  An auto transformers, a 750 auto, I believe our replacement costs are around $10 to $15 million for those units now.  Some of the other transformers are two to five.

MR. BALOGH:  So there are different costs for the transformers?

MR. CURRIE:  They're different, right.

MR. BALOGH:  Okay, I wasn't aware of that.

MR. CURRIE:  In fact, if I can direct you to table 5 in D1, tab 3, schedule 2, I can show you how to find more details about the transformer replacements, and we've given specific S documents, page 24 of 58.


On that very same table you are drawing, you can understand by looking at these S documents how we've made these decisions.

MR. BALOGH:  Okay.  Well, further on to this, I assume, then, based on this more recent data which you referred to, there may be a list of these units that will be replaced in the next fiscal year?

MR. CURRIE:  We certainly are monitoring the population and we're making -- based on what we're seeing, we're making our replacement decisions based on that.

We are monitoring this, and that's part of our day-to-day function.

MR. BALOGH:  No.  But my question was:  Is there a list of these units that you are planning to replace in this or the next fiscal year?

MR. CURRIE:  Well, it's shown in table 5.

MR. BALOGH:  Yes.

MR. CURRIE:  I have told you there will be some reprioritization in 2010 as a result of this new problem.  But, basically, our plan put forward, based on the evidence that -- or the information we have is shown in table 5.

MR. BALOGH:  I see.  So it will be showing the type and the number, both items, yes?

MR. GRAHAM:  If you go to the evidence, Mr. Balogh, it mentions the transformer stations and gives you a sense of the size of the transformers with respect to whether they're large, 750 MVA, or other transformers.  So there is some evidence there.

We could provide more information with respect to the individual size of the transformers, if that's required.

MR. CURRIE:  In fact, we have done that in Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 3 in the S documents that are referenced there.

If you turn in that, I will give you a moment to turn to D2, tab 2, schedule 3.

MR. BALOGH:  Would you be kind enough to repeat that again, please?

MR. CURRIE:  D2.

MR. BALOGH:  D2?

MR. CURRIE:  Tab 2, schedule 3.

MR. BALOGH:  Yes.

MR. CURRIE:  And there are a number of what we call S documents for sustaining capital.  They describe -- if you look on --

MR. GRAHAM:  If I could interrupt, because I always find this a difficult exhibit to find because it is not on every page.  This is the individual project investment summaries --

MR. BALOGH:  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  -- that he's speaking about.

MR. BALOGH:  There is a list?

MR. CURRIE:  There is a list, and the reference against table 5, if you see the reference number on the left-hand side, it says S-10 through S-19.  There are specific details that have been filed in our pre-filed evidence that you can understand more about the specific investment decisions.

MR. BALOGH:  So during the process of preparing -- or preparing such a list, what methodology did Hydro One use to determine what goes on this list?  Was it deterministic, probabilities?  I mean, what -- the probability the thing may fail if you do not replace it?

MR. CURRIE:  Well, because we're dealing with risk, we are dealing with probabilities, and we are dealing with consequence of asset failures.


MR. BALOGH:  Yes.

MR. CURRIE:  The way we're assessing the probability of failure is through the detailed analysis, the many factors that I talked about.  If we have a specific failure trend, that will certainly form part of the basis of our judgment that we have of a higher probability of failure going on there, and we're looking to replace the most critical, most consequential assets first.


MR. BALOGH:  Well, assuming that it was a probabilistic approach, what is the level of risk acceptable to Hydro One with respect to some of this equipment?  Is it one in 100, one in 1,000, or...?

MR. CURRIE:  It's not in terms of that kind of probability that we're working with.  We're looking to mitigate risks that we're seeing.  So we're making decisions about what assets are at end-of-life, and we're selecting what asset we're going to do first based on how consequential that asset's failure would be to the system.

MR. BALOGH:  So the consequences would be evaluated in terms of dollars?


MR. CURRIE:  No.  Well, it's in terms of -- there are many factors, and basically, there are the corporation's six or seven business values that we would talk.  There are the environmental risks.  There would be financial risk.  There would be safety, other things like that.  I don't have the complete list.


MR. GRAHAM:  An important one, of course, is customer impact.

MR. CURRIE:  That's right.

MR. BALOGH:  So you're looking at both the tangible and intangible aspects of the damage that may be caused in the event of a failure.  Is that it?


MR. GRAHAM:  I would say they're all tangible.  Some of them may not directly reflect on the financial results of Hydro One, but they're all tangible to certain people; for example, our customers.


MR. BALOGH:  Okay.  One final question on this topic, since this was dealt with by different intervenors already, but I thought these aspects were not really investigated in detail.


Were these approaches employed when you talked about high-voltage and low-voltage switches as well?


MR. CURRIE:  When we make a replacement decision for those --

MR. BALOGH:  Yes.

MR. CURRIE:  -- particular assets?


MR. BALOGH:  How they -- you know, how to evaluate them, the necessity of replacing them, and when they would be replaced.


MR. CURRIE:  Certainly we would use similar factors to evaluate those switches.  But as the -- I'm not sure where your question is going there.  We've suspended switch maintenance for everything from the 500 kV.  So we don't have a ready health index available for that.  We're more likely going to be responding to performance issues and specific needs for those switches, switch replacements.


MR. BALOGH:  Thank you.


Well, I think I would like to move on to a different topic, but it is still within the OM&A.  And I would like to look at Hydro One's fleet, and the size of it from, say, from 2005 to 2007.  And I guess there is a steady increase from 4,522 in 2005, 5,185 in 2006, and 5,421 in --

MR. GRAHAM:  Mr. Balogh, let me just try and --

MR. BALOGH:  And then that's listed in the evidence as C1, T4, S1.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay.  Just quickly, I will say generally the increase in fleet is driven by the increase in people, driven by the increase in work program.  These are all related.  Beyond that, the witness on fleet, I think, is on a later panel.

MR. ROGERS:  Panel 3.  Shared services.

MR. BALOGH:  So the cost of it is also dealt with in panel 3?


MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. BALOGH:  Okay.  Well, then it is going to be a still different topic, and it is concerning fibre optics, and there is a reference made to Hydro One's expenses in maintaining and upgrading the fibre optics.

And my question is very general.  Since Hydro One operates in remote areas, apart from the well-populated areas of our province, was there a study carried out to investigate, or look into, perhaps, of using satellite communications, as opposed to fibre optics?

MR. GRAHAM:  I am not aware whether that was looked at.  I think that would be better asked of another witness.  Certainly the issue of fibre optics in remote areas is something that we have not really gone into, in terms of making investments, at this point, is my understanding.  But we are looking at how we spread our communications network, if you will, across the province.


MR. BALOGH:  See, Hatch International actually examined the health of the fibre optics, but they said there was insufficient data available.  Therefore, they didn't pursue it, or gave no recommendations.  Is that correct?


MR. GRAHAM:  I'm taking your word for it.  I'm not aware, but we can look at it, certainly.

MR. STENNING:  Just if I could add one comment on the fibre optics.  The places that we typically use fibre optics are more often in the more dense areas, and when we're looking at power-system communications, satellite communication wouldn't be nearly quick enough to perform the operations that we use it for.  We often need responses in the order of less than a second.  And satellite communication would be impossible to actually do some of the power-system functions that we require to do, just because of the high speed required.

MR. BALOGH:  Yes, I understand.

MR. STENNING:  But we do use other forms of communications in our more remote areas, other than fibre optics.  We use things called powerline carriers and things like that to make use of the existing assets that are right there.


MR. BALOGH:  Yes, thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  Who is the other witness he should ask his question of, the one on fibre optics?

MR. GRAHAM:  That would be the telecom witness, I would think, would bring in some more detail, wouldn't it?

MR. THOMPSON:  So is that panel 3?


MR. ROGERS:  I thought this panel was doing pretty well.  Was there something missing?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, no...

MR. GRAHAM:  It depends what the question is, to be honest.  In terms of -- as Mr. Stenning has, you know, illuminated us on, with respect to the power-system aspects of the telecom, we can try and answer those questions.


MR. BALOGH:  I wasn't too clear on reading the evidence whether or not it was used in connection with sustaining and development or other communications.

MR. GRAHAM:  I think it is primarily -- and Mr. Stenning can correct me if I am wrong -- used in conjunction with operations, to operate the system.


MR. BALOGH:  Operations, yes.  And it comes to troubleshooting or detecting of some kind of a difficulty; is that correct?


MR. GRAHAM:  I'm not sure I understand.  Are you talking about troubleshooting and detecting issues with respect to the fibre optics system?

MR. BALOGH:  No, no, no, in the equipment, used fibre optics -- used for communications to track possible -- or if failure already occurred.


MR. REYNOLDS:  I'm not an expert in the area either, but indeed, my simple understanding is that the telecommunications systems and the power systems are for the control of the system.  It is where various devices send signals to our transmission stations and communication centres and initiate actions.


Now, these have to be done very, very swiftly, as Mr. Stenning has said, in the event of some anomaly in one part of the system requiring circuits to be broken in a very short period of time for safety reasons.

So those systems have to be two things:  very, very fast and very, very reliable.  We couldn't go over conventional telephone lines or anything, because that would be totally inadequate in reliability.  So those two dimensions would probably preclude the use of satellite.  But we have used microwaves.

MR. BALOGH:  Yes.  I understood by reading some of the evidence that they are subject to vandalism.


MR. GRAHAM:  I suppose that is always a possibility.  Certainly our operations are flung across the province, so there is a lot of exposure.


MR. BALOGH:  Well, thank you very much.  I have one more question, and it -- I guess it had been loaded by a number of intervenors that the health of the economy basically is not very good.  In fact, it is going from bad to worse.  And as a small-business operator, I am only painfully aware of this condition, and I am sure I am not alone when I speak to that.

And many of the small businesses are struggling, and a number of bankruptcies are substantially increased from previous years.  And I am just wondering if Hydro One, since obviously it must be aware of this, would be prepared to scale back some the expectations for the rate increase.

I realize it was changed from 0.8 percent in 2009 to 0.5 percent.  But I think -- I suppose just like the pyramid is not made with one giant, homogenous piece, but many, many bricks, but this could be one component we could look at to reduce it.  Therefore, it would be some help to the small business community, which happened to be the largest employer of people.

I'm just curious to know whether or not Hydro One would be prepared to scale back its revenue requirements in view of this, or at least reduce it, where it would be a meaningful reduction.

MR. GRAHAM:  I certainly can't say that we're prepared at this point to reduce the filing that we put in front of people.

The company, of course, does have to take account of the environment it operates in and the impact on its customers.  That is a factor we look at, but we do have a lot drives with respect to the health of the assets to deliver our service and also to add assets, actually, with respect to what the government wants to achieve in terms of supply for the province.

So we feel this plan at this point represents the best balance between those.  I mean, I sympathize with the individuals that are feeling the pinch.  My portfolio has got whacked pretty nicely.  But the filing we put in front of the Board at this point we feel is appropriate.

MR. BALOGH:  So it's cast in stone?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, the direction I have from the management of the company is that at this point the management of the company still feels the filing we put in front of the Board is appropriate.  We looked at that with respect to the 2008 update, which Mr. Thompson asked about earlier, and made a determination that we were going to go forward in terms of the ongoing appropriateness of the plan.

MR. BALOGH:  I see.  So I suppose when a lot of us are in the process of making some sacrifices, I guess it doesn't apply to the company?

MR. ROGERS:  Well, I beg your pardon.

MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Balogh agrees that is argument.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, the company understands his point very, very well.

MR. THOMPSON:  It is a good argument.

MR. REYNOLDS:  Can I add one comment to the last point?  I just wanted to make Mr. Balogh aware there are many things going on within Ontario -- within Hydro One, apologies, to reduce our internal costs, our costs, and drive up our efficiencies of doing work.  We are not attempting to do that by reducing the work that we honestly believe needs to be done.


This is a minimum level of work we need to be done prudently to ensure that the province has manageable risk.  But our solution is to try to do it as efficiently and effectively as we can.  So we are doing lots of things to drive down our costs, and I think we have presented those in the last two days.  So that's our way of helping the economy at this time.

MR. BALOGH:  Well, thank you very much, Madam Chairman, panel.  I appreciate you -- and you have to forgive me, but I am not always conversant in these proceedings, so if I failed, I put myself at your mercy.

MR. ROGERS:  I think the roles are reversed.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Balogh.

Mr. Millar.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair, and good afternoon, panel.  I am Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I would like to begin by introducing an exhibit that I circulated on the weekend to my friends, including Mr. Rogers.  It is a chart showing Hydro One's transmission OM&A expenses, and it is broken down under several categories.


I propose to call this K2.4.
Exhibit No. K2.4:  Chart showing Hydro One's transmission OM&A expenses broken down into categories.

MR. MILLAR:  There is no new data in here.  In fact, it is similar to the School's exhibit filed earlier today, although it has a few extra bells and whistles in it, but all of this information is taken directly from the company's pre-filed evidence.

The witness panel has a copy of that?

MR. GRAHAM:  I think we do, although I see Mr. Reynolds is looking, but I think we're okay.

MR. MILLAR:  I do have spare copies if you need one, so do let me know.

I would like to start with some questions on sustaining O&M.  Just to ask the obvious question to begin, I have in my notes that sustaining O&M is -- it is used to maintain and improve the existing transmission system's reliability and performance.  Is that a good one-sentence way to describe it?

MR. GRAHAM:  It's money we invest in the existing system to maintain its performance, basically, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  If I could ask you to turn to page 2 of Exhibit K2.4, this is the one that I was just referring to.

This is broken down under the sustaining O&M evidence, and, if you look at the bottom, these are just the total increases.  I can't recall if Mr. DeVellis went over these with you, or not.

But can you confirm for me that your O&M is projected to go up 12 -- about 12.8 percent over Board-approved from 2008?

MR. GRAHAM:  If that is the percentage of 226.7 over 200.9.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  And you will see that Ms. Binette, who produced this chart, has very sharp eyes, and she picked out the insurance settlement that you discussed with Mr. DeVellis.

So then if you look at the total increase over the actual spending, I guess it is 21 percent, but if you back out that insurance settlement, it is 15.6 percent.  Have we got that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, I am missing where you are quoting from now.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry.  I am at the very bottom under "total sustaining".  If you go across -- the print is small.  I apologize for that.


MR. GRAHAM:  I see the 15.6 percent over on the right-hand side now.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  That is the increase, 2009 versus 2008 actual, backing out that insurance settlement?

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay, I will take it subject to check.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, fair enough.  For 2010, we're looking at another 6 percent increase over that; is that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I also note just -- we have the figures all the way back to 2005.  You had some fairly significant increases in sustaining O&M from 2005 to 2007.  It looks like a 7-1/2 percent increase from 2005 to 2006, and then another 15 percent to 2007.  Have I got that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, fair enough.  I think it is important to recognize that the Board approval, of course, for 2007/2008 represents a case that's been gone through in terms of appropriateness of the expenditures.

MR. MILLAR:  Fair enough, fair enough.

I want to talk a little bit about the results you're getting from this spending, whether you're getting good bang for your buck on this.  I'm going to be asking you some questions that arguably may stray into things for panel 3.


I would like to try them on you, because you're the sustaining O&M panel, and I think one of the ways you would measure whether you're getting good returns from your spending is how the system is holding up.


So if you think I'm getting into panel 3 stuff, you can let me know, but I would like to try these questions on you first.

So if I can ask you to turn to Exhibit A, tab 15, schedule 1, specifically page 13?

MR. GRAHAM:  We have it.

MR. MILLAR:  There's a table at the top of that page, table 3, which I take it is a summary of the results of a study by SGS, and essentially it's a comparative study of transmission reliability in the US, and then they put Hydro One in there.  Have I got that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe this is the SGS study.  I really don't know the population with respect to who is in the comparative group.

MR. MILLAR:  Would it be panel 3 that would know that information?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that, but I do want to take you to the table.  As I look at it, it's broken down between, on voltage, I guess, the system between 100 and 161 kilovolts, and then the one - what is it - greater than 230?

MR. GRAHAM:  Greater than or equal to, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Greater than or equal to.  As I look at it, it looks like you do pretty well on the 230 and above category.  It looks like you're mostly in -- in fact, you are entirely in Q1 or Q2; is that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's what I see here.

MR. MILLAR:  The results are not as strong on the 100 to 161.  You're in Q3 or Q4?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's other than one Q2 there, yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  There is a brief explanation for that.  I take it panel 3 is the one I would discuss why these results might be what they are?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  But you are aware of this study and you have seen those results?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.

Still in A-15-1, but if you could turn to appendix B, I think these are your internal reliability measures over the last ten years.

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, I am trying to find the appendix B.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry.  It's Appendix B to
A15-1.

MR. GRAHAM:  Is that what is labelled in my evidence as attachment 1, the benchmark study?

MR. MILLAR:  No.  Mine is called Appendix B.  I have it as Exhibit A --

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, I think I am looking in the wrong spot.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  It's a series of --

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, it's my fault.  Okay.  I've got it now.


MR. MILLAR:  And these are -- I take it this is Hydro One's own analysis, based on, I think it is four reliability measures?  To the best of your understanding, is that correct?


MR. GRAHAM:  It looks to me like trends for the company, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And again, I understand this is probably more for panel 3, but I just want to know, from just looking at these charts, I look at the first one, "average interruption frequency", from about -- and just to back up a little, I take it a lower number is better here?


MR. GRAHAM:  It certainly would be, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  The lower the number the better?

From about 2000 to 2007, am I right that you are more or less the same?  It goes up a little in some years, down a little in other years, but overall the trend is stable?

MR. GRAHAM:  Other than 2006, which is a particular year, yes, that's --

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Fair enough.  But even with that, the trend is more or less stable?  It's not getting better; it's not getting worse?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, and I will add the caveat, I'm sure you're aware that this is, of course, interruptions, I believe, to customers, and that the redundancy of the system would mask some of the components issues that might be behind that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  No, that's fair enough.

And if we look to figure B2 on the next page, this is average interruption duration.  Again, from 2000 to 2007 it goes up a little, goes down a little, goes back up, and in 2007 I guess you are slightly higher than in 2000, but the trend is more or less stable; is that right?  Maybe a very slight upward trend?


MR. GRAHAM:  It's difficult for me to comment on how this should be interpreted.  It depends what underlies the statistics.  But the numbers go up and down.  I will agree with that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I do understand.  I will return to this with panel 3, I think.

Unsupplied energy, B3.  Again, all the way back to '98 -- I mean, the number is up a little, down a little, but by and large the trend is stable?


MR. GRAHAM:  It seems to be, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And the same with B4, whether you go back to '98 or 2001 or whenever.  I mean, the numbers go up and down, but as I look at it, the trend is more or less stable.  Is that fair?


MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I think that's fair.  Again, on unavailability I should make the point that, of course, we may be constrained in some cases with respect to taking outages.  I think unavailability measures, both planned and forced issues.  I'm not sure.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And it would be panel 3 who would have more information?

MR. GRAHAM:  They would know that, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Again, on the same topic, you -- or Hydro One retained First Quartile Consulting to do a study.  Are you familiar with that?

MR. GRAHAM:  I'm aware that they did a study, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And I know this is panel 3 stuff, but I just want to review with you some of the results of that study.  And that is found at A-15-2, attachment 1.

MR. GRAHAM:  That's where I was before.  Okay.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.


MR. GRAHAM:  A-15-2, attachment 1.  I have it.


MR. MILLAR:  And again, just to provide the very brief overview of what this study is, I am just going to read from page 4, which is the opening paragraph to the executive summary.  Again, I may get into this more with panel 3, but just for the general information of the people in the room, it says:

"Hydro One commissioned execution of a benchmark study of transmission operations designed to compare performance of large transmission operators on a range of performance indicators, including costs, reliability, and safety.  In addition, the study was designed to investigate the state of the industry with respect to workforce, productivity measurement, and ultimately productivity levels achieved by the large operators."

You see that?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I have, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And if we turn to page 18 of the study, there is a table summarizing the results from the benchmark analysis?


MR. GRAHAM:  I see that.


MR. MILLAR:  And the first measure is cost metrics.  There are, I don't know, eight or nine or ten measures.  I looked through those.  I see Hydro One is in the middle on some, a bit better than average on others, and a bit worse than average on others.

When I looked through the whole thing, it looks to me like they're about middle of the pack.  Would you tend to agree --

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, that's what the numbers indicate.  Again, this should be taken in context with respect to what lies behind the numbers.  And I think panel 3 would be the right group to talk to that about.

MR. MILLAR:  And that's fair enough, that's fair enough.  I understand panel 3 will have the details on this.  I just want to ask you if you are familiar with this anyways.

And if we skip down to transmission reliability, there are two measures identified.  On one of them you are 4 of 4.  And I should also indicate it does note, the last sentence before the chart, "lower rankings indicate better performance".

So 4 of 4 is -- you were the worst of four on that.  And then on the other measure you were 3 of 6.

MR. GRAHAM:  That's what it says.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, to the extent you're able to answer this question -- I don't know, butt I'm going to put it to you, and maybe I will raise it with panel 3 as well -- since sustaining O&M is meant to maintain the existing system, it seems to me that the data reveals that your costs are about average.  But the transmission reliability may be something a little bit worse than average.

Are you able to comment on that, to say whether you are getting the best performance for the dollar on your sustaining O&M expenses?


MR. GRAHAM:  Well, there's a leap there.  I mean, I guess one of the issues that I am aware of is, with respect to many transmission system operators -- and this is reflected in the measures you looked at earlier with respect to the 100 to 161 kV rankings being Q3 and Q4 -- we have a significant radio long system extending out to transmission customers at 115 kV.  The reliability in that system is not at the same level that our bulk system is.  And I'm not sure to what extent that is reflected here.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, that's right.  Your radial system - I think there is a note there that indicates that you have -- a large part of your system is in rural areas, which I take it is more difficult to serve.

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, and you typically have longer lines, and longer lines means more exposure.

MR. MILLAR:  But you don't actually know who the comparators are for that study, do you?

MR. GRAHAM:  I don't for this study, no.

MR. MILLAR:  I mean, there are some large American states as well --

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, typically --

MR. MILLAR:  -- Alaska, Montana, Wyoming.

MR. GRAHAM:  I don't know.

MR. MILLAR:  And I don't know either.


MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay. Do you have any more comment on that?  I know you are in a tough position, because these studies aren't your area of expertise, necessarily, but it's something that struck me, and I know --

MR. GRAHAM:  The only other comment I would make is that we're aware of the 115 kV issue.  I mean, there are certain limitations with respect to what we can do, in terms of just the design of the system, but it is an area of focus for the company to see what we can do to improve that and get better bang for the buck, so to speak, as you say, in terms of the reliability results.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you tell me what you're doing on that front?


MR. GRAHAM:  I don't know.  My technical folks might be better to...

MR. CURRIE:  Yes.  I can help with that.  I know there is an interrogatory response on that.  I know that some of the issues in the lines, they're looking at specific measures and vegetation-clearing.  They're looking at specific technology additions to maybe prevent galloping conductors, things like that.  It's outlined in one of the interrogatory responses.


MR. GRAHAM:  I am aware of one other thing we're doing, and I don't even know what I'm talking about when I say it, but sectionalizing is another aspects of implementation of devices to reduce the exposure length.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, unless you have anything else to add, I am going to move on.

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that is it.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I had a number of questions about the age of the system.  Mr. Faye has stolen most of my thunder on that, but I have one outstanding question.  And it really relates to what seems to be a disconnect in some of the data.

I think the easiest thing to pull up would be Mr. Faye's cross-examination booklet that's K1.3.  And on page 3 of that document, he produced the bar graph showing the mid-life and end-of-life region for transformers, the figure 1?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Could I ask you to turn up Board Staff 22?  That's Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 22.  Do you have that?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.


MR. CURRIE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And in that interrogatory response, you indicate that 58 percent of your transformers are in mid-life and 23 percent are approaching end-of-life.


I couldn't make that match with what you have in figure 1.  My ballpark estimate there is it shows to be about 33 percent mid-life and 17 percent end of life, something like that.  Are you able to reconcile these two sets of data or tell me which one is right?

MR. CURRIE:  I believe -- it's my understanding they're both derived from the same data, the same demographic data.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Maybe I'm being a bit dim, but it says in Board Staff 22 that 58 percent are in the mid-life region.  As I look at figure 1, it shows about 500 out of 1,429 being in mid-life region, and that's significantly less than 58 percent.

MR. CURRIE:  I think the only thing that I could do to clarify it is that what we provided in I-1-22 is specifically a smaller subsection.  We're looking at power transformers, only.  I think that attributes most of the change there.  The power transformer number is smaller.  The general transformer number includes many other devices that are also classified as transformers.

MR. GRAHAM:  Before, Mr. Millar, I notice the word "power" is an adjective in the exhibit you referred to on page 15 of 51, C1-2-2.

I think in this case, to be honest, because I am confused, too, we should probably take an undertaking to get back to you on that item.

MR. MILLAR:  That would be helpful.  The undertaking would be J2.8, and it will be to reconcile the apparent difference in the data between Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 15, figure 1 versus Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 22.

MR. GRAHAM:  We will also -- if there is an issue with respect to circuit breakers, we will also look at that.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  It looked to me that circuit breakers matched, but if you find anything there, I would appreciate that, as well.
Undertaking No. J2.8:  To reconcile the apparent difference in the data between Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 15, figure 1 versus Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 22.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

I would like to move on to your development OM&A budget.  If I could ask you to turn to page 3 of Exhibit K2.4, which is the chart I just provided you with?

MR. GRAHAM:  Sorry, which page, page 3?

MR. MILLAR:  Page 3, yes.  You will see at the top it says "Development", and that is development O&M.  Again, although the absolute numbers are much smaller here, it looks like your test year over Board-approved is an increase of about 71-1/2 percent, and then if you look at actuals, it is about 51 percent.  Have I got that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  Subject to check.

MR. MILLAR:  Then if you look at the R&D budget specifically, the increase from 2008 actuals to 2009 is 122 percent, although the absolute number is only 2.9 million to 6 million.  Have I got that right?

MR. GRAHAM:  I'm having a hard time following the numbers.  I will take it all subject to check.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  It is the research and development line.

MR. GRAHAM:  Oh, R&D, sorry.  I was looking at the bottom line.  My mistake.

MR. MILLAR:  It is a little difficult to see.  Regardless, if you ever discover those numbers are incorrect, you can let me know, but it looks like a fairly --

MR. GRAHAM:  I am assuming the numbers are correct.  It's just the calculated numbers I don't have at hand.

MR. MILLAR:  Fair enough.  Could I ask you to turn to School's interrogatory, School's 14, which is Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 14?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I have it.

MR. MILLAR:  In that IR on schools, it asks you a little bit about what you are spending the money on.  You give a list of some projects there.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  If you turn over to page 2, they ask you if a business case was provided, and your answer is:
"Business cases are not prepared for approval of R&D projects because, consistent with research development, demonstration and deployment type projects, they are selected and prioritized based on the following three merits..."

Then you list technical development, continuous innovation and deliver value.

So I just wanted to follow up a little bit on that.  I am wondering, absent a business case, how are you confident that you are getting a good return on these dollars?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, of course the very nature of R&D is you're not always getting return.  Some of these things are exploratory, and I think that is generally what is reflected in this, that the economic valuation would be of a somewhat different nature.

With respect to our confidence, it comes down to really trying to respond to demands that we see with respect to needs on the system for new approaches to things, new technologies.  So we're -- these are investigatory things, often in conjunction with universities or other people, high tech, leading edge, if I could put it that way,

So we're just evaluating them in terms of their in congruence with our needs and also, to some extent, in some cases, to the leverage we might get in terms of utilizing a partnership with others.  So, for example, the solar PV farm incorporation study I mentioned earlier, Hydro One's proportion of that is less than 10 percent of the total cost.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you measure the results from these investments in any way?  I guess you look at them on a project-by-project basis, but is there any data that's produced from your evaluations of these projects that can assist the Board?

MR. GRAHAM:  I would assume there is.  I don't have a personal knowledge of that.  I think one of the issues - and this is something that's been pointed out - is basically we have had very little in the way of an R&D program historically.  This is a new area for us, at least in terms of the current environment, to go into.  But it would make sense to me that we would track our experience.

MR. CURRIE:  We do give some examples in C1, tab 2, schedule 3 on page 3, where specific things have occurred as a result of the R&D program.

For instance, we have one on line 17.  It starts:
"An example of such a project is the wind turbine setback requirements to determine the allowable proximity of wind turbines to Hydro One Transmission equipment at the right-of-way."

That was one example of something that came to fruition because of the R&D spending.  In the next two following paragraphs, there's other examples, as well.

MR. MILLAR:  But do I take it from your earlier answer that it is not really possible to do a proper business case for R&D?

MR. GRAHAM:  Well, not in the way we think of a business case where there is an economic evaluation -- sorry, I turned it off.  I thought I turned it on.  Sorry, my mistake -- with respect to a traditional business case, financial evaluation, because there is significant -- potentially a significant risk factor or significantly a large benefit, but it is perhaps a lower probability than we would normally expect.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.

I am going to move on to my last area.  Sorry, did you want to add something?

MR. REYNOLDS:  I was just going to mention that some of the specific examples given in that same Exhibit I, tab 4, schedule 14 show some items which certainly are measurable, like the development of enhanced technical standards.

So some of these research bodies assist Hydro One in creating some of the new standards that we require, and, likewise, in the PCB removal, testing techniques and analysis.  So there are some sort of tangible things that one can predict, but the very nature of most of the others, the future is somewhat less certain, because they are R&D.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

Again, moving on to my final area, there have been a few questions about these oil circuit-breakers, and I had a few additional questions.

I begin by asking you to turn to the Hatch report, which is at Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 1.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, we have it.

MR. MILLAR:  It's actually attachment A to D1, tab 2, schedule 1.

I'm going to refer, first off, to page 23 of that report.  For the panel's assistance, Exhibit D1, tab 2, schedule 1, attachment A.

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, we have it.

MR. MILLAR:  Page 23, there's a section 4.3 which discusses oil circuit-breakers, or OCBs.  The second paragraph under 4.3 states, "Since 2004 Networks", and I assume "Networks" means Hydro One?

MR. GRAHAM:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  "Networks has had a program to replace
all of the OCBs in its system, which is an overriding strategy driven by technical obsolescence that does not involve the use of asset condition assessment or health index calculation."
"In such cases, it is in keeping with industry best practices to not conduct asset condition assessments where asset sustainment is not considered to be an investment driver."

You see that?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Can you tell me why you are replacing your oil circuit-breakers?

MR. CURRIE:  Yes.  As I mentioned previously, the oil circuit-breakers are an obsolete technology, with spare parts becoming expensive or difficult to obtain.  The newer technologies, such as the SF-6 breaker, are becoming and have become the industry standard.

These SF-6 breakers are more suitable for repetitive switching application, resulting in significant savings in labour, in terms of maintenance and interrupter parts, as compared to the oil circuit-breakers.

For these reasons, the OCB is considered technically obsolete, and that's one of the -- that is the driving rationale behind why we are replacing them.

MR. MILLAR:  Are the oil circuit-breakers unsafe or less safe than the SF-6 breakers?  In other words, is it a safety issue, or is this just the fact that they're not building these any more and you can't -- they're out of date?

 MR. CURRIE:  I think the primary issue is the -- no longer manufactured, the lack of manufacturer support.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.


MR. CURRIE:  To my understanding, that's correct.

MR. GRAHAM:  I would assume, Mr. Millar, that if there was really an unsafe condition to be dealt with, we would be dealing with it more expeditiously and making sure that we are not encountering that kind of circumstance.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I will get to the replacement --

MR. REYNOLDS:  I would like to add to that, that on the oil circuit-breakers, it's the factors that have been mentioned.  In addition, there is an environmental concern.  When they do file, there's environmental consequences, as opposed to safety consequences.

MR. MILLAR:  If the oil leaks or something like that?


MR. REYNOLDS:  Exactly.

MR. STENNING:  I believe the only safety issue comes in where -- when we talked about some the areas where the short-circuit capability cannot be maintained with the existing equipment.  That's the only time where you get into a safety issue that I am aware of.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  Can I ask you to flip back to page 14?  There's a table 3.1 which lists priority 1 assets.  Can you tell me what a priority 1 asset is?

MR. CURRIE:  The prioritization P1, P2, and P3, primarily we're dealing with large classifications of assets.  So in broad measures, we're trying to indicate which assets are more important to the system, in terms of the consequence of their failure.

There has been some reprioritization, I think.  For instance, one is -- the microwave thing has been reprioritized, I think, in the past based on the expenditures within the test-year case.

But generally speaking, it is trying to give you an indication of where -- or where the most important assets reside, in terms of the most consequential -- consequences of their failure.

MR. MILLAR:  And I can assume that "priority 1" means "the most important"?


MR. CURRIE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And if you look down that chart, you see under "oil circuit-breakers" there is no data provided for that.  Is that because Hydro One is replacing them all?


MR. CURRIE:  Yes, although --

MR. MILLAR:  So -- go ahead.

MR. CURRIE:  Although we are collecting data on the oil circuit-breakers and we do have programs to manage them in place.  We are doing, for instance, visual inspections.  We are doing diagnostic testing.  That is occurring.  That perhaps should have shown up in the table.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But the Hatch report itself doesn't examine your practices in this regard?

MR. GRAHAM:  No.  I think it's -- as the quote you read us earlier, in terms of page 23, the second paragraph says:

"In such cases, in keeping with industry best practices to not conduct asset condition assessments."

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  No, fair enough.  So there is no health index for the oil circuit-breakers?


MR. CURRIE:  Yes.  But I'll draw the distinction here that the asset condition assessment can be much broader than just the health index.  We are collecting the data.  We are not producing a numeric health index in this area, but we are assessing the conditions of these assets as we prioritize them for replacement.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

Can I ask you to turn to Board Staff 53, Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 53?


MR. GRAHAM:  We have it.


MR. MILLAR:  And I understand there are something in excess of 4,000 of these oil circuit-breakers; is that right?


MR. CURRIE:  No.  That's closer to the total population of the breakers we have on the system --

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry.


MR. CURRIE:  I believe the OCB is around 2,100.


MR. MILLAR:  2,100.  Thank you.

And we asked you how many of these you intend to replace over the two test years, and the answer we got is 26 in total or 13 per year; is that right?

MR. CURRIE:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And by my math, it would take you something -- at that rate anyways it would take you something like 153 years to replace them all?  Is that --

MR. GRAHAM:  Half that, just based on the 4,100 versus the 2,100.

MR. MILLAR:  But is that right?


MR. GRAHAM:  I think you've got twice the length -- it would still take a long time.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So it is only 75 years.  Okay.  75 years?


MR. GRAHAM:  It sounds about right.


MR. CURRIE:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  To me, anyways, that sounds like an awfully long time.  Can you tell us why the replacement program, at least in the first two test years, is so sluggish?


MR. CURRIE:  Well, I think the response that I will draw your attention to is in Part II of this, is we don't have a detailed timetable for the replacement of all the remaining circuit-breakers, and we're prioritizing within the -- within our company to do what we can within the budget constraints that we have, affordability.


MR. GRAHAM:  And the risk.

MR. CURRIE:  And the risk.

MR. MILLAR:  I take it these circuit-breakers aren't failing left, centre, and right?


MR. CURRIE:  No, that is correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  The last place I am going to take you to -- this is still on oil circuit-breakers -- is Exhibit D, tab 3, schedule 2.


MR. GRAHAM:  D1-3-2, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that's right, though I can't find my own copy right now.  Just give me one moment.


Mr. Thompson has saved me.  I'm sorry.  Page 9 of that exhibit.


MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, I think we have it.

MR. MILLAR:  And if you look at that figure 2, it shows 40 percent of your breakers are oil breakers.  I think we discussed that.  That gives you about the 2,100 in total?

MR. CURRIE:  46, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And if you flip to the next page, it shows figure 4.  For 2009, approximately 1,300 of your breakers will enter the end-of-life region.  Do you see that?


MR. CURRIE:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Would it be fair to say that of those 1,300 about 46 percent are oil breakers, or is that -- would it be more or would it be less, or can you provide us any information on that?


MR. CURRIE:  This figure 4 represents the whole breaker population.  So it's -- I don't have the detailed breakdown for oil circuit-breakers.


MR. MILLAR:  The oil circuit-breakers tends to be older than the other circuit-breakers?

MR. CURRIE:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Would it be a fair guess that it's not less than 46 percent of the 1,300?


MR. CURRIE:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  If you don't know, then --

MR. CURRIE:  I don't personally know.  I am being told "yes".

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. GRAHAM:  If you put together the two statements, Mr. Millar, that's the logical conclusion, I believe.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

My very last question.  I just -- you have personally answered this question already, but are you satisfied that you are being aggressive enough in replacing these oil circuit-breakers?  It seems a lot of them are getting close to end-of-life, and you have a program to -- you want to replace them all anyways, and we see only -- it is going to take you 75 years at the current rate.

Are you satisfied you're being aggressive enough?

MR. CURRIE:  I think in the test years we're managing the risk appropriately.  We're making the prudent choices.  And I know that our strategy is under review at this time.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So we might see changes in the next case.


Thank you for your patience, Panel.  I'm sorry I took us a little bit past 5:00, but those are my questions.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

Mr. Rogers?


MR. ROGERS:  No, thank you.  I have no re-examination.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Quesnelle has a question.
Questions by the Board:


MR. QUESNELLE:  I just want to make sure that I capture it today, in case I miss the opportunity, because looking at the reliability measures -- and I just want to make sure I am capturing it here rather than the next panel.


The next panel, I recognize, is dealing with the transmission performance benchmarking study.  I will ask the question and perhaps you can tell me if they will be able to answer it or if it belongs here, because it may be more related to asset condition assessment.

I don't know if you have to turn it up or you just recall, but looking at the bar charts on the average interruption frequency out of the report that you had commissioned -- if you care to turn it up, it is Exhibit A-15-1, appendix B.

MR. GRAHAM:  Okay, I have it.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Looking at that earlier and looking at the steady state in the last few years, you made the comment that due to the redundancy of the system, it would mask a lot of the underlying text, if I could put it that way.

MR. GRAHAM:  Assuming -- and I am just reading this, but I am assuming that these are customer interruption measures.  Then, yes, the redundancy of the system would mask it, whereas the system allows us to continue providing service even if the component has a failure.

MR. QUESNELLE:  What I am looking for, would it be this panel or -- I am going to ask the question as to whether or not you collect data one step below this, in that basically you're looking at the events that are one step away from having these outages?

MR. GRAHAM:  Yes, we do.

MR. CURRIE:  We look at the two levels.  We look at the equipment performance level and we're collecting statistics on that level, and we're collecting system level performance statistics, as well.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Would it be -- is it -- is it in the evidence, first of all?

MR. CURRIE:  We've given in one interrogatory response the frequency trends that we're seeing specifically with power transformers, so that has been provided there, but I don't believe it's been comprehensively put in there.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  When you say you track it, what I'm capturing from your answer is that it's not done in exactly the same format, in that you would look at that from an asset -- by classification or asset type and look at the frequency.


But I am literally looking at something that would track the same type of events one step back, in that -- I am hearing your answer that you're masking a lot of the -- or the redundancy masks a lot of the underpinning scenarios.

But wouldn't it be a correct assumption to suggest that that would be a good leading indicator of system performance, a more, I suppose, transparent system performance backing out the redundancy effect?

MR. GRAHAM:  In terms of -- sorry, quickly, in terms of how we make investments, absolutely, you are correct.

MR. CURRIE:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I will ask the question again.  The data that you do collect, is it compiled and aggregated in such a form that you could look at these and they would -- in that type of format; that is, all assets in and how they interoperate?

MR. CURRIE:  We look at the same measures of frequency and unavailability on the equipment level, and as well as the system level.

So our plans are dealing with mitigating the concerns dealing with the equipment performance levels.  As well, we have specific plans that would mitigate for the system level like the 115 radial system, but the performance on the equipment level is the leading indicator of where the system might go.

There will be a day where usually system performance is not equal to equipment performance because of redundancy.

MR. QUESNELLE:  No, I understand.

MR. CURRIE:  But we are seeing cases -- in the last year, there is a couple of examples where we have seen the vulnerability of the system during maintenance outages, during forced outages.  We had a specific operation in Keith where we took a transformer out for maintenance and its companion unit failed during that maintenance outage.

So that's a time where the equipment performance issue directly impacted the system.

MR. QUESNELLE:  You mentioned you have equipment performance indices.  Do you have the system -- like, a run on the system performance, as well?

MR. CURRIE:  The benchmarking study is system performance.  That's my understanding of what that is.

MR. QUESNELLE:  This is the result of data that measured interruptions.  I am looking for one step back, the -- what I am getting at is not all of your equipment indices would result in a system performance issue.

MR. GRAHAM:  Can I try, Mr. Quesnelle, just to see if I understand?  Are you saying, Do we have something which shows a system unavailability -- sorry, not available because that gets masked with respect to equipment issues as opposed to outage issues?

MR. CURRIE:  I understand the difference.  At the system level, it is called unavailability, too.  It's where the delivery point is no longer able to supply.  We call that unavailability.  We track a similar metric with the equipment.  We have equipment unavailability.  It doesn't necessarily mean the delivery point has always been affected.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Just to make sure we're on the same page, this is -- the graph we're looking at, this exhibit, is giving us an actual outage at a delivery point.  There was an interruption there?

MR. GRAHAM:  I believe so, yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  And if it isn't, we can --

MR. GRAHAM:  Transmission system unavailability, which is the last bar chart, which would be more elements of the system are out, but not necessarily customers are out.

MR. QUESNELLE:  But that unavailability I think speaks to system maintenance and all sorts of things.  I am looking at unplanned events where you would have a scenario that does not bring in duplicity of the system to ensure that the delivery point is uninterrupted.

If the system is -- what it does is take all of the components of the system and measure their performance in an aggregated and operative state, such that if it weren't for the duplicity of the system, you would have an outage.

MR. GRAHAM:  I understand, yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  If that is something that you compile, is it in the evidence, or maybe you don't compile it?

MR. CURRIE:  We do compile that kind of statistic.  It is not in the evidence, that I'm aware of.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. CURRIE:  It's not in any of the sections that I am familiar with.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Quesnelle, I can tell you that I will ask panel 3 to address that specific point for you some more.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Please, thank you.  We will see where it goes from there, but if it is something that is documented, I think it is valuable in relation to this performance.

MR. ROGERS:  We will see if there is a document available -- I think I understand what you're getting at.  If something is available, we will let you have it in advance of three, but hopefully they can also answer some questions in this area for you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Great.  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Vlahos has a question.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  Mr. Rogers, just a question or two, and they're for you, actually.

A couple of things came up today that I think all of us can benefit from some clarification or amplification as to what was intended in your remarks.  You don't have to do that today, sir.  You can just go to the transcript, but at some point, and preferably before the submission stage, so we can all be on the same page.


That had to do with the relief that is being sought with respect to some of the projects or expenditures that do not have an in-service date for the test years.

Do you recall the -- your remark on this?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  I would ask you kindly to just go back and see if you can help us understand better as to what is being sought in this application.

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, I will.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.

I guess in the same vein, you also commented - and I will ask you to look at the transcript again - about your expectation, or the company's expectation about this Board providing -- I think you called it direction with respect to any adjustments we may make line by line on what is capital expenditures or O&M items.

I guess what I would like to clarify is, so are you suggesting -- are you looking for reasons or are you looking for -- are you asking this Board not to follow the envelope approach?  I am not clear as to what you are asking.

MR. ROGERS:  Well, I will give you a better answer when I have had a chance to consider it and speak to my clients, but I do believe as counsel I can tell you this, that the company -- they put forward a case that they believe in their best judgment is required to balance all of these interests we have been talking about.

If you should feel otherwise, I think they would like to have your guidance as to the areas in which you feel they have overstated costs or where you feel they are planning expenses which are inappropriate.  That's what I meant, rather than just a percentage cut.  Like, intervenors often argue --

MR. VLAHOS:  I understand.  Are you looking for reasons for any adjustments?  You are not looking for micromanagement by this Board?

MR. ROGERS:  No, not at all, sir.  Not at all.  Just if the Board feels there are certain areas of expense that are overstated or not well supported, or inappropriate or ought to be cut back in this year, I think the company would appreciate the benefit of your insight to help them make whatever adjustments would be necessary.


I am not asking you to micromanage.  I am pretty sure I speak for the company there.

MR. VLAHOS:  You wouldn't want that?

MR. ROGERS:  No, exactly.  They may take -- I hope it doesn't come to this, but if you do feel that some cuts are necessary, they may take your advice and decide that they don't agree with it, and then they have to make alterations at some other place.  But I know they would -- if you feel that their request is inappropriate, they would appreciate your advice as to why and where.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you.  So that just leaves the first item then open for -- at some point, I guess, before the end of the proceeding.


MS. CHAPLIN:  And just finally -- and this may also be a question -- I will address it to this panel, but it may more appropriately belong with panel 3, and it goes a bit to what my colleague was asking Mr. Rogers about.


And I -- to paraphrase what I think the evidence we've heard today and yesterday -- well, particularly today on sustainment and operations capital and OM&A, it's being -- it has been characterized as sort of the minimum required to ensure an adequate level of reliability and maintenance of the system at this stage.  Is that a fair representation?


MR. GRAHAM:  I don't think it is universally that.  We do feel we -- to Mr. Currie's statement earlier, we have some investments here that we think are moving us towards a longer-term future that we're looking -- but there are many areas where we have brought it close to what we feel is the minimum, in terms of the risk levels, in terms of the various drivers we have to respond to.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  And I understand that how you also characterized the budgeting process, that you -- that the senior management in the company essentially was making the bigger trade-offs between the risks and the affordability criteria.  Is that fair?


MR. GRAHAM:  I think that is fair, in terms of, it's difficult for those of us in the trenches, so to speak, to determine -- we see the asset needs, in terms of what we want to see in terms of performance.  The senior management of the company, of course, sees the bigger picture, in terms of the policy issues they have to respond to, and they would bring that to bear in terms of their review.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Because although you characterized at least in some aspects of this budget a minimum level, presumably in initial discussions there may well have been requests for higher amounts, given the assessment of the assets and the risks and your objectives of maintaining and enhancing reliability.  Is that fair?

MR. GRAHAM:  Certainly.  And in many cases we would have established higher investment levels of possibilities and said, Here is what we see as the benefit of those.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So looking at it in an overall level, we have this trade-off, which, as you characterize, has been made somewhat at the -- or has been made at the senior management level, a trade-off between what expenditures are necessary versus an affordability type criteria, what is going to be acceptable.

MR. GRAHAM:  "Necessary" is a difficult word.  But certainly issues that we would feel perhaps need to be addressed at some time frame.

And I would be -- maybe I should talk just very briefly about our process.  There is effectively a process by which the planning people interact with senior management, which we call our Sunnybrook exercise, in terms of when we used to -- where we used to hold it.  So there is an exchange of views that happens at that level.

And so that the plan gets kind of modified based on that discussion, and then senior management has an additional review, in terms of, does it really meet the overall priorities of the company.

So there's a stage at which it is not just sent up the pipe, so to speak, to senior management, who then apply their judgment.  There is an interaction between the planning people and senior management, so senior management has a good understanding of what is driving the potential plans and the risks that are attendant with the various levels.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So you are describing an iterative or inter-process of, in the broadest sense, trade-offs between kind of overall affordability, sort of the overall total that may be acceptable and appropriate, versus all of the things that you would like to be able to do to make the system as good as you think it should be.

MR. GRAHAM:  I think that is fair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So would it be fair to say that there may be other views as to what that overall affordability -- in other words, the company's made a judgment of what the overall affordability criteria should be.


And what I would like to understand -- this is where maybe it is the next panel -- is if others have view as to what that kind of affordability criteria should be.  Does that not necessarily have implications for what the budget -- I mean, doesn't the budget, by definition, have to have "give" in it, because the company's view of affordability may not be others' view of affordability?


MR. GRAHAM:  Certainly there's going to be diverse views out there, and we have seen them in this proceeding.

I would tend to say, per what I said earlier with respect to the minimum levels being there, what's there in many cases anyway, that there is less of that room than there used to be.  But that's not to say that there is no room.  There's always room for application of judgment.  It's the consequence you are willing to take.


MS. CHAPLIN:  I will leave it at that today.


So, and you have no further questions, I assume, Mr. Rogers?

MR. ROGERS:  No, thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So this panel is excused, with the Board's thanks, and I guess we will have panel 3 on Thursday.  We will start at 9:30, and perhaps we will plan to start with some of the items that you -- Mr. Rogers, you have agreed to follow up on?

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And maybe as part of that we could see where we're at, in terms of getting the answers to some of the undertakings, because we've --

MR. ROGERS:  Yes, I hope to have some of them for you by then.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you very much.  We will see you all Thursday morning at 9:30.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:32 p.m.
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